
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 13 January 2020. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 21 January 2020 at 2.00 pm
Witham Room - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Communities and HR
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture

Agenda
1.  Apologies

2.  Minutes of the previous meeting
Minutes of the meeting held on 10 December 2019

(Pages 3 - 9)

3.  Disclosure of Interests (if any)

4.  Customer Experience Strategy (Key Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Communities and HR to consider the 
Council’s position in updating and developing a Customer Experience Strategy 
that meets the current and future needs of our customers, visitors and 
businesses.

(Pages 11 - 40)

5.  Budget Proposals for 2020/21 and Indicative Budgets for 2021/22 and 
2022/23
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance on the draft Budget estimates for 
2020/21, revenue and capital, for both the General Fund and the Housing 
Revenue Account and provides the details that have been included in the 
budget proposals

(Pages 41 - 112)

Cabinet

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


6.  Housing Strategy Refresh (Key Decision)
Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council which requests approval of the 
Council’s refreshed Housing Strategy 2017-2021

(Pages 113 - 146)

7.  Collaboration Agreement relating to Saint Martin's Park, Stamford (Key 
Decision)
Report of the Leader of the Council on a Collaboration Agreement with 
Burghley Land Limited (Burghley) relating to land at Barnack Road, Stamford

(Pages 147 - 163)

8.  Position Statement on  the Intentional Release of Sky (Chinese) Lanterns 
and Balloons
Report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations to consider the 
Council’s position in relation to the intentional release of sky (Chinese) lanterns 
and balloons on Council owned public open space

(Pages 165 - 175)

9.  Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees
Report of the Leader of the Council presenting any recommendations that have 
been made to Cabinet by the Council and Overview and Scrutiny Committees

(Pages 177 - 179)

10.  Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
Report of the Leader of the Council on decisions taken by individual Cabinet 
Members

(Pages 181 - 182)

11.  Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members

12.  Cabinet Forward Plan - 1 February 2020 to 31 January 2021
Report of the Leader of the Council on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan

(Pages 183 - 191)

13.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



Minutes
Cabinet
Tuesday, 10 December 2019

The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman)

Cabinet Members present

Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Communities and HR
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture

Non-Cabinet Members present

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Mark Whittington
Councillor Ray Wootten

Officers

Interim Chief Executive (Paul Thomas)
Interim Strategic Director, Growth (Harry Rai)
Interim Strategic Director, Resources (Richard Wyles)
Interim Head of Legal (Shahin Ismail)
Strategic Director, Commercial & Operational (Gary Smith)
Assistant Chief Executive, Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield)
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing Delivery (Ken Lyon)
Assistant Director, Commercial & Operational (Ian Yates)
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West)
Interim Principal Democracy Officer (Sarah Evans)

47. Apologies

An apology for late attendance was received for Councillor Trollope-Bellow.

3

Agenda Item 2



48. Minutes of the previous meeting

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 12 November 2019 were proposed, 
seconded and agreed as a correct record.

49. Disclosure of Interests

No interests were disclosed.

50. Council Tax Base for the financial year 2020/21 (Budget Framework)

The Cabinet Member for Finance presented a report which asked the Cabinet to 
recommend the Council Tax base for 2020/21 and set the collection rate for council 
tax.  He referred to the table in the report at paragraph 1.4 which set out the tax base 
for Band D equivalents since 2016/17 and showed there was only a small increase 
for the coming year on the previous year which was positive for the district.  

The Leader said he was pleased that the Council had the third highest collection rate 
for 2018/19 of similar sized authorities and asked how the Council could continue 
that rate and even improve over the next year.

The Director for Finance responded that the Council was liaising with other 
authorities and continually looking at ways to improve collection rates.

A Cabinet Member asked what the difference was in value by collecting 98 percent 
on the best performing level of band D in monetary terms as opposed to collecting 
the full 100 percent.  

Action point
The Director for Finance advised he would respond to Cabinet Members on the 
above query following the meeting.   

A Cabinet Member stated that the Council should promote its collection rate and 
thank Council tax payers for ensuring this success by paying their Council tax on 
time.

There was a question on the Council’s policy for chasing outstanding debt.  The 
Interim Director for Finance explained that the Council Tax team was dedicated in 
checking up on current occupiers, referring non-payers to other bodies and for 
enforcement action to recover payment and write offs were the last resort.  With 
regard to the debt percentage, it was noted that only 10 percent was due to this 
Council but it was the authority’s duty to provide the resource for collection but the 
cost incurred was shared with the County Council and other relevant bodies.  

The recommendations in the report were proposed, seconded and AGREED: 

1. Cabinet recommends to Council the Council Tax base for the forthcoming 
financial year equating to 47,918.40 in accordance with the relevant legislation.  

4



This will form the basis upon which the Council will estimate Council Tax income 
for the 2020/21 budget.

51. Finance update report - Quarter 2 2019/20

The Cabinet Member for Finance presented a report which gave Cabinet Members 
the Council’s forecast financial position as at the end of Quarter 2 (30 September 
2019).  He advised that the report had been to the Finance, Economic Development 
and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee for review and they and 
he were satisfied with the savings, capital and variances as set out in the report.  
 
The Leader thanked the Cabinet Members and Officers for their work on the budget 
and despite the variances, he was confident that within the next few weeks a 
balanced budget would be achieved.  

The Vice Chairman of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee reported that there had been a robust debate at 
their meeting and they were satisfied with the responses from the Cabinet Member 
and that a good plan was in place to bring a balanced budget by the year end.  

The recommendations in the report were proposed, seconded and AGREED: 

1. Cabinet approves the forecast 2019/20 outturn positions for Revenue, Savings 
and Income Generation and Capital as at the end of September 2019 and notes 
the variances that require further action.  

52. Tenancy Agreement (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Deputy Leader advised Cabinet Members that 
the current Tenancy Agreement adopted in 2002 no longer reflected the needs of the 
housing services or the context in which social housing now operated.   The new 
Tenancy Agreement proposed would replace the current agreement and the main 
changes were outlined in the report.   He reported that the new agreement had been 
subject to consultation with tenants and 440 responses had been received as well as 
comments from the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The 
feedback received had been reviewed and incorporated into the agreement where 
relevant and practical.  However it was considered that further minor amendments 
may be needed to reflect good practice and current arrangements and therefore a 
delegation to himself in consultation with the Interim Strategic Director of Growth was 
requested as an additional recommendation. 

Clarification was requested as to the meaning of ‘immoral’ mentioned in the 
agreement. The Interim Strategic Director for Growth responded that some further 
thought was needed for an appropriate form of wording to reflect this.

The Leader thanked all those who had contributed to the agreement especially the 
Deputy Leader.

5



The recommendation in the report together with the delegation proposed by the 
Deputy Leader were proposed, seconded and AGREED:

1. The Cabinet approves the proposed Tenancy Agreement, as appended 
(Appendix 1) to the report, and for it to be sent as a ‘notice of variation’ to all 
tenants of South Kesteven District Council (‘the Council’) in accordance with 
Section 103 of the Housing Act 1985.

2. To delegate authority to the Deputy Leader in consultation with the Interim 
Strategic Director, Growth to make any minor changes to the final document.

53. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees

The Leader of the Council presented a report which highlighted matters referred to 
the Cabinet by the Council or the Council’s overview and scrutiny committees since 
the Cabinet’s last meeting held on 12 November 2019.  The Leader invited 
representatives of the overview and scrutiny committees to report on their recent 
activities.

The Chairman of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
updated the Cabinet on the ongoing work on the draft Cultural Strategy, feedback 
from the Cultural Survey and priorities identified by residents.  There was some 
discussion around cultural events clashing and the need for a calendar.  The type of 
activities that were being developed were networking events for artists and other 
creatives, a website to promote cultural activities with a booking facility as well as 
improving management of the budget and bringing in sponsorship for the next 
Bourne CiCLE festival                                          

The Vice Chairman of the Finance, Economic, Development and Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee presented the committee’s reports of 19 
November 2019 which focussed on budgetary and financial matters and the second 
meeting held on 27 November 2019 which had considered the future leisure 
management options. 

The Chairman of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny thanked Ken 
Lyon for his support at their last meeting on 21 November 2019 and thanked the 
Council’s Scrutiny Officer for her support.  He referred to the activity in the 
committee’s report and that arrangements were underway to invite representatives to 
talk to the committee about Grantham Hospital and Community Policing.

The Scrutiny Officer presented the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
report of 26 November 2019 and outlined the activities of the committee and 
specifically referred to their review and recommendations relating to scrap metal 
dealers, grounds maintenance, climate change, textile banks/recycling and 
performance indicators. 

6



The Leader advised that he valued scrutiny and it was an important function for 
robust decision-making hence the Council had appointed a dedicated Scrutiny Officer 
and welcomed this support.

54. Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.

The Leader of the Council presented his report giving an overview of decisions taken 
by individual Cabinet Members since the last Cabinet meeting.  It was noted that the 
first pledges had been agreed and rolled out from CrowdfundSK and this provided 
positive publicity for the Council.

55. Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members

A non-Cabinet Member queried whether the Council was intending to put in place 
alternative arrangements for the hundreds of children affected by the closure of the 
all-weather pitch at the Deepings and what compensation would be offered to those 
who had paid for the use of the facilities.  The Cabinet Member for Growth responded 
that conversations were ongoing between the Deepings’ Members and the sports 
club to reach a long-term solution.  Alternative provision was being looked into in the 
meantime and whether other facilities could be used for the short term.   The non-
Cabinet Member felt the Council had failed to deliver alternative pitches and they 
were needed in the Deepings.  

A non-Cabinet Member referred to the recent sport consultation and when the 
feedback would be available.  The Cabinet Member for Growth responded that the 
work was ongoing and there would be reports to the Culture and Visitor Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet in due course. 

A non-Cabinet Member referred to the staff survey and when this would start.  The 
Leader responded that this would be available in the New Year.

A non-Cabinet Member referred to the reduction in footfall at the markets across the 
district and that they needed to be rejuvenated.  The Cabinet Member for Growth 
responded that regular conversations were taking place with stall holders. She 
explained that officers were looking to develop a long-term strategy and the Council 
was committed to improving the market offering.  The non-Cabinet Member queried 
the managerial input.  The Leader emphasised that it was his ambition to run good 
markets across the district and therefore had moved the function back to the Council 
although InvestSK would still be involved.

56. Cabinet Forward Plan

Cabinet Members noted the Forward Plan for the period 1 January 2020 to 31 
December 2020 which had been distributed prior to the meeting.  The Forward Plan 
gave an indication of the items that would be presented to Cabinet over the coming 
12-month period. 

7



The Leader advised that in consultation with the Chief Executive he had agreed for 
future Cabinet meetings to revert to a 14:00 start time from January 2020. 

Exclusion of the press and public

Cabinet agreed to exclude the press and public at this point in the meeting, to ensure 
that information in the following item exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) was not disclosed during discussion. 

57. Leisure Service – Future Management Options (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Growth presented a report on enhancing leisure 
opportunities for everyone in the district.  She explained that the Council was looking 
for the best value, reducing the revenue burden and the way forward in getting the 
long-term procurement right to ensure a cost-effective outcome.  This meant that a 
short-term option was needed to get to that point which was the reason for this 
report.  She advised the proposals had been to the Finance, Economic, Development 
and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee for review and thanked 
them for their contribution.  Some valid concerns had been raised about a potential 
for a reduced level of service.  She proposed the recommendations in the report with 
an addition at recommendation 1 that the current level of service be maintained. 

There was some discussion at the level of detail in the report and a Cabinet Member 
felt he needed more information.  It was explained that this had been previously 
discussed and there had been opportunities for Cabinet Members to request further 
information from the Cabinet Member for Growth or the lead Officer prior to the 
Cabinet meeting.  

The Leader used his discretion to allow non-Cabinet Members to speak at the 
meeting and the following was noted:

 The validity and assurance the proposal would provide in the long-term on getting 
the procurement right was commended

 The one-off procurement cost would be offset by the savings 
 A financial return was expected for leisure provision in the long-term
 The legality of contract modification at option 1 was queried and the Head 

of Legal agreed to review and report back – Action Point
 If the existing provider continued, the collection of rent for the playing fields 

needed to be reviewed to ensure good value and it was understood that this was 
currently in hand by the Head of Leisure

The recommendations in the report were proposed, seconded and AGREED:

1. The Cabinet approves an extension to the Council’s current leisure 
management contract arrangement for a term of 15 months, the extension to 
end on 3 April 2022 subject to the current level of service being maintained.

8



2. The Cabinet agrees with the result of the long-term management option 
appraisal and approves the proposal to procure a new contract arrangement.

3. The Cabinet agrees that a Procurement Strategy should be developed to 
determine the optimum length of contract and ideal route to market.

4. The Cabinet approves a budget of £65,000 be set aside to develop the 
Procurement Strategy and support the Council in the procurement of a new 
contract.  This is to be funded from the £106,000 saving as detailed in the 
exempt report.

In response to a series of comments made during the meeting, the Leader explained 
that although he welcomed open questions and constructive criticism he didn’t 
condone personal attacks and felt this was inappropriate.  He said that a good 
working relationship amongst Members of the Council was essential and all Members 
needed to work as a team and have respect for each other regardless of party.  He 
wished everyone a Merry Christmas.

58. Close of meeting

The meeting was closed at 17:05.

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
21 January 2020

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid
Cabinet Member for Communities 
and HR

        

Customer Experience Strategy
The purpose of this report is to consider the Council’s position in updating and developing a 
Customer Experience Strategy that meets the current and future needs of our customers, visitors 
and businesses. The strategy was considered by Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 16 January 2020 and feedback from that session will be shared with Cabinet.

Report Author

Nova Roberts, Head of Customer Experience and IT

01476 406080

nova.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Agility Budget and Policy 
Framework

All Wards

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change 2 January 2020

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 6 January 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Communities and HR 7 January 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. That Cabinet approves the Customer Experience Strategy, subject to any 
appropriate amendments recommended by the Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 16 January 2020.

2. That Cabinet commissions the consultation for proposed changes to the Stamford 
and Market Deeping area offices.

11

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the draft Customer Experience 

Strategy (appendix 1) on 16 January 2020 which is a vital part of the transformation of the 
council. There is a need to create a modern, flexible customer experience, offering choice 
and delivering convenience to all customers, businesses and visitors. Services must 
maximise the use of all channels available and improve hours of accessibility by promoting 
self-service for all transactions. This will make it easy to do business with SKDC whilst 
actively supporting those most vulnerable.  

1.2 It is recognised that as a council we have a wide range of customers including those who 
have traditionally used our services and those that we have a ‘transactional relationship’ 
with. However, as a commercially-focussed local authority our customers also include 
visitors, local, national and international business and partner organisations.

1.3 As considered within the budget report, we must ensure that our services are both 
affordable and sustainable. It is vital that we not only deliver ‘business as usual’ in a more 
modern way, but we continue to enhance our services, putting customer needs at the 
heart of our organisation, and keeping pace with customer expectations and evolving 
technologies.

1.4 Customer expectations continue to increase. Customers are expecting a high-quality 
range of options to access services. The strategy supports us to consider the appropriate 
application of modern technologies to facilitate their interactions, whether that be through 
artificial intelligence, intelligent websites, social media, online accounts and digital forms, 
webchat or chatbots and apps.

1.5 We know that customers want to easily access information. Equally, our staff need to have 
the right tools to enable seamless service delivery. Customers expect our services to be 
joined-up. There needs to be greater consistency in our responses as well as connected 
signposting to partner organisations. To achieve this, we need to provide an ever-
increasing depth of service that is efficiently delivered across all channels – modernising 
our services to be fit for the future, firmly putting the customer first.

1.6 We will maintain the option of face to face and telephony services for those most 
vulnerable, as well as supporting customers and businesses to self-serve 24/7, interact 
online and utilise online accounts. It is vital that Customer Services offer access to self-
service, meeting expectations first time - every time, and we make this easy and 
consistently good in delivery.

1.7 The improvements in customer services will not happen by themselves. There is a need to 
dovetail this activity with the good work going on elsewhere in the Council. This includes 
developing greater synergies with our ICT capabilities, talent development and retention, 
as well as outward facing initiatives such as a new and improved website and more 
responsive and intelligent online forms. All of this will enable us to realise the savings 
required and to ensure delivery of a modern, consistent and reliable customer service 
experience.

1.8 We will use technologies to modernise our telephony offer, improve the website, 
rationalise our face to face offering and increase self-service provision as well as the 
content of our online customer accounts. We’ll be using new technologies to answer high 
volume, knowledge-based enquiries both through the website and over the telephone. We 
will increase our deployment of intelligent automation to achieve process efficiencies and 

12



ensure that our staff can provide the additional help to our most vulnerable customers, 
rather than dealing with the day to day churn. 

1.9 We will increase productivity within our services by investing in our staff and the tools we 
use to deliver our services. The strategy supports improvements in our offering and 
enables us to become more consistent in our service standards. It helps to redirect 
resources to priority areas where necessary, provide greater ‘back office expertise’ and 
reduce operating costs, all in a managed way. We cannot ensure that we have a 
sustainable organisation that meets customer expectations by staying as we are.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The strategy details how we as a council intend to provide services to our customers. We 

want to see ongoing improvements in service quality, making it quicker and easier, with a 
wider range of access. We enable customers to have a consistently good experience 
wherever and whenever they interact with the council.

2.2 Since the last Customer Access Strategy was launched, the world that we live and work in 
has changed. People now use digital services through a wider range of devices more than 
ever with online banking and shopping becoming more popular. For example, 87% of retail 
purchases are now made online. Our customers are now much more familiar with new and 
emerging solutions that provide instant help, advice and resolution. Increasingly this is 
delivered through solutions such as Chatbots and Webchat. Access is also now 
predominately through smart phones and tablets in preference to desktop computers. 

2.3 The strategy looks at our current offer and reconsiders our operating model in light of the 
known changes in customer behaviour. Often, customers now expect to be able to do 
more by themselves, without the need for human interaction. Reconsidering our face to 
face offering allows us to identify ways of rationalising locations without compromising 
service provision.

2.4 We propose to create a North and South hub in the district providing online digital 
services, payment kiosks, face to face support, enhanced access to web forms and 
signposting alongside the library services. We will also consult on the removal of face to 
face provision in Stamford and Market Deeping. Both sites typically manage transactions 
that can be facilitated through alternative solutions that are currently not in place. 
Appendix 2 provides further information on the current performance, offer and utilisation at 
each site.

 

3 Financial Implications
3.1 Plans for the implementation of the customer service delivery model have been built into 

2020/21 budget proposals. This includes implementing alternative customer services at 
specific locations with kiosk and telephony provision being put in place. It is expected that 
in 2020/21, the Council will save £81k by delivering the service in a different way. This will 
rise to £113k in future years.

3.2 The modernisation of Customer Services is not just about face to face provision. There is 
a need to continue to invest in our customer offer. Investments in our digital offer will be 
made through invest to save proposal supported by business cases later in the year. 

13



Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

4 Legal and Governance Implications 
4.1 The strategy sets out how the Council will deliver services in the future. The equality 

assessment considers how any changes to service provision will impact on those with 
protected characteristics and highlights that further assessments will be completed as and 
when required.

4.2 The strategy recognises the requirement to consult and seeks to engage different 
customer groups at various stages of process development to ensure that our services are 
fit for purpose.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

5 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
5.1 An equality impact assessment has been completed for the Customer Experience 

Strategy. This is shown in appendix 3. 

6 Risk and Mitigation
6.1 No significant risks have been identified as a result of this report. 

7 Community Safety Implications 
7.1 No significant community safety implications have been identified as a result of this report. 

8 Other Implications (where significant) 
8.1 None identified

9 Background Papers
9.1 Report to Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 16 January 2020

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=3856&Ver=
4 

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Customer Experience Strategy

10.2 Appendix 2: Area Office Summary 

10.3 Appendix 3: Equality Impact Assessment

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

10 June 2019

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

16 January 2020

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  21 January 2020

14

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=3856&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=3856&Ver=4


Customer 
Experience Strategy
2020-2024

15

Appendix 1



Contents

2

A bit of background info 3

Where we want to get to 4

How we currently operate 6

How many interactions do we have? 7

What does it cost? 8

Our Customer Experience Vision 9

Theme 1: Operating model 10

Theme 2: Technology 11

Theme 3: Embedding a customer first ethos 12

Theme 4: Measurement and management 13

High Level Action Plan 14

16



The political vision for SKDC is ambitious, modern, 
and progressive with a clear number one priority to 
grow the local economy and make South Kesteven a 
better place in which to live, to work, and to invest.

The vision is supported by a strategic investment 
programme across five broad categories: 
commercial, arts and heritage; leisure and the visitor 
economy, retail and markets; public realm and living; 
gateways and transport; and skills.

A vital part of our journey is creating a modernised 
customer experience offer providing choice and 
delivering convenience to all customers, businesses 
and visitors. The service must maximise the use of all 
channels available to improve our hours of accessibility 
(24/7) by promoting self-service for all transactions and 
making it easy to do business with SKDC whilst actively 
supporting those most vulnerable.  

Our customers are traditionally those who have used 
our services, however, there are also others we have 
a ‘transactional relationship’ with. As a commercially-
focussed local authority, our customers also include 
visitors, local, national and international business and 
partner organisations.

Whilst we undoubtedly face an organisational budget
challenge, it is vital that we not only deliver ‘business as
usual’ in a more modern environment but we continue
to enhance our services in line with the customer
expectations, evolving technologies and opportunities
to put their needs at the heart of our business.

Customers now expect a modern council offering a
range of access options to quality services. We have
seen a huge growth in the speed of the technological
change across all access channels. This includes
advancements in artificial intelligence, intelligent
websites, social media, online accounts, virtual
webchat/chatbots and apps. 

We provide access to self-service and maintain the
option of face to face and telephony services.  We
also aim to support customers and businesses to
self-serve 24/7 through online interactions. 

There are a number of contributing factors that
dovetail with this strategy (ICT capability, retaining
our best staff, our approach to digitisation, a new
website and online forms) which must be considered
to realise savings and to ensure delivery of a modern,
consistent and reliable customer service experience.

A bit of background info

317



Where we
want to get to

4

The organisation is making a radical transition to 
develop new technologies to support the way its 
services will be delivered. Simultaneously, we are in 
the midst of radical reform nationally in the wake of 
Universal Credit which has introduced changes to 
welfare benefits including how they are paid and the 
move to the customer self-managing their payments 
and personal finances.  

We’ll be operating under a new model. We’ll move 
even more of our customer interactions into our 
centralised customer service team. This will help to 
ensure consistency of service and also free up time 
in the back-office to focus on those tasks that often 
require a different set of skills. We’ll do this by 
effectively blending people and technology together 
and triaging enquiries to make sure that they are 
responded to in the most efficient and effective way 
for both the customer and the council.

Ultimately, the strategy will see an improved service 
offer to our customers at a lower cost. It is backed by 
an action plan that will see ongoing investment into 
customer services to enable us to achieve greater 
levels of efficiency.

A key part of the transformation of the council is the 
creation of a modern, flexible customer experience, 
offering choice and delivering convenience to all 
customers, businesses and visitors. To do this, 
services must maximise the use of all channels 
available. It is essential that the council improves its 
hours of accessibility by promoting self-service for all

transactions. This will make it easy to do business 
with SKDC whilst actively supporting those most 
vulnerable.  

We need to ensure that our services are both 
affordable and sustainable. It is essential that we not 
only deliver ‘business as usual’ in a more modern 
environment but we continue to enhance our 
services. 

Customers will increasingly expect to access 
services through a wide range of options. We will 
consider the appropriate application of modern 
technologies to support their interactions, whether 
that be through artificial intelligence, intelligent 
websites, social media, online accounts, webchat or 
chatbots and apps.

We will improve performance management across 
our customer interactions, making sure that we 
measure the right things and drive the improvements 
that our customers want to see. This will be 
supported by a range of new performance tools that 
will give us more insight into our customer behaviours 
and experiences than we’ve ever had before.

Our customers expect to easily access information 
and our staff need to have the right tools to make 
service delivery as easy and as seamless as 
possible. Ideally customers would like a joined-up 
service offer, with our channels providing consistent 
responses and connected signposting to partner

Customers will increasingly expect to
access services through a wide range of
options. We will consider the appropriate
application of modern technologies to
support their interactions

“
”

18



organisations. To achieve this, we need to provide an
ever-increasing depth and breadth of service that is
efficiently delivered across all channels –
modernising our services to be fit for the future, firmly
putting the customer first.

It is vital that Customer Services offer access to self-
service, first time - every time, and we make this easy
and consistently good in delivery. We will also
maintain the option of face to face and telephony
services for those most vulnerable, as well as
supporting customers and businesses to self-serve
24/7, interact online, set up online accounts to meet
current and future demand.

By investing in our staff and the tools we use to
deliver our services, we will also become more
productive. Gaining extra capacity gives us choice.
We can improve and become more consistent in our
service standards, redirect resources to priority
areas, provide ‘back office expertise’ or reduce
operating costs, all in a managed way.

The strategy will ensure that we have a sustainable
organisation that meets customer expectations. This
cannot be achieved by staying as we are.

5

We will also maintain the option of face to face and telephony services
for those most vulnerable, as well as supporting customers and
businesses to self-serve 24/7, interact online, set up online accounts to
meet current and future demand.
“

”

19



6

We currently have four customer services centres
located across the district. Our staff are multi-skilled,
so are able to respond to a range of service requests
through any access channel. However, the
experience the customer gets will vary depending on
the channel chosen.

Only some of the customer service offices have self-
service kiosks. Currently, Stamford and Market
Deeping do not have a self-serve payment. However,
in Bourne, customers have been supported to utilise
the three kiosks which enable access to a range of
services including balances and payments for rent
and council tax.

At Stamford all customers liaise with the customer
service team directly to complete their enquiries
because no other options are available to them.
Payments represent 36% of those interactions, all of
which could be managed through a kiosk, via the
telephone or online. 

We use a wide range of IT systems to deliver our
services. This means that our staff  interpret
information in a range of formats and often only get a

partial view of the customers circumstances. This
limits the customer’s overall experience. Not all of our
systems can facilitate the type of interactions that we
now see as commonplace, such as sending a text
message update to a customer. We often have to join
systems together to achieve the outcomes that the
customer expects. This can be costly and time
consuming. 

However, we’ve got over 100 forms online which help
customers to transact with us at any time of day or
night. Some of these are joined to automated back-
office processes which enable prompt processing of
work, or responses to enquiries. Work is already
underway to extend this further.

We still have some duplication of work. Whilst we’ve
made some improvements, we often  have to rekey
information into back office systems, and some
frequently accessed services still rely on face to face
or telephone conversations to be delivered. Often,
customers have to understand how we operate in
order to access our services.

How we 
currently operate

20



How many interactions
do we have?

7

As the size of the district grows, demand for our services continues to increase. It is more important
than ever that we take every opportunity to streamline our provision and ensure that each transaction is
well designed and represents not only a good customer experience, but also value for money.

It’s important to appreciate just how many interactions the council deals with each
year. During 2018/19 we managed:

95,547
telephone contacts through the

customer service centre

9,900
emails to our customer 

service inbox

461,171 
visits to our website home page

39,133
calls handled by our 
switchboard operators

37,521 
face to face visits across our four

offices

@

21



What does it cost?

8

It is recognised that different access channels create different cost pressures on the council. We’ve had some
great success in moving customers to what are typically cheaper, online transactions. For example, over 80% of
those accessing the garden waste service now choose to do so electronically, rather than through traditional
channels. This strategy sees the council continuing this work to not only reduce costs, but to increase choice.

Latest industry benchmarks suggest that the average cost of a customer interaction is:

For South Kesteven District Council, simply switching 15% of our face to face demand
to a web-based transaction could save us nearly £50,000 per year. 

face to face 
£8.62

telephone 
£2.83

website 
£0.15
@

22



Our Customer
Experience Vision

9

Our vision is split into a number of key themes which combined will improve customer experience as well
as the efficiency and effectiveness of our services. The themes are based on 5 key principles:

Understanding
customer
needs

Enabling
access

First time,
every time

Staff
development

Continual
improvement

23



Theme 1: Operating model

10

Our target operating model recognises how people 
and technology can work seamlessly together and 
both contribute in different ways. We know that 
technology is great at delivering high volume, 
repetitive rule-based tasks, whilst people are better 
where empathy or subjective judgement is required. 
We’ll reconfigure our offer to effectively triage 
interactions and ensure that they are handled in the 
best possible way across all of our contact channels, 
including virtual assistants, phone, text, social media, 
mobile apps, online forms, post and email as well as 
face to face where it’s really needed. 

Our operating model is based on the principles of 
digital by design. This is where each of our 
processes are reviewed in detail, and where 
necessary, remodelled to support digital interactions 
in the future. The customer will get an improved 
outcome and will have greater choice in how to 
access a service. The council will see lower 
operating costs through greater levels of automation 
and a reduction in repeat contacts from customers.

This work will improve the number of ways customers 
contact us, not just closing channels down. If a 
customer wants to contact us through a traditional 
route, they still can. However, the onward journey for 
their transaction will still be utilising the new improved 
processes.

We’ll involve customers throughout this process to 
ensure that we are building services that are in tune 
with the reality of how customers behave and wish to 
contact SKDC. Our model is based on three tiers of 
access.

Tiers one and two would typically be managed by our 
customer service team, with only those falling into tier 
three being referred to a back-office service. There is 
a requirement to upskill our staff and improve our 
knowledge-base as part of this shift.

Tier 1: typically managed by virtual workers, and 
where necessary, supported by multi-skilled officers 
to resolve the enquiry at the first point of contact. 
This would typically be interactions that involve sign 
posting, simple information provision, reporting of

faults or booking a service. It also includes making
payments, requesting service provision, or seeking
updates on progress.

Tier 2: more complicated enquires that require a
specialist to respond. This could be where detailed
advice is required, or where we need to respond to a
complaint or customer feedback. 

Tier 3: ongoing cases that are being managed by the
back-office service. Typically, the most complicated
of cases where detailed assessments are required to
enable the service to be delivered.

Key activities include:

n data gathering – through tools like google
analytics, contact centre monitoring
reports, web analytics, reception demand
and print / post volumes etc

n customer engagement and consultation to
better understand current and future
requirements and how proposed changes
will affect them

n deployment of kiosk solutions for each of
our market towns

n reviewing approach: identifying how
successful our activities are at driving
interactions or behaviours and seeking
opportunities to do things differently in the
future

n testing and launching new solutions: we will
incrementally develop new solutions,
utilising the latest agile development
techniques. This will ensure that the
customer receives regular improvements in
service provision that is focussed on the
things that matter the most to them

24



11

The implementation of the model will see new technologies
introduced to help ensure that we make the best use of our
resources – allocating the people with the right skills to the
right tasks at the right time in the right place.

The Customer Experience Strategy dovetails with our emerging
ICT strategy. We’ll be focussing on utilising best of breed
technologies to better support our customers and simplifying
the way that we go about doing business. We’ll better leverage
relationships with suppliers to implement solutions that improve
our customers lives and remove many of the barriers and
blockages that current exist within our processes.

Technological advancements are moving faster than ever and
have a significant impact on customer expectations. There is
no such thing as standing still. If we don’t invest then in reality
our services will be going backwards and won’t be moving at
the pace our customers expect. We need to fundamentally
review the type and configuration of technologies used to
deliver services across each channel.

Theme 2: Technology

Key activities include:

n evaluate, procure and implement a new digital
engagement / CRM platform

n enhance our ‘my account’ functionality

n introduce a virtual operator solution

n deploy new booking solutions to provide greater choice,
independence and automation

n commission a new council website

n develop our knowledge-base for use by customers, staff
and virtual assistants

n deploy chat technologies, including chatbots in high
volume, repetitive environments

25



Theme 3: Embedding a
customer first ethos

12

We will create a network of customer champions,
backed by senior management to drive the delivery
of this strategy. We will ensure that the customer
voice is central to our decision making when we look
at how our services are designed in the future. We’ll
also  share learning and best practice across the
organisation.

The Customer Services management team will work
with service areas on planning, customer journey
mapping and performance monitoring. They will also
be responsible for agreeing and monitoring Customer
Experience Business Charter Agreements with
service areas to embed the transformed processes,
service hand off points, customer feedback and
performance.

The team will explain the need for change, and then
work with the service teams themselves to agree and
collectively own how that happens within the
framework of the Customer Experience Strategy and
guidelines that leadership and management provide. 

We’ll utilise our project governance methodologies to
implement improvements to our customer service,
with our customer champions ensuring that our
initiatives are properly communicated both internally
and externally to gain buy-in and the maximum
impact.

Our HR plans place a focus on learning and
development, seeking to increase the performance
and potential of each of our employees. We will work
with our managers to create individual learning plans
for each employee, with tailored learning paths to
support ongoing personal and professional
development. This includes developing core
customer service skills, recognising this as a
specialism, as well as becoming more outward
looking as an organisation and learning from what
others are doing.

We’ll also be working closely with colleagues in our
communications team to make sure that our
customers get the right messages, in the right place
at the right time. We’ll utilise feedback to improve the
way we communicate and make better use of existing
tools to market new opportunities to our residents,
visitors and businesses as well as providing
improved service updates that are targeted to
individual’s needs.

We’ll also be looking at ways that we can better
market some of the amazing things that the council
does, and that goes on in our district. We want our
residents to truly value the contribution that their
council makes and help the district to thrive.

Key activities include:

n staff learning and development plans

n identifying and implementing service
marketing plans

n reviewing existing customer accounts
to enhance the breadth, depth and
utilisation of this channel

n creation of customer champions with
launch of the strategy

n commission market research to identify
how the best of breed do things

26



Theme 4: Measurement
and management

13

The council has already made great progress in
improving the way it manages performance. We need
to ensure that the customer voice is central to that.
This voice needs to be heard across all areas of the
council and truly understood and listened to.

Through consultation with our customers and
services, we will better understand what matters the
most to our customers. We will use their feedback to
design and develop services, test solutions prior to
implementation and re-evaluate how well we’re doing.

We will work across local government and with the
private sector to benchmark our performance and
identify opportunity to improve further. We’ll be
looking at what others are doing, how and why they
are doing it, and how this could help in the delivery of
services at SKDC. Our customers don’t just compare
us with other parts of the public sector, so we need to
look wider and develop new relationships if we are
going to keep pace with the rest of the world.

We will regularly talk and reflect on our customers
experience and views of the services that we provide.
We’ll use this gift of information to identify ways that

we can improve. The improvements will be promoted
and supported to engage customers and staff
members to utilise new solutions. 

Key activities include:

n consultation and engagement
exercises

n creation of dashboards

n benchmarking with others – both in
the public and private sector

n training and development plans to
respond to feedback and improve
our offer

n embedding the customer voice into
our performance appraisals across
the authority

27



High Level Action Plan
The Customer Experience Strategy is underpinned by an action plan that runs from 2020 until 2024. Each activity
will progress through four phases: Discovery, Define, Develop, Deploy. Each deployment will be monitored and
evaluated on an ongoing basis through the performance framework and ongoing customer consultation and
engagement to ensure it meets current needs and is developed further to accommodate future requirements.

Theme 1: Operating Model 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Data gathering Ongoing activity

Customer engagement and
consultation Ongoing activity

Deployment of kiosk solutions Completed

Reviewing approach Ongoing activity

Testing and launching new solutions Ongoing activity

Theme 2: Technology 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Digital engagement / CRM platform Scope and
produce Implement

My account Completed

Virtual operator solution Completed

Booking solution Completed

New council website Completed

Develop our knowledge-base Ongoing activity

Chat technologies Completed

14 28



Theme 3: Embedding a Customer
First Ethos 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Staff learning and development plans Develop/Deploy Ongoing activity

Service marketing plans Ongoing activity

Customer account enhancements Develop Deploy

Customer champions Ongoing activity

Market research Ongoing activity

Theme 4: Measurement and
Management 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Consultation and engagement
exercises Ongoing activity

Creation of dashboards Completed Ongoing
reviews

Benchmarking Ongoing activity

Training and development Ongoing activity

Embedding the customer voice Ongoing activity

1529



South Kesteven District Council
Council Offices, St. Peter’s HIll,
Grantham, Lincolnshire NG31 6PZ

% 01476 406080
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

30



APPENDIX 2: AREA OFFICE SUMMARY

1. Area Offices Summary 18/19

Market Deeping 

 Operating hours are 9.30am – 2pm, 5 days a week
 Deeping has the lowest footfall out of all four offices 
 No appointment services are offered 
 Average 187 transactions per month 
 Payments represent 27% of all monthly interactions
 Up to 12% of monthly interactions are non SKDC related (e.g. bus passes)
 Housing register process is 6% of monthly interactions
 Scanning documents and evidence is an average of 12% of all service requests. 
 Taxi licensing is an average of 14% of monthly interactions.

Stamford 

 Operating hours Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday – 9am – 5pm, Thursday – 9am – 3.30pm 
and Friday – 9am – 4.30pm.

 Average of 705 transactions per month 
 Payments represent 36% of all monthly interactions.
 9% of monthly interactions are non SKDC related (bus passes)
 Scanning documents and evidence average 4% of all service requests. 
 Taxi licensing and parking permits / visitor vouchers represent 20% of monthly interactions.
 Housing and Taxi Licensing appointments are offered mornings only

Bourne 

 Operating hours Monday, Wednesday, Friday - 9.00 to 17.00, Tuesday, Thursday - 9.00 to 
18.00, Saturday - 10.00 to 13.00. This is 45hrs per week over 6 days, including late nights till 
6pm and Saturday.

 Bourne is a community access point, not currently greatly used by SKDC staff and customers 
due to lack of demand and minimal promotion. 

 LCC provide 9000+ books, DVD’s and 7 people network computers
 Registrars operate from Booth 3 on Monday, Wednesday and Saturday
 Planning duty appointments on a Tuesday and Thursday - demand led
 Booths are also used by Housing Management for sign ups and Housing Strategy for 

homeless appointments as and when needed.
 In 17/18 there were 88K library visits in and out of the doors to reception (NB: be aware 

these are total door count figures including staff and customers) 

31

Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Customer Experience Strategy

Lead officer:
 Lee Sirdifield
Assessors:
Nova Roberts
Jack Perry

Service Area:

Customer Services

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

02/01/20

33

Appendix 3



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

Customer Access Strategy: This strategy sets out the ambitions of the 
Council for how it will deliver services in the future. A vital part of creating a 
high performing local authority is a creation of a modernised customer 
experience offering providing choice and delivering convenience to all 
customers, businesses and visitors. The strategy seeks to maximise the 
use of all channels available to improve our hours of accessibility 24/7 by 
promoting self-service for all transactions and making it easy to do 
business with SKDC whilst actively supporting those most vulnerable.

Is this a new or existing policy? New

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this strategy have a 
positive or negative impact 
on any of the equality 
groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative.
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Positive The strategy clearly sets out 
how we will open up additional 
channels to support access to 
our services. It enables further 
choice, providing 24/7 access, 
allowing customers to interact 
with us at their convenience.

This better accommodates the 
needs of those who would 
typically struggle to access 
services during traditional 
office hours and reduces the 
need to travel.

The strategy doesn’t purely 
focus on deploying internet-
based technologies. It sees 
enhancements in our 
telephony offer, to enable out 

34



Negative

of hours services to be 
provided, as well as enabling 
self-service in a face to face 
setting for high volume 
transactions within partner 
sites.

The deployment of webchat 
technologies will enable 
people to access services 
without the need to use 
telephony based solutions or 
travel to our offices.

The strategy proposes the 
closure of two area offices. 
This will potentially have a 
negative impact on a small 
number of customers that only 
visit those offices. A 
consultation exercise will be 
completed to better 
understand the impact on that 
group and how this impact can 
be mitigated.

Disability Positive The strategy seeks to make 
our services more accessible. 
It will ensure that current 
services, and any new 
developments meet the 
requirements of the Equality 
Act. This includes the 
deployment of new 
technologies to enable items 
such as screen reading.

The strategy reduces the need 
for face to face interaction, 
making it easier for those with 
disabilities to access services. 
It also provides enhanced 
tracking of service provision 
which would allow users (or 
their support network) to keep 
up to date with service 
provision.

35



Negative

The tiering of the service 
provision enables those with 
the greatest needs to be either 
signposted or routed to the 
best possible place to gain the 
support that they require.

The deployment of webchat 
technologies will enable 
people to access services 
without the need to use 
telephony based solutions or 
travel to our offices.

The strategy proposes the 
closure of two area offices. 
This will potentially have a 
negative impact on a small 
number of customers that only 
visit those offices. A 
consultation exercise will be 
completed to better 
understand the impact on that 
group and how this impact can 
be mitigated.

Race Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Religion or 
Belief  

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 

36



range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Sex

  

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Sexual 
Orientation

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

Neutral The strategy continues to 
utilise the good practice that 
has already been embedded 
into the organisation to enable 
information to be provided in a 
range of formats to meet 
customer requirements.

Carers Positive The strategy seeks to make 
our services more accessible. 
It will ensure that current 
services, and any new 
developments meet the 
requirements of the Equality 
Act.

The strategy reduces the need 
for face to face interaction, 
making it easier for carers to 
access services. It also 
provides enhanced tracking of 
service provision which would 

37



allow carers to keep up to date 
with service provision.

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

Positive

Negative

The strategy provides a 
greater range of access 
channels for customers to 
utilise. This will make it easier 
for many in remote locations to 
take up council services 
without the need to travel.

The 24/7 access also provides 
greater flexibility for those who 
require support or advice to 
access services.
The deployment of webchat 
technologies will enable 
people to access services 
without the need to use 
telephony based solutions or 
travel to our offices. 

The new solutions that will 
developed under this strategy 
recognise that customers are 
choosing to access services in 
different ways and from a 
wider range of devices. Our 
services will be accessible 
across a wide range of 
technologies.

The strategy proposes the 
closure of two area offices. 
This will potentially have a 
negative impact on a small 
number of customers that only 
visit those offices. A 
consultation exercise will be 
completed to better 
understand the impact on that 
group and how this impact can 
be mitigated.

38



General 
comments

The strategy sets out that we will continually engage with our 
customers to develop new solutions. This will help to ensure 
that customer needs are properly anticipated and reflected in 
service design.

Where appropriate, we will complete further, in-depth 
assessments of any new individual processes or proposed 
solutions to ensure that they appropriately meet customer needs 
and are equitable.

3. What data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of the 
proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

The strategy has been developed on extensive customer data from a 
range of processing systems. We’ve also examined customer feedback to 
understand where we can improve.

The strategy recognises that we do not have all of the information that we 
will need to make changes to the way we do things. A key part of the 
strategy will be commissioning research into service design and user 
needs to better construct our provision.

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

This will be addressed through ongoing engagement with our customers 
and the creation of a new set of performance tools to better inform current 
and future service delivery.

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2 

39



c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Lee Sirdifield
(Name and title) Strategic Director

Date completed: 02/01/20 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development 
Officer

Date signed off:    02/01/20

40



Cabinet
21st January 2020

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes

Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Budget Proposals for 2020/21 and indicative budgets 
for 2021/22 and 2022/23

This report presents to Cabinet the draft Budget estimates for 2020/21, revenue and capital, for both the 
General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account and provides the details that have been included in the 
budget proposals.

Report Author
Richard Wyles, Director of Finance (interim)

 Tel: 01476 406210

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Budget and Policy 
Framework

All Wards

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 20 December 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 20 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 23 December 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Cabinet is asked to 

1. Consider the budget proposals for 2020/21 in respect of:

 General Fund – Revenue and Capital
 Housing Revenue Account – Revenue and Capital

2. Approve consultation in respect of proposed Council Tax levels for 2020/21 for the period 22nd     

January – 14 February 2020 (inclusive).

41

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk


1 The Background to the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the draft proposals for the 2020/21 prior to stakeholder 
consultation being launched.  The Budget Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting took place 
on 14th January 2020 to consider the draft proposals, as set out in this report. A summary of the key 
points from the meeting, along with any amendments that were requested will be presented to the 
Cabinet meeting on the day.  

1.2 Council has a stated ambition in the Corporate Strategy to be financially self-sustainable by 2025 and 
the budget strategy is underpinned by this ambition.  As with previous budgets, the 2020/21 budget 
does not rely on General balances, reserves or New Homes Bonus receipts to fund the delivery of 
services.  This approach places the Council in a positive place in order to deal with the funding 
challenges that lie ahead.  

1.3 However the scale of the financial challenges ahead are significant as the anticipated national funding 
review which is due to be implemented in 2021/22, could have a detrimental impact on the funding 
levels in the medium term.  In order to prepare for this reduction, this budget is seeking to realign 
resources and reduce operating costs without having a detrimental impact on service delivery.  Details 
of the proposals are set out later in the report.

1.4 The budget setting process commenced in August 2019, and the proposals have been formulated by 
the Cabinet, working closely with senior officers, through a number of budget workshops.  The 
workshops focussed on the spending ambitions of the Council to drive forward the Corporate Strategy 
within the financial parameters.  Clearly the timetable of the budget preparations has been challenging 
primarily due to the snap General Election and the subsequent pause on provisional financial 
settlement information.  However on 20th December the funding levels for 2020/21 were provisionally 
confirmed and these are outlined at section 2.  Within this context the primary objective of the budget 
proposals has been to ensure resources and spending plans are aligned to the delivery of key services 
without a detrimental impact on service quality.  

1.5 This report covers a number of areas:

 The funding position for the General Fund (section 2)
 The draft General Fund budget proposals (section 3)
 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) position (section 4)
 The Capital Programmes 2020/21 to 2022/23 (section 5)
 The Capital Financing Statement (section 6)
 Reserves and Balances (section 7)
 Fees and Charges (section 8)

2. THE FUNDING POSITION FOR THE GENERAL FUND

2.1 Provisional Finance Settlement 2020/21 

On 20th December 2019 the Government published technical consultation on the 2020/21 Local 
Government Finance Settlement.  The main headlines from the settlement are:

 Funding will continue at 2019-20 levels for the rural services delivery grant which has been 
announced at £81m.  The Council is expected to receive £295k for 2020/21 only. 

 New Homes Bonus Funding for 2020/21 has been announced at £907m.  This will be paid with 
the legacy payments due from previous years (2017/18 to 2019/20).  As previously announced, 
there will be no legacy payments for the 2020-21 in-year allocations.  The deadweight of 0.4% 
is maintained.  For the Council the amount for 2020/21 is confirmed at £1.8m. 

 The Council Tax referendum limits, as set out in the one-year spending round announcement 
remain unchanged i.e. a core council tax referendum principle of up to 2% (or £5, if greater for 

42



districts); an adult social care precept of 2% on top of the core principle; and no referendum 
principles for parish councils and mayoral combined authorities;

 There will be a multi-year Spending Review in 2020;

 The deferral to 2021-22 of the Fair Funding Review and Full Business Rates Reset;

In summary, the anticipated changes to the local government funding that could adversely affect 
some Councils as a result of the finance distribution, has been deferred a year thereby giving a 
relatively stable financial year (2020/21) before the April 2021 implementation.  This has provided 
the Council will a further year to realign its resources in the context of reduced funding.  The following 
table shows the potential reduction in funding based on current assumptions.

Table 1 – Indicative Funding Levels for South Kesteven DC

 
 Funding Heading

2019/20
£m

2020/21
£m

2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

 
Business Rates (SFA)

                             
6.2

                             
5.0 

                             
3.8 

                             
3.8 

                             
3.9 

Change to Baseline Need 
                             

0  0
                             

0.2 
                             

0.2 
                             

0.2 
 
New Homes Bonus 

                             
2.0 

                             
1.8 

                             
0.8 

                             
0.5 

                              
-   

Rural services delivery 
grant

                             
0.3 

                             
0.3 

                             
0.3 

                             
0.3 

                             
0.3 

 
Council Tax 

                             
7.5 

                             
7.8 

                             
8.2 

                             
8.6 

                             
8.9 

 
Total Resources 

                           
16.0 

                         
14.9 

                           
13.3 

                           
13.4 

                           
13.3 

Annual % change  -6.9% -10.7% 0.8% -0.8%

2.2 The Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) referred to above is the Government’s baseline funding 
assessment using the current funding formula that determines the amount the Council requires to 
deliver local services (including section 31 grants and assumed growth).  The SFA does not take into 
consideration any local growth in business rates and therefore the actual amount the Council includes 
in the budget framework can vary to the Government’s baseline figure.  

 The amount received in respect of New Homes Bonus is transferred to the Local Priorities 
Reserve each year and is a primary source of funding for one off projects or seed funding for 
both capital and revenue. 

 The rural services delivery grant is recognition of the additional financial burden that rural 
authorities incur in delivering local services to residents living in remote areas. 

 Council Tax – the table below shows the tax base growth assumptions for the district and the 
potential income based on projected Band D charge 

Table 2 – Proposed Council Tax Band D Charge Increase

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Proposed Band D Charge Increase N/a £5.00 3% 3%
Tax Base (Projected) 47,125.70 47,918.4 48,636.4 49,365.9
Band D charge (SKDC only incl. 
Special Expense Areas) £158.62 £163.62 £168.52 £173.57
Assumed Council Tax Income £7.475m £7.840m £8.196m £8.568m

 New Homes Bonus - the table below shows the current and projected NHB receipts compared 
with previous projections.  It is clear that the decline of the income is greater than previously 
anticipated which will create financial challenges as the Council has been able to utilise the 

43



receipts (via the Local Priorities Reserve) to fund in year changes to the budget framework and 
also to fund capital schemes in lieu of external borrowing costs.  This strategy will need to be 
realigned in response to the reduction in NHB receipt going forward.

Table 3 – New Homes Bonus Receipts

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Original 
Projection £1.957m £1.534m £1.277m £1.191m £0.889m £0.553m
Updated 
Projection £1.957m £1.814m £0.832m £0.524m £0m £0m

 Business Rates Pool – the Lincolnshire authorities have once again applied for pool status for 
2020/21 which has proven to be financially beneficial for all tiers of Lincolnshire Councils.  At the 
time of compiling the report, confirmation has been received that the Council’s position in the pool 
will remain for the full 2020/21 financial year.

 Rural Services Delivery Grant – in response to successful lobbying by authorities that provide 
services in sparse rural areas the Government has acknowledged the existence of the current 
deficiencies in the funding mechanism and has provided a one-off funding to rural authorities.  
Therefore, the funding for the Council for 2020/21 has been provisionally set at £295k.  It is widely 
anticipated the issues of rurality and the additional costs associated with providing local services 
to a largely rural population will be considered as part of the fair funding review which is due for 
completion in 2020. 

16.0
14.9

13.3 13.4 13.3

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

18.0

Council Tax Business Rates New Homes Bonus Other Grants Other Income

Resources by Type £m

2.3 The above graph shows the various funding sources in a bar chart and demonstrates the shifts in 
funding sources over the medium term as the reliance on Council tax income increases, business 
rates baseline funding decreases (following the reset) and New Homes Bonus monies is removed 
from funding from 2023/24.   The development of the budget proposals has been undertaken within 
the context of this funding forecast in order to begin the alignment of spending projections.  This 
review will continue into 2020/21 when it is expected that greater clarity of funding levels will be 
available.  

44



3 GENERAL FUND BUDGET PROPOSALS

 Draft Budget Proposals

3.1 The overall General Fund position for 2020/21 is shown at table 4 below and Appendix A(i). The net 
budget requirement for 2020/21 is estimated at £14.264m.  

 
Table 4 – Summary of General Fund Estimates 

3.2 The table confirms that a balanced position has been achieved for 2020/21 but the forecast for the 
following years shows the Council will be facing a significant deficit position based on current budget 
proposals.  This is primarily a result of anticipated funding changes that will arise following the 
business rates reset and the predicted changes to the local government funding formula (this review 
is called the Fair Funding Review).  It is important that members are kept updated as the financial 
landscape becomes clearer. However, in order to meet the financial changes that are predicted, a 
corporate review of aligning resources to the Council priorities is underway to ensure there is a 
managed and smooth transition as the Council adjusts to new reduced funding levels from 2021/22.  
This comprehensive review programme will also incorporate other initiatives including:

 Redefining the operating model of the Council 

 Commercialism opportunities

 Transformation of services

 Exploring other operating models for service delivery   

 Rationalisation of assets and operating costs 

Description

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

£’000

2020/21 
Original 
Budget

£’000

2021/22 
Indicative 

Budget

£’000

2022/23 
Indicative 

Budget

£’000
    
Commercial & Operations directorate 7,250 7,545 7,842 7,960
Finance, Legal & Democratic directorate 4,770 4,159 4,355 4,584
Growth directorate 6,595 5,223 5,257 5,247
Transformation & Change directorate 3,701 3,871 3,671 3,717
HRA recharge (2,470) (2,558) (2,601) (2,678)
Net Cost of Services 19,846 18,240 18,524 18,830
Interest Payable & Investment Income 100 (236) (252) (236)
Minimum Revenue Provision 308 302 296 291
Revenue Contribution to Capital 0 72 189 231
Depreciation (3,619) (4,114) (4,586) (4,722)
Net Budget Requirement 16,635 14,264 14,171 14,394
Funding & Resources:    
Council Tax (Excluding Parishes) (7,475) (7,840) (8,199) (8,569)
Government Grants (413) (295) (563) (204)
Retained Business Rates (5,154) (4,954) (3,757) (3,831)
New Homes Bonus (1,957) (1,814) (832) (524)
Collection Fund Deficit (1,390) 0 0 0
Total Funding (16,389) (14,903) (13,351) (13,128)
Transfers to/(from) earmarked reserves (246) 639 189 36
NET BUDGET DEFICIT 0 0 1,009 1,302

45



These programmes will be further developed into specific projects in order to meet the challenges of 
the predicted funding challenges. 

3.3 Key Budgetary Proposals

The budgetary proposals for 2020/21 contain a number of service changes that have been 
incorporated in order to ensure there is a balanced budget for next year without the need to utilise 
reserves to support the financial framework.  Each of the proposals will be required to be implemented 
with effect from 1 April 2020 in order to ensure the full financial saving is captured.

 Through the development of the emerging Customer Experience Strategy to create a modernised 
service fit for the future, the Council is reviewing its customer service provision; rationalising our 
face to face delivery and developing a range of other channels. Creating a modernised customer 
experience offering aims to provide choice and convenience to all customers, businesses and 
visitors in a cost-efficient value for money way. Therefore, budgets have been prepared to support 
the delivery of these objectives with specific emphasis on the Market Deeping and Stamford offer. 
The service must maximise the use of all channels available to improve our hours of accessibility 
by promoting self-service for all transactions and making it easy to do business with the Council, 
whilst supporting those most vulnerable.  The budgeted saving is £81k and will be met from the 
delivery of the Customer Experience Strategy actions.

 Reduction in the grounds maintenance costs following a review of the specification – Following 
transfer of the grounds maintenance service to an arm’s length company (Environment SK), the 
first year has been focused on reviewing the service specification and introducing amendments 
to the specification that will deliver service efficiencies to the following areas: 

 General Fund £20k
 Housing Revenue Account £50k

 The above review and subsequent reductions in operating costs has provided the opportunity for 
the Council to undertake the additional responsibility of verge grass cutting in and around 
Grantham.  This is in response to the recent reduction in grass cutting undertaken by Lincolnshire 
County Council which has led to a rise in complaints regarding the untidy appearance of the town.  
Should the Council take on this responsibility then the annual charge will be met by the Grantham 
taxpayer through the Special Expense Area.

Table 5 – Environment SK

Core Funding 2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

2021/22
£’000

2022/23
£’000

General Fund 302 289 289 289
Housing Revenue Account 328 278 278 278
Special Expense Areas 318 338 338 338
Total 948 905 905 905

 Included in the proposed 2020/21 budget proposals is a corporate staffing saving of £300k 
linked to management savings.  This target saving continues the managerial review that started 
in 2017 with the senior management structural changes.

 During 2019/20 a corporate initiative supported by external partners, Ernst and Young, launched 
a process automation programme by creating a virtual worker to undertake routine tasks and 
processes in order to expediate processing times and enable staff to focus their time on front line 

46



service delivery.  It is anticipated that a full year saving of £200k will be achieved against this 
work programme.

 Procurement savings will continue to be identified during 2020/21 by working collaboratively with 
other authorities and by introducing commercial principles into contracts, specifications and 
ongoing effective contract management.  This work is corporately supported by dedicated 
resources.  The target saving for next year is £350k and is a recurring saving.

 Over recent years the Council has introduced a wide range of community focussed grants and 
financial support in the form of the Community Fund, Member ward scheme, LotterySK and 
CrowdFund SK.  The value of these is in excess of £250k and it is considered that these separate 
funds can be consolidated and coordinated to ensure maximum impact.  Therefore, it is proposed 
to reduce the Ward Member scheme to £500 per member and reduce the Community Fund by 
£50k to a new budget level of £100k.  Based on current spending profiles it is anticipated that the 
reduced levels will meet the existing demand.

 Following a review of the current level of grant being allocated to InvestSK, and to ensure the 
Council can propose a balanced budget for next year, it is proposed to reduce the funding to the 
core funding level of £800k; focusing the work of InvestSK on economic development, inward 
investment and visitor economy in the District. To support the delivery of these outcomes 
InvestSK will also procure professional support directly from the Council. 

Table 6a - Invest SK - Current financial year funding

Funding 2019/20
£’000

Core 800
Arts & Heritage 350
Skills (capacity bid) 110
Economic Development 108
Total 1,368

Table 6b - Proposed funding levels from 2020/21

Funding 2020/21
£’000

2021/22
£’000

2022/23
£’000

InvestSK (focus on Economic Development, Inward 
Investment and Visitor Economy)

800 700 600

Total 800 700 600

 A number of revenue budget bids were presented as part of the budget setting process.  These 
have been reviewed and are supported for inclusion into the budget proposals and therefore 
included in the proposed budgets detailed in table 4 and at Appendix B.  

 The budget preparatory work has also incorporated a review of fees and charges in line with the 
principles set out the in the draft Fees and Charges Policy.  The full details of the proposed fees 
and charges are set out at Appendix E.  

Budget Estimates – 2020/21

3.4   The budget has been compiled to deliver the outcomes and aspirations of the Council.  There are a 
number of budget assumptions that have been considered and incorporated into the budget estimates 
and these are listed below:

47



Table 7 – General Fund Budget Increases

Cost Heading
2020/21 
Budget 

Increases
 (%)

Financial 
impact
£000

National Business Rate 3.0 17
Utility Costs 3.0 13
Drainage Board Levies 3.0 17
Fuel Costs 5.0 29
Pay Award and incorporation of national living wage 2.0 393
Apprenticeship levy 0.5 57
Vacancy Allowance 0.5 70
Pension employer contributions (net increase)
Primary 
Secondary

1.0
1.0

96
159

3.5 These are budget assumptions that the Council annually anticipates and therefore they had been 
incorporated into the indicative 2020/21 budgets last year.  Upon review there have been two changes 
to the assumptions built into the indicative budgets; these are the vacancy allowance which has been 
reduced from 3.5% to 3% resulting in a budget increase of £70k and the pension employer rates which 
have increased by 1% from 2020/21 onwards following the triennial review resulting in an overall 
budget increase of £255k.

3.6 Treasury Investment Income - the financial forecasts in respect of investment income over the next 
three years have been modelled on the following anticipated levels of interest rates (provided by the 
investment advisors).  However, it must be noted that the forecasts remain volatile and therefore are 
liable to change over the budget period. 

Table 8 – Treasury Investment Financial Forecasts

Financial Year 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Base Rate 0.75% 1.00% 1.00%
Investment Interest Rate 0.75% 1.00% 1.25%

3.7 This information has been utilised to anticipate the potential levels of interest income the Council will 
receive for its investment of the reserve balances.  This income will be shared between the General 
Fund and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  Forecast interest rates available to the Council are 
shown in the table above and expected to generate an income of £236k to the General Fund and 
£253k to the HRA.  However, it should be noted that the forecast income can only be an estimate as 
it will be determined by the level of balances and the achievable interest rates over the financial year.

Council Tax Proposals

3.8 The proposed draft budget proposals for 2020/21 is calculated based on the options available for 
Council tax setting:

Table 9 – Council Tax options 

2020/21 options
£5 increase 

(3.15%) £163.62 
Band D

3% increase £163.38
 Band D

No increase £158.62 
Band D

Council Tax level x 
47,918.4** (inc. SEA*)

£7.840m £7.829m £7.60m

48



2020/21 options
£m annual difference to 
a £5 increase

£0 (£11k) (£240k)

SKDC only Band D 
Charge

150.11

SKDC Including SEA £163.62
*SEA – Special expense area
** Council Tax base

3.9 The budget proposals for 2020/21 have been compiled on the assumption that the Cabinet would 
wish to recommend a £5 increase for 2020/21 in order to take advantage of the limited availability of 
the higher level (without the need for a referendum).  This assumption has been included in the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.  However, should a lesser amount be proposed then the following 
options would require consideration:

 Removal of growth built into the budget proposals proportionate to the financial difference
 Increase in savings, efficiencies and/or income to offset the reduction in Council tax income.  

 Any new proposals under this heading would require careful consideration to ensure they are 
resilient, and can be delivered

 A one-off reserve movement to offset the financial difference.  This would be a one-off solution 
only to avoid an ongoing dependency of reserve needed to fund budget proposals

Consultation in respect of Council Tax options for 2020/21 will be launched in January following the 
Cabinet meeting and the results will be fed back to Cabinet at their February meeting.

4. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

4.1 The Council has refreshed its Housing Strategy to ensure it reflects current needs and priorities. 

The key themes underpinning the strategy are:

 Help meet the housing needs of residents
 Facilitate the delivery of new housing across a range of tenures
 Enable those whose independence may be at risk to access housing (including their current 

home) that meets their needs
 Encourage, support and regulate the private rental sector to provide well managed, safe homes.

One of the areas that has been further enhanced in the refresh is developing new housing across 
tenure to prioritise a balanced housing market. To help deliver some of the challenging housing 
targets in the Local Plan, the strategy recommends the council exploring all mechanisms and/or 
vehicles to help deliver the scale and extent of new housing in the district.

In addition, new priorities have been added to capture best practice in housing delivery and make 
best use of its housing assets.

 Supporting Housing Independence for Older People and other Vulnerable Groups - remodelling 
& technology

 Provide the conditions for Tenant Involvement
 Improve Housing Services & Options
 Regenerate our Priority Neighbourhoods
 Energy Efficiency- Tackling Fuel Poverty/Climate Change in new developments and current 

Housing.

49



The overall Housing Revenue Account Revenue position for 2020/21 is shown at Appendix A(ii).  
The net surplus for 2020/21 before reserve movements is estimated at £5.493m.  

Housing Revenue Account 2020/2021 – Rent Proposals

4.2 The main element of policy relating to the HRA for 2020/21 is the setting of rents. The Government’s 
4-year social rent reduction policy has come to an end and in October 2017 the Government 
announced its intention to set a long term rent deal to permit annual rent increases on both social and 
affordable rent properties of up to CPI plus 1% from 2020, for a period of at least five years.  

4.3 This increase in rent will see the annual budgeted rental income increasing from £24.408m in 2019/20 
to £24.557m in 2020/21.  For 2020/21 the average weekly rental increase for individual property will 
be £2.09.  The average rent in 2020/21 will be £79.64 with a minimum of £52.87 and a maximum of 
£123.00.  Garage rents are proposed to increase in line with inflation (3%) and service charges are 
proposed to increase in accordance with the fees and charges shown at Appendix E.  Further analysis 
of rent details is provided below:

Table 10 - Impact – 2.7% increase

Bedrooms
% of

Dwelling
Stock

Average
Weekly

Rent
2019/20

Average
Weekly

Rent
2020/21

Average
Increase

% 
Increase

Bedsit 0.57% £54.79 £56.27 £1.48 2.7%
1 Bedroom 12.70% £66.80 £68.60 £1.80 2.7%
2 Bedrooms 42.44% £75.19 £77.22 £2.03 2.7%
3 Bedrooms 42.25% £82.92 £85.16 £2.24 2.7%
4 Bedrooms 1.97% £87.78 £90.15 £2.37 2.7%
6 Bedrooms 0.07% £111.87 £114.89 £3.02 2.7%

Table 11 - Increases for Individuals

Bracket Number of 
Properties % Of Properties

Under £1.75 314 5.25%
£1.75 - £2.24 4,144 69.32%
£2.25 - £2.74 1,511 25.28%
£2.75 - £3.24 9 0.15%
Total 5,978 100.00%

4.4 In addition to using the 2.7% rent increase in setting the budget for rental income for future years 
further assumptions have been made.  Void rent assumptions will be budgeted at 1.5% in line with 
last year’s actual rate. Right to buy assumptions are set at 50 and this is in line with the current year 
projection. 
 

5.      CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21 – 2022/23 

5.1 The capital programme has been formulated to deliver the Council ambitions of growth and investment 
in its assets to support the delivery of quality services.  As the Council has a stated ambition to provide 
quality leisure services there is an anticipated capital investment programme requirement in the short 
to medium term.  At the time of compiling the capital programme the financial scale of the investment 
is not yet approved as the business cases are being prepared.  However, in anticipation of this and in 
response to the requirement to provide a new all-weather pitch facility for the Deepings area, a capital 
budget has been included so that this facility can be delivered once the feasibility study has been 
completed.  In order to ensure that the investment programme is affordable it is recommended that the 

50



£10m investment fund that was approved by Council at the last Budget meeting is deferred for the 
present time.  

5.2 The £10m investment fund was to be funded entirely from external borrowing so therefore the 
associated revenue costs have now been removed from the 2020/21 – 2022/23 revenue budgets.  The 
revenue costs associated with the financing of any borrowing linked to the leisure programme will need 
to be assessed for affordability based on the business cases.  A summarised capital programme is 
shown below and a detailed capital programme included in Appendix C.

Table 12 – General Fund Capital Programme Summary

Directorate
2020/21 

Indicative
Budget 
£’000

2021/22 
Indicative 

Budget
£’000

2022/23 
Indicative 

Budget
£’000

Commercial and Operations 1,770 933 1,445
Finance, Legal and Democratic 50 0 0
Growth 1,590* 260 220
Total Budget 3,410 1,193 1,665
Financing:
Capital Receipts (1,090) (729) (525)
Grants (1,022) (189) (231)
Reserves (1,298) (275) (909)
Total Financing (3,410) (1,193) (1,665)

*includes £50k slippage from 2019/20 for tourism signage

5.3 The Council is committed to helping grow the local economy for the benefit of all residents in the 
district, both by supporting private sector activity and, where necessary, intervening more directly. 
The Council has various routes to do this, including Gravitas, the Council’s housing-focussed 
company and via direct investment.  

5.4 The capital strategy over the medium term will be focussed on supporting the delivery of the Growth 
ambition as set out in the Corporate Strategy and to support the delivery of the enhanced Leisure 
offer across the district.  Cabinet will be presented with business cases to support the investment 
which will be underpinned by affordability and value for money appraisals at that time to ensure the 
scale of the investment is affordable in the context of competing investment opportunities.  

5.5 Alongside this ambition, the capital programme includes investment in infrastructure that is vital to 
maintaining the delivery of quality services such as replacement of vehicles, maintenance of assets 
and ICT investment.  

Housing Investment Programme (HIP) 

5.6 The formation of the capital programme for the period 2020/21 – 2022/23 is based on an ambitious 
social housing building programme of £52.6m over a 3-year period. focussed on the continuation of 
the new build and stock acquisition programme and the objectives of the HRA Business Plan.  This 
will continue to deliver investment into the housing stock through a range of programmes including 
kitchen and bathroom, re-roofing and external wall insulation.

51



Table 13 – HRA Capital Programme Summary

2020/21 
Indicative

Budget 
£000

2021/22 
Indicative 

Budget 
£000

2022/23 
Indicative 

Budget 
£000

Decent Homes 5,420 5,880 5,848
Housing Growth 21,500 17,135 14,000
ICT 430 0 0
Repairs Vehicles 140 133 186
HRA Budget 27,490 23,148 20,034
Financing:
Borrowing 0 (2,000) (7,000)
Capital Receipts (4,000) (4,532) (3,000)
Grants (5,650) (1,650) 0
Reserves (17,840) (14,966) (10,034)
Total Financing (27,490) (23,148) (20,034)

5.7 In order to accelerate the ambitions of the HRA and to deliver a stepped increase in the new build 
programme, it is proposed to include in the programme a significant allocation of £15m capital 
expenditure over the period of the programme in order for the HRA to procure strategic sites across 
the district where there is an identified need for housing development.  In order to finance this 
ambition, it is necessary to divert resources away from the loan repayment reserve which is budgeted 
to have a balance of £16.35m as at 31 March 2019.  This proposal will therefore require the Council 
to re-finance the £25m maturity loan by 27 March 2020.

6. Capital Financing

6.1 The General Fund Capital Programme is detailed at Appendix C(i), the proposed schemes have been 
funded by a combination of external grants and Council reserves so for the duration of the proposed 
capital programme no external borrowing is currently required.  The HRA Capital Programme is 
included at Appendix C(ii), the proposed schemes have been partly funded by borrowing due to the 
ambitious Housing Growth Scheme.

General Fund

6.2 The General Fund capital programme for 2020/21 will be financed from the following 

 £1.090m capital receipts reserve
 £1.022m specific grants (to be confirmed)
 £1.286m reserves

At the time of compiling the report, the specific grants referred to have not been confirmed and 
therefore the financing or level of the 2020/21 investment may require amending once the confirmed 
grant funding is known to the Council.

 Housing Revenue Account
6.3 The HRA capital programme for 2020/21 will be financed from the following:

 £4m capital receipts reserve
 £5.650m specific grants (to be confirmed)
 £17.840m revenue reserves

52



At the time of compiling the report, the specific grants referred to have not been confirmed and 
therefore the financing or level of the 2020/21 investment may require amending once the confirmed 
grant funding is known to the Council.

  
7. RESERVES AND BALANCES

7.1 In line with good practice, the Council maintains a number of reserves which can be categorised as 
meeting the following requirements:

 To ensure the Council has sufficient funds available to meet its cash flow requirements and 
avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing and to protect services against unforeseen financial 
events – this is known as the working balance.

 A means of building up funds to meet known or predicted liabilities –these are known shown as 
discretionary and governance reserves

7.2 Through prudent financial management, the Council is in a position to be able to establish a number 
of specific general reserves that are set up to provide funding for an approved purpose usually in 
respect of specific services or corporate ambitions.  The proposed changes to the reserves for the 
next financial year are: 

 In line with good practice it is proposed to retain the General Fund working balance to circa. 10% 
of net cost of services.  This will enable the Council to respond to any unforeseen financial 
pressures or demands not anticipated at the start of the financial year.

 
 Due to the increased fleet stock the Council now operates and manages particularly for Street 

Scene and Housing services, it is necessary to consider establishing a specific reserve to be 
able to respond to financial fluctuations arising from consumables.  The reserve can also be 
utilised to fund other financial pressures within the Street Scene area such as fuel price 
increases.  It is proposed to set this reserve at £200k. 

 The Council holds and maintains a number of assets from which it either provides direct deliver 
services to customers or it receives an income through third party letting.  In order to maintain 
and ensure the buildings are kept in good condition.  Members will be presented with an updated 
Asset Management Strategy in 2020 and to support the aims of the Strategy it is proposed to 
increase the balance on the maintenance reserve which was established in 19/20 to fund one-off 
asset maintenance and improvements to £500k.

 It is proposed to maintain and replenish the ICT reserve which is used to provide in-year funding 
for both capital and revenue proposals that will support replacement or additional ICT provision 
and that align with the ICT Strategy.  The reserve is increased to £400k to fund future 
commitments.

 In order to maintain and protect services and to ensure there is sufficient financial support, it is 
proposed to replace the existing Volatility Reserve with a new Budget Stabilisation Reserve.  The 
primary purpose of the reserve is to absorb in year underspends and overspends when 
comparing actual expenditure and income to budget levels.  In instances where there are 
underspends, these will be used to replenish the reserve and in instances where there are 
overspends, the reserve will be utilised to absorb the overspends to avoid detrimental impact on 
the service itself.  The reserve will be set at £2.8m.  In the event of any unforeseen costs resulting 
from the UK’s departure from the European Union, the Council will be able to utilise this reserve 
for funding any short term detrimental impact on service delivery or adverse resident impact.  

53



 The Council has recently declared a Climate Change emergency and has approved a dedicated 
resource to drive forward the necessary policy changes and to support the actions arising from 
the Climate Change Action Group which has been meeting over recent weeks.  Therefore, a 
reserve of £20k is proposed to support the necessary work programme although it is also 
recommended that the reserve level is reviewed later in the year.

 In order to accelerate commercial opportunities that may arise during the financial year and that 
require a level of seed funding, it is proposed that a specific Commercial Reserve of £500k be 
established that can be utilised to provide initial in-year funding.  It is further proposed that a 
business case (and supporting business plan) be presented to Companies Committee (in 
accordance with their terms of reference) for due consideration and then subsequently 
considered by Cabinet for release of these funds.  Should the commercial proposal be approved 
then that necessary funding can be accessed from the reserve.  The reserve level will be reviewed 
on an annual basis.  

Table 14 – Budgeted General Fund Revenue Reserve Movements

Reserve Heading 2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23 
£000

Government Specific Grants 1 20 20
ICT reserve (137) (70) (212)
Invest to Save (213) (150) 0
New Homes Bonus income allocated to 
Local Priorities Reserve 1,814 832 524
Pensions (116) (56) (56)
Property Maintenance (125) (77) (77)
Regeneration Reserve (580) (310) (160)
Special Expense 17 29 29
Street Scene (24) (29) (32)

7.3 The main proposed movements over the next three-year period are summarised above and include 
the following:

 In 2020/21 it is proposed that Government Specific Grants are used to part fund the local plan 
and costs incurred in electoral registration.  The council receives £40k Neighbourhood Planning 
Grant each year, £20k of this grant will be used to fund a post each year and the balance will be 
transferred to reserves to be used when expenditure is identified.  The provisional finance 
settlement details that the council will receive an additional £62k of Homelessness Grant, this will 
be transferred to reserves to be used when expenditure is identified.

 The ICT Reserve will be used to continue the funding of the agile rollout of devices to staff, rollout 
of Microsoft 365 software and the procurement of equipment hardware.

 The Invest to Save Reserve will be used to fund the remaining two years of the Intelligent 
Automation project with Ernst and Young (£150k per annum) and to fund specific salaries that 
are deployed in the transformation service area.

 New Homes Bonus totalling £3.170m is budgeted to be transferred to the Local Priorities Reserve 
over the period of the 3-year budget.  It is proposed that £1.445m of this reserve is used to finance 
the capital programme which includes £150k match funding for the Heritage Action Zone grant 
and £1.09m funding for capital improvements to the Councils existing assets. 

54



 The balance on the current pension reserves will be used to part fund the annual pension costs 
and the former employee reserve will be utilised to fund the pension costs associated with 
employees previously employed by the council.

 The Property Maintenance Reserve will be utilised over the budget period to provide the financing 
of essential property related works such as leisure centres and other public buildings.  Following 
the approval of the revised Asset Management Strategy, the reserve will be focussed on investing 
in the approved strategic assets.

 The Regeneration Reserve will be utilised over the period of the budget to finance the borrowing 
costs associated with the St Martin’s Park acquisition, feasibility works and the associated 
revenue costs.

 Both Grantham and Langtoft Special Expense Reserves will be utilised over the period of the 
budget proposals.  In respect of Grantham this will be to support the expenditure costs of future 
capital projects and Langtoft reserve will be reduced over the next 3 years to contribute towards 
the operational costs of the SEA resulting in a reduced cost to those residents over the same 
period.

 The Council’s fleet has increased by 58 vehicles since 2014 and the number of years that the 
RCV’s (refuse collection vehicle) are retained for has increased which have both impacted on the 
cost of the workshop parts.  It is therefore proposed that the Street Scene reserve is utilised to 
fund these additional costs. 

7.4 In respect of the HRA, there are a number of specific reserves to assist in the delivery of the HRA 
Strategy and are used to fund both revenue and capital expenditure.  In addition, the HRA has a 
specific working balance which provides financial support to the HRA should any significant 
unforeseen costs arise during the financial year.   The Major Repairs Reserve is the primary source 
of funding for the HRA capital programme and is proposed to be utilised to fund the investment in the 
housing stock over the next 5 years.  As previously referenced, it is proposed to re-direct funds from 
the loan repayment reserve in order to provide financial support to an ambitious acquisition 
programme to support new build and stock growth.  Further detail of the HRA reserves can be found 
in Appendix D.

 Table 15 - Budgeted HRA Reserve Movements

Reserve Heading 2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23 
£000

Service Specific Reserve (172) 0 0
Capital Receipts Reserve (30) (30) (30)
Major Repairs Reserve 3,194 2,781 2,631

 The balance on the Service Specific Reserve will be utilised to part fund the pension costs in 
2020/21.

 The legal fees incurred in the disposal of council dwellings are charged to the revenue budget 
and are then funded from the Capital Receipts Reserve.

 There is an annual requirement for a revenue contribution to the Major Repairs Reserves which 
is utilised for capital investment in the council’s housing stock.

 There is an annual transfer of £3.222m from the HRA surplus to the working balance which is 
used to fund the principal repayment of the EIP loan taken out under the HRA self-financing in 
2012.

55



8. FEES AND CHARGES

8.1 Fees and charges are becoming a key element of the Council funding which raise approximately £6m 
towards the costs of delivery for specific services.  In order to ensure a consistent and transparent 
approach to fee setting, a fees and charges policy has been developed and this is shown at Appendix 
D.  The policy introduces a set of principles which will be applied to fees and charges setting going 
forward.  Due to the requirement to review all charges, the policy will be applied over the next 3 
financial years in order that over the time period a consistent approach has been fully implemented. 

 
8.2 The Council provides a wide range of services for which it is able to make a charge – either under 

statutory powers (set by the Government) or discretionary (set by the Council). Further definitions of 
the two main categories of charge are detailed below:

Regulatory – the majority of charges are set nationally and local authorities have little or no 
opportunity to control them. The income received from these charges is important as it contributes to 
the overall financial position of the Authority.  However, income cannot be assumed to increase in line 
with other fees and charges set by the Council. Also included under this heading are a few areas 
where the service is statutory or established by local by-law but the charges have a discretionary 
element.

Discretionary Charges – By definition, these are for discretionary services where local authorities 
can make their own decisions on setting the level of charges. Accordingly, when setting these fees 
and charges, the Council’s approach should be clear and in line with the corporate priorities.

 
8.3 A summary of the proposed fees and charges for 2020/21 are shown in the table below and full details 

are shown at Appendix E:

Table 16 – Fees and Charges Summary

QUADRANT (as per  
the Policy) HEADING PROPOSAL FOR 

2020/21
INCORPORATION 

OF POLICY 
PRINCIPLES

Arts Centres 3% (rounded to £1) Subsidised
Bus stations Up to 3% Subsidised

Car parking charges
Inflationary increase 

(inflation since 2010) Cost Recovery
Car parking penalty 

charge notices 0% Cost Recovery

Green waste

DDR/Online             
12%

Offline/cash/cheque 
17%

Additional bins 
DDR/Online              

20%
Additional bins 

Offline/cash/cheque 
24% Cost Recovery

Markets Up to 3% Subsidised
Outdoor recreation Up to 3% Subsidised
Planning and pre-

planning charges set 
locally Up to 15% Cost Recovery

Discretionary

Supply of new or 
replacement bins 0% Cost Recovery

Air Quality 0% Cost Recovery
Alcohol licensing 0% Cost Recovery

56



Bingo premises, 
betting premises etc 2% Cost Recovery

Building control 
charges 0% Cost Recovery

Cemetery charges Up to 3% Cost Recovery
Fees for Scrap 
Metal dealers, 

tattooing, 
acupuncture, control 

of dogs, caravan 
parks etc

Full cost recovery 
analysis undertaken Cost Recovery

Fixed Penalty 
Notices- Nuisance 

parking/ Waste 
Transfer Offence etc 0% Cost Recovery

Fixed Penalty 
Notices – 

Littering/Fly posting 0% Cost Recovery
Gambling Licensing- 

Gaming machines 
and lottery licenses Up to 2% Cost Recovery
Hackney Carriage, 

Animal licenses and 
sex establishments 

etc
Full cost recovery 

analysis undertaken Cost Recovery
Houses of Multiple 

occupancy, 
Immigration 
inspections, 

contaminated land 
enquiries & 

Sampling of water 
supplies Up to 12% Cost Recovery

Letting Agents 
Redress Scheme 0% Cost Recovery

Local Land Charge 
fees 0% Cost Recovery

Planning fees set by 
Government 0% Cost Recovery

Regulatory

Smoke free fixed 
penalty notices and 
smoke and carbon 

monoxide alarms for 
landlords 0% Cost Recovery

Community rooms & 
guest rooms Up to 3% Cost Recovery

Domestic refuse 
collection e.g. bulky 

waste Up to 25% Cost Recovery

Specialism

Hygiene food safety, 
packs and energy 

efficiency standards
Full cost recovery 

analysis undertaken Cost Recovery
Total Cost Recovery

MOT Fees 0% Cost Recovery

57



9. Other Financial Considerations

9.1 In recent weeks there have been two significant publications by CIPFA which are designed to assist 
local authorities in ensuring there is sound financial management practices and governance at a time 
of financial pressures and uncertainty.  These publications are the Financial Management Code and 
the Prudential Property Investment Guidance.

Financial Management Code 

9.2 The Financial Management Code (FM Code) is designed to support good practice in financial 
management and to assist local authorities in demonstrating their financial sustainability. For the first 
time the FM Code sets out the standards of financial management for local authorities.

The FM Code is based on a series of principles supported by specific standards which are considered 
necessary to provide the strong foundation to: 

 financially manage the short, medium and long-term finances of a local authority 

 manage financial resilience to meet unforeseen demands on services 

 manage unexpected shocks in their financial circumstances. 

9.3 The Code is made up of a number of underlying principles that inform the requirements of it.  The 
principles have been designed to focus on an approach that will assist in determining whether, in 
applying standards of financial management, a local authority is financially sustainable.

 Organisational leadership – demonstrating a clear strategic direction based on a vision in which 
financial management is embedded into organisational culture.

 Accountability – based on medium-term financial planning that drives the annual budget process 
supported by effective risk management, quality supporting data and whole life costs.

 Financial management is undertaken with transparency at its core using consistent,
meaningful and understandable data, reported frequently with evidence of periodic officer action 
and elected member decision making.

 Adherence to professional standards is promoted by the leadership team and is evidenced.

 Sources of assurance are recognised as an effective tool mainstreamed into financial
management, including political scrutiny and the results of external audit, internal audit
and inspection.

 The long-term sustainability of local services is at the heart of all financial management processes 
and is evidenced by prudent use of public resources.

9.4 Local authorities are required to apply the requirements of the FM Code with effect from 1 April 2020. 
Local authorities will need to ensure that their governance and financial management style are fit in 
advance for this purpose. CIPFA considers that the implementation date of April 2020 should 
indicate the commencement of a shadow year and that by 31 March 2021, local authorities should 
be able to demonstrate that they are working towards full implementation of the code. The first full 
year of compliance with the FM Code will therefore be 2021/22.  The Council already has in place a 
number of established financial arrangements and has polices and procedures that meet the Code 
requirements.  However in order to respond to the timescale a full review of the current financial 
management cycle will be reviewed alongside the Code principles in order to allow sufficient time 
for any modifications to be incorporated from April 2020.

Prudential Property Investment Guidance

58



9.5 Over the last five years there has been a growing trend for authorities to acquire land and buildings 
with the effect of supplementing their revenue budgets with rental income. Often these acquisitions 
have been supported by borrowing cheaply from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). 

9.6 Questions have been asked about how these transactions fit with the guidance that has traditionally 
been given that borrowing to make an investment return is not permissible. The Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government’s (MHCLG) Statutory Guidance on Local Government 
Investments and CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management codes have all been updated 
recently to address the implications of investment in property. 

9.7 The scope of the new guidance extends to all acquisitions of land and/or buildings where rental 
income and/or capital appreciation are a substantial consideration in the decision whether to enter 
into the transaction.  

9.8 A decision to acquire property intended to make an investment return will have three parts: 

 the identification of the legal powers that support the proposed transactions 
 demonstration that the exercise of these powers would be reasonable 
 confirmation that the authority wishes to take the proposed course of action. 

9.9 The guidance sets out the case that authorities should not enter borrowing to fund commercial 
investment property purchase; authorities need to be transparent about investment details and 
making a full analysis with attention paid to risk to future revenue budgets. 

9.10 CIPFA published this paper in response to the increase in commercial property investment across 
local government and concerns about risk to future revenue budgets alongside government 
concerns regarding cheap borrowing potentially causing market distortion.

9.11 The main point throughout is that authorities must not borrow more than or in advance of needs 
purely in the interest of profit.  Therefore, should the Council consider any future commercial 
investments then due consideration of the guidance should be included into the decision-making 
process which is in line with the Treasury Management Strategy.

10 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
10.1  The Budget Joint OSC is the opportunity for members to consider the budget proposals for 

2020/21 and to make any recommendations with respect to the information set out in the report. 

11 Available Options Considered
11.1 N/a

12 Preferred Option
12.1 The report presents a number of options for members to consider.

13 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
13.1 The Council is legally required to set a balanced budget each financial year.

14 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
14.1 The budget proposals will be considered by Cabinet at their next meeting.

15 Financial Implications 
15.1 These are considered throughout the report and supporting appendices.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

16 Legal and Governance Implications 

59



16.1 The recommendations relate to proposals for the budget which forms part of the budgetary
and policy framework in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules
set out at Part 4.21 of the Constitution of the Council. Members must consult with the
community on the proposals contained within this report as required in accordance with
statutory regulation and constitutional requirements.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Head of Legal Services

17 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
17.1 All equality and safeguarding implications will be considered as part of any of the proposals being 

approved.

18 Risk and Mitigation
18.1 A risk analysis has been undertaken and is provided at Appendix G.

19 Community Safety Implications 
19.1 None identified 

20 Other Implications (where significant) 
20.1 None identified 

21 Background Papers
21.1 N/a

22 Appendices
Appendix A - Revenue summary – GF and HRA

Appendix B - General Fund Revenue Budget Bids

Appendix C – Capital & Financing Statement – GF & HRA

Appendix D – Reserves Statement – GF & HRA

Appendix E - Fees and charges policy

Appendix F – Fees & Charges – GF and Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

Appendix G – Risk Analysis

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

9 January 2019

Previously Considered by: Budget - Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

14 January 2020

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  27 February 2020

60



Appendix A(i)

2020/21 - 2022/23 General Fund Summary

Description

2019/20 

Current 

Budget 

£'000

2020/21 

Indicative 

Budget 

£'000

2021/22 

Indicative 

Budget 

£'000

2022/23 

Indicative 

Budget 

£'000

1 Commercial & Operations 7,250 7,545 7,842 7,960

2 Finance, Legal & Democratic 4,770 4,159 4,355 4,584

3 Growth 6,595 5,223 5,257 5,247

4 Transformation & Change 3,701 3,871 3,671 3,717

5 HRA recharge (2,470) (2,558) (2,601) (2,678)

6 Net Cost of Services 19,846 18,240 18,524 18,830

7 Interest Payable & Investment Income 100 (236) (252) (236)

8 Minimum Revenue Provision 308 302 296 291

9 Revenue Contribution to Capital 0 72 189 231

10 Depreciation (3,619) (4,114) (4,586) (4,722)

11 Net Budget Requirement 16,635 14,264 14,171 14,394

Funding & Resources:

12 Council Tax (Excluding Parishes) (7,475) (7,840) (8,199) (8,569)

13 Government Grants (413) (295) (563) (204)

14 Retained Business Rates (5,154) (4,954) (3,757) (3,831)

15 New Homes Bonus (1,957) (1,814) (832) (524)

16 Collection Fund Deficit (1,390) 0 0 0

17 Total Funding (16,389) (14,903) (13,351) (13,128)

Transfer to/from reserves:

18 Building Control Reserve 31 0 0 0

19 Busines Rates Volatility Reserve 1,336 0 0 0

20 Community Fund (42) 0 0 0

21 Crowdfunding (100) 0 0 0

22 Events and Festivals (93) 0 0 0

24 Grants (1,087) 1 20 20

25 ICT Reserve (112) (137) (70) (212)

26 Individual Electoral Registration (26) 0 0 0

27 Invest to Save 109 (213) (150) 0

28 Local Priorities Reserve (456) 0 0 0

29 Member Training and Development (11) 0 0 0

30 NHB Transfer to Reserves 1,957 1,814 832 524

31 Pensions Reserve - Former Employees (56) (56) (56) (56)

32 Pensions Reserve - Current Employees (877) (58) 0 0

33 Property Maintenance Reserve 0 (125) (77) (77)

34 Regeneration Reserve (868) (580) (310) (160)

35 Special Expenses 49 17 29 29

36 Workshop reserve 0 (24) (29) (32)

37 Transfer to/from Reserves (246) 639 189 36

38 NET BUDGET DEFICIT 0 0 1,009 1,302

61

Appendix A



Appendix A(ii)

INCOME

1 Dwelling Rents (24,408) (24,557) (25,746) (26,795)

2 Non Dwelling Rents (319) (331) (331) (331)

3 Charges for Services and Facilities (662) (677) (684) (692)

4 Other Income (67) (72) (72) (72)

5 TOTAL INCOME (25,455) (25,637) (26,833) (27,890)

EXPENDITURE

6 Repairs and Maintenance 7,503 7,433 7,590 7,749

7 Supervision and Management - General 1,845 1,851 1,880 1,909

8 Supervision and Management - Special 1,241 1,177 1,167 1,100

9 Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed Assets 3,620 3,609 3,717 3,828

10 Debt Management Expenses 35 35 35 35

11 Provision for Bad Debts 245 384 406 424

12 Other Expenditure (Pension Deficit) 272 322 322 322

13 Housing Development 0 250 0 0

14 Support Recharge from GF 2,470 2,558 2,601 2,678

15 TOTAL EXPENDITURE 17,230 17,619 17,718 18,045

16 NET COST OF HRA SERVICES (8,225) (8,018) (9,115) (9,845)

17 Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,718 2,778 2,681 2,645

18 Interest and Investment Income (219) (253) (198) (129)

19 NET POSITION BEFORE RESERVE MOVEMENTS (5,726) (5,493) (6,632) (7,329)

MOVEMENT ON THE HRA BALANCE

20 Surplus for the Year 5,726 5,493 6,632 7,329

21 Reserve Funding 262 204 30 30

22 Repayment of Principal (3,222) (3,222) (3,222) (3,222)

23 Major Repairs Reserve Transfer (3,010) (3,194) (2,781) (2,631)

24 Housing Revenue Account Balance at start of Year 2,007 1,763 1,044 1,703

25 Housing Revenue Account Balance at end of Year 1,763 1,044 1,703 3,209

26 Major Repairs Reserve Balance at Start of Year 12,659 13,235 11,477 8,962

27 Depreciation & MRR Transfer 6,630 6,802 6,498 6,459

28 Capital Financing & Loan Repayment (6,054) (8,560) (9,013) (10,034)

29 Major Repairs Reserve Balance at End of Year 13,235 11,477 8,962 5,387

HRA REVENUE SUMMARY 2020/21

2019/20 

Current 

Budget 

£'000

2020/21 

Indicative 

Budget 

£000

2021/22 

Indicative 

Budget 

£000

2022/23 

Indicative 

Budget 

£000

Description

62



Appendix B

2020/21  - 2022/23 Capacity Bids

Recurring

IT equipment hardware allocation to new staff and refresh of agile 45 48 212 ICT Reserve

Play Area safer surfacing 40 77 77 Property Maintenance Reserve

Workshop parts 24 29 32 Street Scene Reserve

Climate Change Action 50 50 50 Deletion of vacant post

Standardise Street Scene overtime rates 11 11 11 Savings

Green Waste Loader 22 22 22 Deletion of vacant post

Street Scene -Wash down facilities 15 15 15 Built into Base Budget

Paygrade amendment 6 6 7 Savings

Document Management System 15 2 2 Built into Base Budget

Open Spaces - tree replacement 8 8 9 Grounds Maintenance Saving

Workshop Mechanic 33 34 35 Deletion of vacant post

Employee Reward 5 5 5 Built into Base Budget

Toilets - Changing Places 25 25 25 Built into Base Budget

Local Plan Review 80 100 100 Reserve/Base Budget

Defibrilators 12 12 0 Built into Base Budget

One-off

O365 and Sharepoint configuration and deployment 65 0 0 ICT Reserve

SQL Server Environment Security 5 0 0 ICT Reserve

Leisure Centres - Filter Bed replacement 65 0 0 Property Maintenance Reserve

Leisure Centre - Fire Damper replacement 8 0 0 Property Maintenance Reserve

Foodbank donation 15 0 0 Built into Base Budget

Grantham Museum - window renovation 12 0 0 Property Maintenance Reserve

TOTAL 561 444 602

Description

2020/21 

Impact      

£000

2021/22 

Impact      

£000

2022/23 

Impact      

£000

Funding Source

63

A
ppendix B



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C(i)2020/21 - 2022/23 General Fund Capital Programme

Commercial & Operations

1 CCTV S106 12 12 12

2 Disabled Facilities Grant Grant 860 0 0

3 Pool Car Local Priorities 26 0 0

4 Street Scene Vehicle Procurement Local Priorities 81 137 484
5 Trade Waste Bins Local Priorities 24 24 24
6 Uffington Rd Washdown Facilities Local Priorities 12 0 0

7 Vehicle Replacement Programme Capital Reserve 655 660 825

8 Wheelie Bin Replacements Capital Reserve 100 100 100

1,770 933 1,445

Finance, Legal & Democratic

9  Financial System Upgrade -eFin & CP Local Priorities 50 0 0

50 0 0

Growth  

10 Bourne Corn Exchange - Renovation Capital Receipts 238 0 0

11 Car Park Barriers Capital Receipts 50 0 0

12 Car Park - Welham St Resurfacing Capital Receipts 340 0 0

13 Car Park - Welham St Security Capital Receipts 24 0 0

14 Car Park - Welham St Lift Capital Receipts 50 0 0

15 Deepings All Weather Pitch Local Priorities 200 0 0

16
Grantham Heritage Action Zone

 Local Priorities & 

Grant 120 260 220

17 Guildhall Arts Centre - Air Con and Toilets Capital Receipts 175 0 0

18 Guildhall Arts Centre - Digital Boards Capital Receipts 15 0 0

19 Meres - Live Events - Lighting Capital Receipts 10 0 0

20 SKDC Stadium - Hammer Throwing Cage Capital Receipts 12 0 0

21 Stamford Arts Centre Roof Capital Receipts 125 0 0

22
Shop Front Scheme

 Grant & General 

Fund 181 0 0

23 Tourism Signage Capital Receipts 50 0 0

1,590 260 220

24 TOTAL GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 3,410 1,193 1,665

GENERAL FUND FINANCED BY:

25 Capital Grants and Contributions:

     - Disabled Facility Grant 860 0 0

     - Historic England 162 189 231

26 Capital Reserves 755 168 0

27 Revenue Reserves:

     - S106 Monies 0 12 12

     - Shop Front Scheme 90 0 0

     - Local Priorities Reserve 453 95 897

28 Useable Capital Receipts 1,090 729 525

29 TOTAL - GF CAPITAL PROGRAMME 3,410 1,193 1,665

2021/22 

Indicative 

Budget 

£000

2022/23 

Indicative 

Budget 

£000

Description  Funding Source 

2020/21 

Indicative 

Budget* 

£000

65

Appendix C



Appendix C(ii)2020/21 - 2022/23 HRA Capital Programme

Energy Efficiency Initiatives

1 Central Heating, Ventilation and boiler replacements Major Repairs Reserve 2,300 2,885 2,853

2,300 2,885 2,853

ICT

2 CCTV S106 30 0 0

3 Upgrade of Housing Management System HRA Improvement Reserve 400 0 0

430 0 0

Purchase of Vehicles

4 Repairs Vehicles Major Repairs Reserve 140 133 186

140 133 186

Refurbishment and Improvement

5 Alarms Major Repairs Reserve 125 125 125

6 Communal Rooms Major Repairs Reserve 70 70 70

7 Doors & Windows Major Repairs Reserve 100 100 100

8 Housing Growth Reserves/Borrowing/S106 21,500 17,135 14,000

9 Kitchen & Bathroom Refurbishments Major Repairs Reserve 1,200 1,200 1,200

10 Re-roofing Major Repairs Reserve 1,200 1,200 1,200

11 Re-wiring Major Repairs Reserve 300 300 300

12 Septic Tank Refurbishment Major Repairs Reserve 125 0 0

24,620 20,130 16,995

13 TOTAL - HOUSING INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 27,490 23,148 20,034  

HRA FINANCED BY:

14 Borrowing 0 2,000 7,000

15 Homes England Grant 5,650 1,650 0

16 HRA Capital Receipts Reserve 4,000 4,532 3,000

17 HRA Improvement Reserve 400 0 0

18 Loan Repayment Reserve 1,350 0 0

19 Major Repairs Reserve 8,560 9,013 10,034

20 Property Development Reserve 7,500 4,953 0

21 S106 30 1,000 0

22 TOTAL - HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 27,490 23,148 20,034

2020/21 

Indicative 

Budget 

£000

2021/22 

Indicative 

Budget 

£000

2022/23 

Indicative 

Budget 

£000DescriptionRef  Funding Source 

66



                                                                                                                                          Appendix D(i)

2020/21 - 2022/23 GENERAL FUND RESERVES STATEMENT

Name

Balance as 

at 31/3/19

Forecast 

change  in 

Year

Forecast 

Balance as 

at 31/3/20

Forecast 

change in 

Year

Forecast 

Balance as 

at 31/3/21

Forecast 

change in 

Year

Forecast 

Balance as 

at 31/3/22

Forecast 

change in 

Year

Forecast 

Balance as 

at 31/3/23

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Discretionary Reserves

1 Climate Change 0 0 0 20 20 0 20 0 20

2 Commercial 0 0 0 500 500 0 500 0 500

3 Community Fund 78 (78) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

4 Economic Development & Growth 128 (79) 49 (49) 0 0 0 0 0

5 Events and Festivals 117 (117) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6 Food Waste 45 (45) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7 ICT investment 320 (227) 93 194 287 (70) 217 (212) 5

8 Invest to Save 1,000 139 1,139 (213) 926 (150) 776 776

9 Local Priorities Reserve 9,680 (3,751) 5,929 710 6,639 737 7,376 (373) 7,003

10 Property Maintenance 110 390 500 (125) 375 (77) 298 (77) 221

11 Regeneration 1,213 522 1,735 (580) 1,155 (310) 845 (160) 685

12 Street Scene 76 124 200 (24) 176 (29) 147 (32) 115

13 Training and Development 15 (15) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

12,782 (3,137) 9,645 433 10,078 101 10,179 (854) 9,325

Governance Reserves

14 Budget Stabilisation 1,507 1,336 2,843 0 2,843 0 2,843 0 2,843

15 Building Control 30 8 38 0 38 0 38 0 38

16 Football 3G Pitch 50 25 75 0 75 0 75 0 75

17 Housing Delivery 912 0 912 0 912 0 912 0 912

18 Insurance Reserve 308 0 308 0 308 0 308 0 308

19 Pensions Reserve - Former Employees 421 (48) 373 (56) 317 (56) 261 (56) 205

20 Pensions Reserve - Current Employees 1,011 (953) 58 (58) 0 0 0 0 0

21 SEA Reserve 214 (56) 158 17 175 29 204 29 233

4,453 312 4,765 (97) 4,668 (27) 4,641 (27) 4,614

22 Total General Revenue Reserves 17,235 (2,825) 14,410 336 14,746 74 14,820 (881) 13,939

23 Government Grants Received 1,667 (731) 936 50 986 (12) 974 (12) 962

24 TOTAL Earmarked Revenue Reserves 18,902 (3,556) 15,346 386 15,732 62 15,794 (893) 14,901

25 Working Balance 2,835 (783) 2,052 (290) 1,762 0 1,762 0 1,762

26 Total Revenue Reserves 21,737 (4,339) 17,398 96 17,494 62 17,556 (893) 16,663

Capital Reserve

27 General Fund Capital Reserve 1,775 (852) 923 (755) 168 (200) (32) 0 (32)

28 LAMS Reserve 18 0 18 0 18 0 18 0 18

29 St Peters Hill Development 1,959 (1,959) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

30 Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 2,587 (562) 2,025 (839) 1,186 (597) 589 (525) 64

31 Total Capital Reserves 6,339 (3,373) 2,966 (1,594) 1,372 (797) 575 (525) 50

32 Total General Fund Reserves 28,076 (7,712) 20,364 (1,498) 18,866 (735) 18,131 (1,418) 16,713

67

A
ppendix D



Appendix D(ii)

2020/21 - 2022/23 HRA RESERVES STATEMENT

 Balance 

as at 

31/3/2019 

Forecast 

change  in 

Year

Forecast 

Balance as 

at 

31/3/2020

Forecast 

change  in 

Year

Forecast 

Balance 

as at 

31/3/2021

Forecast 

change  in 

Year

Forecast 

Balance 

as at 

31/3/2022

Forecast 

change  in 

Year

Forecast 

Balance as 

at 

31/3/2023

 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000  £'000 

1 Revenue Reserves

2 HRA Improvement Reserve 656 (100) 556 (400) 156 0 156 0 156

3 Insurance Reserve 200 0 200 0 200 0 200 0 200

4 Loan Repayment Reserve 1,350 0 1,350 (1,350) 0 0 0 0 0

5 Property Development Reserve 14,723 (2,270) 12,453 (7,500) 4,953 (4,953) 0 0 0

6 Residents Involvement 30 0 30 0 30 0 30 0 30

7 Service Specific Funds (Pension) 436 (262) 174 (174) 0 0 0 0 0

8 Working Balance 2,007 (245) 1,762 (718) 1,044 659 1,703 1,506 3,209

9 Total HRA Revenue Reserves 19,402 (2,877) 16,525 (10,142) 6,383 (4,294) 2,089 1,506 3,595

HRA Capital Reserve

10 HRA Capital Receipts Reserve 6,660 (632) 6,028 (2,450) 3,578 (2,804) 774 (223) 551

11 Major Repairs Reserve 12,659 576 13,235 (1,758) 11,477 (2,515) 8,962 (3,575) 5,387

12 Total HRA Capital Reserves 19,319 (56) 19,263 (4,208) 15,055 (5,319) 9,736 (3,798) 5,938

13 Total HRA Reserves 38,721 (2,933) 35,788 (14,350) 21,438 (9,613) 11,825 (2,292) 9,533

NameRef

68



Charging Policy

Purpose
To ensure that fees and charges are set in a considered and consistent manner for South 
Kesteven District Council.

Disclaimer
By the nature of the document, this Policy seeks to set out general principles.  As each service is 
specific, there may be reasons why a specific service does not align directly with this Policy.  The 
key focus is to ensure that fees and charges have been set in a reasoned manner; sometimes 
other Council priorities may mean a specific service deviates from these principles.

Principles
The following are the key principles of charging within SKDC:

 Full cost recovery as a minimum is the default – the rationale for any subsidised services 
should be understood and these should be regularly reviewed

 There should be no presumption towards uniformity in charges.  Where appropriate 
charging different prices at different times/different locations should be considered

 Opportunities for premium levels of service should be identified and attract increased 
charges

 Fees & charges should be taken in advance of service delivery 
 For recurring charges, Direct Debit should be the preferred solution
 There should be clear reasons for discounts and these should be regularly reviewed
 Full cost recovery should include an overhead rate of 30% for central costs where a 

different rate has not otherwise been agreed
 The level of fees & charges should be reviewed annually, with the normal default being that 

inflation is added

Setting fees & charges
Different services are provided within a Council for different reasons.  Some may be focussed 
upon a financial return (rent for commercial property); whereas others provide wider health or 
society benefits which would otherwise be under-provided or under-purchased (social housing).

A good starting point is therefore to consider all services against two factors – degree of 
competition and amount of legislation about a service.  This can result plotting services on the 
matrix overleaf. 

Those services in the top-right quadrant – the low regulation, high competition section should seek 
to fully recover costs and aim to make a return to the Council where possible.

Those in the bottom-left quadrant – high regulation, low / no competition should consider any 
regulatory requirements.  If there is no restriction on charging, then full cost recovery as a 
minimum should be the default.

69

Appendix E



Services in either of the other two segments will need to consider the wider costs and benefits of 
the service when arriving at a charge.

Benchmarking can be a good indicator of the potential impact of changing price and give an 
indication of the efficiency of the service (whether it can meet its costs charging at a level similar to 
other organisations).  Benchmarking should only inform rather than be the main determination of 
price – if we cannot cost recover in a competitive environment then we should consider 
withdrawing from the market in that area.

In addition, there are some other factors where price can be used to influence behaviour:
 A higher price can dissuade people from using a service (fines for littering or parking 

violations, less healthy options in a vending machine)
 A lower price for a service can seeks to attract people from alternative perhaps more costly 

public services (pre-planning advice may ease the requirements when a full planning 
application is submitted)

 Testing the market for a new service may require a time of ‘loss-leading’ while demand is 
established, and costs spread more widely

 Charging can increase the perception of value of the service to the user

As a minimum, services should seek to cost recover from fees & charges.  Where this is not the 
case, the level of subsidy should be known and the reasons understood and documented.

There may be reasons why supply and demand change; whether this is based upon the time of 
the day, the geographical area the service is provided, wider market conditions or factors affecting 
costs (such as distance from base).  These should be considered and the impact of differential 

70



charging be considered alongside complexity for customers, cost of collection and non-cashable 
costs and benefits of a decision.

There should be no presumption towards uniformity in charges.  Where appropriate charging 
different prices at different times and/or at different locations should be considered.

Premium Services
It may be possible to provide a differential service for some customers, who may wish to receive a 
faster service, more support or a different output from the service compared to others.  In these 
circumstances it may be possible to provide different service levels and charge more for the 
premium level of service.  There are a series of things that should be considered:

 Legislation - is it possible to offer different tiers of service / does statute set prices or quality 
to prevent such charging?

 If the service is statutory, are all current elements of the service statutory?  Are any 
elements of the overall offer divisible (e.g. such as when pre-planning advice was split from 
post-submission planning determination)?

 Are there other value added or additional services that could be provided alongside the 
main offer?

 Has there been any customer feedback about the service that would suggest demand for 
additional or differential services?

 Compare potential tiers of service to current levels of performance and any statutory 
requirements in terms of speed / quality

 Determine if there are cost / resource implications of providing a higher level of service
 Determine if there are cost / resource savings of reducing the standard level of service to 

statutory minimums
 Determine any impact on current quality of provision if a premium alternative was offered
 Define minimum quality standards for both the standard and premium offering
 Map expected take-up, carry out sensitivity for both changes to costs and income
 Consider need for consultation or a pilot

Where a service is provided at different service levels then a higher price should be associated 
with the higher service level.  Where it is possible to differentiate service, but it is decided not to, 
the reasons for this decision should be clearly documented.

Collection methods
Chasing debt takes time, costs money and some debts get written off – this can be a particularly 
large cost for small value fees & charges.  It is therefore preferable to take payments before a 
service is provided.

There are reasons why this might not be possible:
 Legislation may require us to act (especially in an emergency) then seek to recover costs 

back (for example repairs to homes falling into dangerous disrepair)
 If competitors charge via invoice, then only offering payment in advance may lead to people 

choosing them
 Larger companies may prefer or require paying via invoice, so that they can process via 

their standard payment processes (and for recovery of VAT)

Payments should be taken in advance of service provision.  Where this is not the case, the 
reasons for this should be clearly documented.

71



For periodic payments (where the customer will have a regular service from us, such as trade 
waste collection or leisure subscription fees) the default should be by direct debit.  This is the 
easiest and cheapest way for collection over a series of payments, whilst also giving protections to 
the consumer (via the direct debit guarantee scheme).  This may involve making sure Direct Debit 
is offered as the first method of payment; opt-in campaigns and/or considering a one-off discount 
for charging (see section below). 

Direct Debit should be the preferred solution for reoccurring payments

Discounts / Exemptions
There may be several reasons why discounts are given; ranging from incentivising a method of 
payment, through to encouraging use of a service from a disadvantaged group.  Some questions 
to consider when setting a discount:

 What is the purpose of any discounts given (e.g. encourage uptake from disadvantaged 
groups, to encourage certain payment methods)?

 Is there evidence to support that the discounts support the purpose given?
 When was the last time the discounts / exemptions were reviewed?
 Do the discounts lead to an overall subsidy for the service or is the discount recovered from 

other users?
 If a service is means tested, what test is used?  Could (with appropriate permissions 

granted by the customer), the Council’s own systems be used as evidence (for example 
using Council Tax benefit as the main means test)?

 If payments are settled by invoice, what is the payment profile, are elements written off?  
Would an early payment settlement or discount for in advance / via direct debit be cost 
effective for the service / the Council as a whole?

 Does demand change through the day/week/season/year?  Have discounts been 
considered for times of lower demand?

 Is there a different market for individuals and businesses?  Could a bulk discount offered to a 
company lead to multiple sales justifying a larger discount?

Discounts should be linked to specific objectives and the measurement of those objectives 
periodically reviewed.

Cost Recovery – including central costs
Recent charges to local government finance rules resulted in central support costs (finance, legal, 
ICT) no longer being recharged to service department budgets (with some ring-fenced exceptions 
such as the Housing Revenue Account).  This makes it harder to determine the full cost of a 
service; which in turn makes it harder to determine the price of full cost recovery.

Where full cost recovery is the aim, the direct (gross) service cost should be increased by 30% to 
cover central costs, unless a different charge has been specific to a service area.

Considering impact of change
As with any change to services, Equality analysis should be undertaken if there is likely to be a 
change to potentially disadvantaged groups.  The results of this should be given full consideration 
alongside all other costs and benefits from making a change.

72



FEES & CHARGES 2020/21

73

Appendix F



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

CAR PARKS - GRANTHAM 

1 SHORT STAY (EXCEPT WHARF ROAD)

Up to 30 mins 01/04/20 0.50 0.70 Included

Up to 1 hour 01/04/20 0.80 1.00 Included

Up to 2 hours 01/04/20 1.30 1.70 Included

Up to 3 hours 01/04/20 1.80 2.30 Included

Up to 4 hours 01/04/20 3.00 3.80 Included

Over 4 hours 01/04/20 4.00 5.00 Included

SHORT STAY Wharf Road Grantham

Up to 30 mins 01/04/20 0.50 0.70 Included

Up to 1 hour 01/04/20 0.80 1.00 Included

Up to 2 hours 01/04/20 1.30 1.70 Included

Up to 3 hours 01/04/20 1.80 2.30 Included

Up to 4 hours 01/04/20 6.00 7.60 Included

Over 4 hours 01/04/20 8.00 10.00 Included

2 LONG STAY 

Up to 3 hours 01/04/20 1.80 2.30 Included

Up to 4 hours 01/04/20 2.50 3.20 Included

All day 01/04/20 3.00 3.80 Included

3 LEISURE TARIFF - Welham Street

Up to 3 hours 01/04/20 N/A 1.00 Included

Up to 4 hours 01/04/20 N/A 1.50 Included

Up to 6 hours 01/04/20 N/A 3.00 Included

Over 6 hours 01/04/20 N/A 10.00 Included

4 LONG STAY SEASON TICKETS

 (Monday to Friday)

Per quarter 01/04/20 99.00 126.00 Included

Per 6 months 01/04/20 190.00 240.00 Included

5 LONG STAY SEASON TICKETS

 (Monday to Saturday)

Per quarter 01/04/20 120.00 150.00 Included

Per 6 months 01/04/20 230.00 290.00 Included

Season Ticket Discount Offer Purchase

Additional 

Tickets Free

4 1

6 PENALTY CHARGE NOTICES

Failure to display 01/04/13 70.00 70.00 O/Scope

Fine after discount for Payment in 14 days 01/04/13 35.00 35.00 O/Scope

Parking for longer etc 01/04/13 50.00 50.00 O/Scope

Fine after discount for Payment in 14 days 01/04/13 25.00 25.00 O/Scope

Detail VAT

74



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

CAR PARKS - STAMFORD

1 SHORT STAY

Up to 30 mins 01/04/20 0.50 0.70 Included

Up to 1 hour 01/04/20 0.80 1.00 Included

Up to 2 hours 01/04/20 1.30 1.70 Included

Up to 3 hours 01/04/20 1.80 2.30 Included

Up to 4 hours 01/04/20 3.00 3.80 Included

Over 4 hours 01/04/20 4.00 5.00 Included

2 LONG STAY

Up to 3 hours 01/04/20 1.80 2.30 Included

Up to 4 hours 01/04/20 2.50 3.20 Included

All day 01/04/20 3.00 3.80 Included

4 LONG STAY SEASON TICKETS

 (Monday to Friday)

Per quarter 01/04/20 99.00 126.00 Included

Per 6 months 01/04/20 190.00 240.00 Included

5 LONG STAY SEASON TICKETS

 (Monday to Saturday)

Per quarter 01/04/20 120.00 150.00 Included

Per 6 months 01/04/20 230.00 290.00 Included

Season Ticket Discount Offer Purchase

Additional 

Tickets Free

4 1

6 PENALTY CHARGE NOTICES

Failure to display 01/04/13 70.00 70.00 O/Scope

Fine after discount for Payment in 14 days 01/04/13 35.00 35.00 O/Scope

Parking for longer etc 01/04/13 50.00 50.00 O/Scope

Fine after discount for Payment in 14 days 01/04/13 25.00 25.00 O/Scope

Detail VAT

75



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

BUS STATION - GRANTHAM

1 Per Departure 01/04/20 0.77 0.79 Included

2 Minimum Charge

1-75 departures per annum 01/04/20 51.00 52.50 Included

BUS STATION - STAMFORD

3 Per Departure 01/04/20 0.77 0.79 Included

4 Minimum Charge

1-75 departures per annum 01/04/20 51.00 52.50 Included

BUS STATION - BOURNE

5 Per Departure 01/04/20 0.77 0.79 Included

6 Minimum Charge

1-75 departures per annum 01/04/20 51.00 52.50 Included

Detail VAT

76



415.00 83.00 498.00 415.00 83.00 498.00

200.00 40.00 240.00 200.00 40.00 240.00

200.00 40.00 240.00 200.00 40.00 240.00

260.00 52.00 312.00 260.00 52.00 312.00

Building Control - Detail

Category of work

Full Plans Application Building Notice Applications

Plan Charge Building Notice Charge

Net Charge 

£

VAT

£

Gross 

Charge £

Net Charge 

£

VAT

£

Gross 

Charge £

348.00

Extension or loft conversion where floor area 

exceeds 10m2 but does not exceed 30m2 380.00 76.00 456.00 380.00 76.00 456.00

Extension or loft conversion where the floor area 

does not exceed 10m2 290.00 58.00 348.00 290.00 58.00

588.00

Erection or extension of a domestic garage or carport 

up to 60m2 290.00 58.00 348.00 290.00 58.00 348.00

Extension or loft conversion where the floor area 

exceeds 30m2 but does not exceed 80m2 490.00 98.00 588.00 490.00 98.00

294.00

Renovation of a thermal element to a single existing 

dwelling (eg Re-roofing, Re-plastering, Floor/Wall 

Insulation)
200.00 40.00 240.00 200.00 40.00 240.00

Conversion of a domestic garage into a habitable 

room(s) 245.00 49.00 294.00 245.00 49.00

Work for which the estimated cost is over £2,000 

and up to £5,000

Replacement of windows in domestic dwelling 

(individual quote for commercial) 165.00 33.00 198.00 198.00

Electrical work involving the complete re-wiring of an 

exisiting dwelling

Installation of Controlled Fittings such as heating 

system, PV panels, solar heating systems and other 

such alternative systems

Work for which the estimated cost is up to £2,000

165.00 33.00

150.00

For any work not covered in the above table, please contact us on 01476 406187 or e-mail 

bcontrol@southkesteven.gov.uk for a quotation.

Forming a single structural opening
125.00 25.00 150.00 125.00 25.00

77



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

BUILDING CONTROL CHARGES

1 Administration Charges

Enquiries & searching of historic records  within 20 

working days 01/02/17 60.00 60.00 O/Scope

Enquiries & searching of historic records within 48 hours 01/02/17 90.00 90.00 O/Scope

Copy of completion certificate - within 20 working days 01/02/17 30.00 30.00 O/Scope

Copy of completion certificate - within 1 working day 01/02/17 60.00 60.00 O/Scope

Copy of notice of decision - within 20 working days 01/02/17 30.00 30.00 O/Scope

Copy of notice of decision - within 1 working day 01/02/17 60.00 60.00 O/Scope

First issue of Completion Certificates 01/02/17 75.00 75.00 O/Scope

Exemption Confirmation Letter 01/02/17 45.00 45.00 O/Scope

Responses to Professional Letters for Commercial 

Purposes 01/02/17 75.00 75.00 O/Scope

2 Additional Inspection Charges

Additional inspections for quality of building works 

including help with snagging list

01/04/15

20% of 

original 

charge

20% of 

original 

charge

Included

3 Other Charges

Pre-application advice - 1st hour free, thereafter, hourly 

rate applies 01/02/17 45.00 45.00 Included

SAP and EPC Charges 01/02/17 180.00 180.00 Included

Domestic structural design 01/02/17 156.00 156.00 Included

Administration charge for dangerous structures, 

withdrawn applications, historic buildings etc. (per hour) 01/02/17 60.00 60.00 Included

Fire Risk Assessments 01/02/17 POA POA Included

Demolition Notice 01/04/19 120.00 120.00 O/Scope

Detail VAT

78



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

MARKETS - GRANTHAM & MARKET DEEPING

1 Standard Stall (3.05m x 1.22m) 01/04/12 21.50 21.50 Exempt

Standard Casual Stall (3.05m x 1.22m) 01/04/15 24.30 24.30 Exempt

2 Pitch (3.05m x 3.05m) 01/04/12 20.00 20.00 Exempt

Casual Pitch (3.05m x 3.05m) 01/04/15 21.20 21.20 Exempt

Hot food & drinks units 01/04/15 24.30 24.30 Exempt

3 Vehicles parked for storage

Cars and light vans 01/04/15 6.60 6.60 Included

Large vehicles 01/04/15 10.10 10.10 Included

MARKETS - STAMFORD

4 Standard Stall (3.05m x 1.22m) 01/04/20 23.85 24.85 Exempt

Standard Casual Stall (3.05m x 1.22m) 01/04/20 27.30 28.30 Exempt

5 Pitch (3.05m x 1.22m) 01/04/20 21.30 22.30 Exempt

Casual Pitch (3.05m x 3.05m) 01/04/20 24.15 25.15 Exempt

Hot food & drinks units 01/04/20 27.30 28.30 Exempt

6 Craft fair - Table 01/04/20 25.15 26.15 Exempt

7 Craft fair - Stall 01/04/20 30.45 31.45 Exempt

8 Vehicles parked for storage

Cars and light vans 01/04/16 6.80 6.80 Included

Large vehicles 01/04/16 10.45 10.45 Included

MARKETS - BOURNE

9 Standard Stall (3.05m x 1.22m) 01/04/16 19.30 19.30 Exempt

Standard Casual Stall (3.05m x 1.22m) 01/04/16 21.00 21.00 Exempt

10 Pitch (3.05m x 3.05m) 01/04/16 16.25 16.25 Exempt

Casual Pitch (3.05m x 3.05m) 01/04/16 16.75 16.75 Exempt

Hot food & drinks units 01/04/16 21.00 21.00 Exempt

11 Vehicles parked for storage

Cars and light vans 01/04/16 6.90 6.90 Included

Large vehicles 01/04/16 10.45 10.45 Included

12 Hire of stall for private function (collection only)* 01/04/16 11.05 11.05 Exempt

13 FOR ALL MARKETS

Farmers market - supply of stall cover 01/04/07 1.00 1.00 Exempt

in addition to standard stall charge

Fruit and Veg Excessive Waste Surcharge (per stall) 01/04/16 5.30 5.30 Included

* any associated costs with delivery and set up will be charged accordingly

Detail VAT

79



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

STAGED PERFORMANCES

1 Guildhall Arts Centre, Grantham

Theatre Hire

Performances - Commercial 01/04/20 324.00 334.00 Exempt

Performances - Non Profit making 01/04/20 259.00 267.00 Exempt

Dress rehearsals 01/04/20 204.00 210.00 Exempt

Rehearsals (incl tech) 01/04/20 130.00 134.00 Exempt

Lecture/demonstrations (Daytime) 01/04/20 95.00 98.00 Exempt

Lecture/demonstrations (Evening) 01/04/20 210.00 216.00 Exempt

Set up charge/technical support (max. 8 hours) 01/04/20 130.00 134.00 Exempt

2 Stamford Arts Centre

Theatre Hire

Performances - Commercial 01/04/20 343.00 354.00 Exempt

Performances - Non Profit making 01/04/20 287.00 295.00 Exempt

Dress rehearsals 01/04/20 204.00 210.00 Exempt

Rehearsals (incl tech) 01/04/20 130.00 134.00 Exempt

Lecture/demonstrations (Daytime) 01/04/20 95.00 98.00 Exempt

Lecture/demonstrations (Evening) 01/04/20 210.00 216.00 Exempt

Set up charge/technical support (max. 8 hours) 01/04/20 130.00 134.00 Exempt

Technical surcharge per hire 01/04/20 56.50 58.00 Exempt

3 Bourne Corn Exchange

Theatre Hire - Main Hall

Performances 01/04/20 123.50 128.00 Exempt

Dress Rehearsals 01/04/20 96.50 100.00 Exempt

Rehearsals 01/04/20 80.00 83.00 Exempt

Set up charge/technical support (max. 8 hours) 01/04/20 123.00 127.00 Exempt

Hire conditions are available giving details of equipment and support offered; quotations provided on request.

Detail VAT

The theatres and ballrooms are available for hire for theatrical productions, concerts,

lectures, demonstrations, films and other performing arts events. Prices are below:

Performers Rights Society charges may be applicable in addition to the above rates

80



Effective 2019/20 2020/21
Date £ £

4 Guildhall Arts Centre, Grantham

Casually let rooms (per hour)

Ballroom - hourly day rate up to 6pm 01/04/16 33.50 33.50 Exempt

Ballroom - hourly evening rate 6 to 11pm - meetings & workshops 01/04/19 33.50 33.50 Exempt

Ballroom - whole evening 6 to 11pm parties 01/04/20 307.00 317.00 Exempt

Ballroom - whole evening 6 to 11pm concerts 01/04/20 245.00 252.00 Exempt

Ballroom - (all day) Wedding rate 01/04/20 477.50 495.00 Exempt

Ballroom - (all day) Wedding rate including setting

up charge previous evening 01/04/20 790.00 818.00 Exempt

Use of ballroom kitchen per day 01/04/16 55.00 55.00 Exempt

Meeting rooms (per hour)

Newton room 01/04/16 27.50 27.50 Exempt

Studio 4* 01/04/18 15.00 15.00 Exempt

5 Bourne Corn Exchange

Casually let rooms

Main hall - hourly rate 01/04/20 37.60 39.00 Exempt

Main hall - Friday or Saturday whole evening 01/04/20 279.00 288.00 Exempt

6pm-12pm incl prem rate

Main hall - (all day) 9am to 12pm excluding kitchen 01/04/20 439.00 452.00 Exempt

Kitchen hire (use of kitchen area excluding equip)* 01/04/20 67.00 69.00 Exempt

Kitchen hire (full use of kitchen and equipment

including crockery and cutlery etc)* 01/04/20 125.50 130.00 Exempt

Room set up or clear down (as per hourly rate or

part thereof) 01/04/20 37.50 39.00 Exempt

Room set up or clear down after midnght (as per

hourly rate or part thereof) 01/04/20 53.00 55.00 Exempt

6 Stamford Arts Centre

Casually let rooms (per hour)

Ballroom - hourly day rate up to 6pm 01/04/16 33.50 33.50 Exempt

Ballroom - hourly evening rate 6 to 11pm - meetings & workshops 01/04/19 33.50 33.50 Exempt

Ballroom - whole evening 6 to 11pm - parties 01/04/20 467.50 482.00 Exempt

Ballroom - whole evening 6 to 11pm - concerts 01/04/20 352.50 364.00 Exempt

Function ballroom/Blue room - all day wedding rate 01/04/20 862.00 888.00 Exempt

Function ballroom/Blue room - wedding rate

including setting up charge previous evening 01/04/20 1,280.00 1,320.00 Exempt

Meeting rooms - per hour

Blue Room* 01/04/18 17.50 17.50 Exempt

Rehearsal* 01/04/18 15.00 15.00 Exempt

Ireson/Burghley/Exeter Room 01/04/18 12.00 12.00 Exempt

Additional cleaning for social functions 01/04/20 61.80 64.00 Included

*access to kitchen up to 4 hours prior to event start time, additional earlier access will

incur additional hourly rate of £10

Room Hire

The Fees & charges above are listed as guide prices- Please call your respective arts centre for a specific hire quotation

Detail VAT

WEDDING RECEPTIONS, PARTIES AND OTHER ROOM HIRE

All three venues are available for wedding parties and similar functions. Packages are

available to include provision of bars and catering. Prices are below.

Performers Right Society charges may be applicable in addition to the above rates

81



Effective 2019/20 2020/21
Date £ £

1 Green Waste

Delivery of Green bin (or bins to same address) 01/04/12 10.00 10.00 O/Scope

Provision of green bin (all new or additional bins) 01/04/10 26.00 26.00 O/Scope

Annual collection charge (first bin) - Paid by telephone or face to 

face (not direct debit) 01/04/20 35.00 41.00 O/Scope

Annual collection charge (first bin) - Paid online or by direct debit 01/04/20 32.00 36.00 O/Scope

Annual collection charge (each subsequent bin) - Paid by telephone 

or face to face (not direct debit) 01/04/20 16.50 20.50 O/Scope

Annual collection charge (each subsequent bin) - Paid online or by 

direct debit 01/04/20 15.00 18.00 O/Scope

2 Other street care charges

Delivery of bin (or bins to the same address) 01/04/16 10.00 10.00 O/Scope

Additional Silver recycling bin 01/04/10 26.00 26.00 O/Scope

Additional clear recycling sacks (pack of 15) 01/04/10 1.25 1.25 O/Scope

Replacement of damaged 240 ltr wheelie bins* 01/04/10 26.00 26.00 O/Scope

Replacement of damaged 140 ltr wheelie bins* 01/04/16 15.00 15.00 O/Scope

Replacement of damaged 180 ltr wheelie bins* 01/04/16 17.00 17.00 O/Scope

Replacement of damaged wheels and axles* 01/04/10 20.00 20.00 O/Scope

Replacement of bin lid pegs* 01/04/10 5.00 5.00 O/Scope

3 Additional bins for Landlords ( subject to qualifying criteria)

Delivery of bin (or bins to the same address) 01/04/16 10.00 10.00 O/Scope

240 ltr bin 01/04/16 26.00 26.00 O/Scope

360 ltr bin 01/04/16 49.00 49.00 O/Scope

660 ltr bin 01/04/16 116.00 116.00 O/Scope

1100 ltr bin 01/04/16 149.00 149.00 O/Scope

4 Replacement (additional capacity) bins for Families (subject to qualifying criteria)

Delivery of bin (or bins to the same address) 01/04/16 10.00 10.00 O/Scope

360 ltr bin 01/04/16 49.00 49.00 O/Scope

660 ltr bin 01/04/16 116.00 116.00 O/Scope

1100 ltr bin 01/04/16 149.00 149.00 O/Scope

5 Developers charge for new developments

Delivery of bin (or bins to the same address) 01/04/16 10.00 10.00 O/Scope

Set of bins (1 black 240 ltr & 1 silver 240 ltr) 01/04/16 52.00 52.00 O/Scope

6 Domestic refuse collection

Bulk household items - first item 01/04/15 12.00 15.00 O/Scope

 - each additional item 01/04/15 6.00 7.50 O/Scope

White Goods collection 01/04/15 12.00 15.00 O/Scope

Piano collection 01/04/15 50.00 50.00 O/Scope

Ad Hoc Bulky collections (non standard items) - to be assessed by 

Supervisor, charged appropriately

7 Private street cleansing 01/04/10 Based on cost recovery

8 Commercial waste collections (including bulky items) - please 

contact us by email; waste@southkesteven.gov.uk for a quotation 01/04/16

*Where bins have been damaged by the resident

Detail VAT

82



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

MOT Testing

1 Classes 1 and 2

Motorcycles 01/04/10 29.65 29.65 O/Scope

Motorcycles with sidecar 01/04/10 37.80 37.80 O/Scope

2 Class 4

Cars (up to 8 passenger seats) and motor caravans 01/04/10 54.85 54.85 O/Scope

Quads (max unladen weight 400kg - for goods

vehicles 550kg and max net power 15kw) 01/04/10 54.85 54.85 O/Scope

Dual purpose vehicles 01/04/10 54.85 54.85 O/Scope

Private hire vehicles and PSVs (up to 8 seats) 01/04/10 54.85 54.85 O/Scope

Goods vehicles (up to 3,000 kg DGW) 01/04/10 54.85 54.85 O/Scope

Ambulances and Taxis (Taxis and private hire

vehicles may be subject to additional local

requirements) 01/04/10 54.85 54.85 O/Scope

Private passenger vehicles and ambulances (9-12

Passenger Seats) 01/04/10 57.30 57.30 O/Scope

3 Class 7

Goods vehicles (over 3,000kg up to 3,500kg DGW) 01/04/10 58.60 58.60 O/Scope

NOTES

These are the maximum fees chargeable in accordance with Vehicle and Operator Standards Agency

Detail VAT

83



Effective 2019/20 2020/21
Date £ £

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH

TATTOOING, PIERCING AND ELECTROLYSIS

1 Premise/Business registration fees

Acupuncture 01/04/20 147.50 151.40 O/Scope

Tattooing 01/04/20 147.50 151.40 O/Scope

Electrolysis 01/04/20 147.50 151.40 O/Scope

Cosmetic piercing 01/04/20 147.50 151.40 O/Scope

Semi permanent skin colouring 01/04/20 147.50 151.40 O/Scope

Additional activities (eg cosmetic piercing and

tattooing) per activity 01/04/20 73.50 82.55 O/Scope

Amendment or replacement certificate 01/04/20 23.00 28.25 O/Scope

2 Personal registration fees (Per activity)

Acupuncture 01/04/20 73.50 77.15 O/Scope

Tattooing 01/04/20 73.50 77.15 O/Scope

Electrolysis 01/04/20 73.50 77.15 O/Scope

Cosmetic piercing 01/04/20 73.50 77.15 O/Scope

Semi permanent skin colouring 01/04/20 73.50 77.15 O/Scope

Amendment or replacement certificate 01/04/20 23.00 28.25 O/Scope

3 Unsound food

Voluntary surrender certificate (excludes disposal) 01/04/19 40.32 81.00 Included

4 Food Export Health Certification

Inspection (first 2 hours) and certification 01/04/20 80.64 170.10 Included

Certification only 01/04/20 29.58 53.40 Included

5 Food Hygiene Rating Scheme

Re-inspection/Re-visit 01/04/20 150.00 163.50 Included

6 Control of dogs

Collecting and detaining stray dogs (statutory fine) 01/04/96 25.00 25.00 O/Scope

Handling, Kenneling & Administration 01/04/20 38.00 41.20 O/Scope

Kennelling per day or part of 01/04/20 17.50 17.90 O/Scope

7 Scrap Metal Dealers

Dealer initial licence - 3 year licence Part A 01/04/20 205.00 263.80 O/Scope

Dealer initial licence - 3 year licence Part B 01/04/20 402.00 353.00 O/Scope

Dealer licence renewal - Part A 01/04/20 173.00 209.10 O/Scope

Dealer licence renewal - Part B 01/04/20 402.00 36.25 O/Scope

Collector new - Part A 01/04/20 N/A 148.20 O/Scope

Collector new - Part B 01/04/20 N/A 36.25 O/Scope

Collector renewal - Part A 01/04/20 N/A 93.50 O/Scope

Collector renewal - Part B 01/04/20 N/A 36.25 O/Scope

Copy of a licence Replacement Licence certificate 01/04/20 12.00 26.20 O/Scope

Minor variation 01/04/20 N/A 34.80 O/Scope

8 Caravan Sites & Park Homes

Application for site Licence - Part A 01/04/20 N/A 454.30 O/Scope

Application for sie licence - Part B 01/04/20 N/A 36.20 O/Scope

Transfer/amendments of up to 2 Licence conditions 01/04/20 167.00 183.95 O/Scope

Significant amendments involving a site visit 01/04/20 240.00 298.50 O/Scope

Annual Fee 01/04/20 N/A 73.30 O/Scope

Additional annual fee per plot 01/04/20 N/A 4.85 O/Scope

Enforcement - Based on an hourly rate 01/04/18 Variable Variable O/Scope

Deposit of site rules 01/04/20 58.50 81.50 O/Scope

Replacement licence certificate 01/04/20 N/A 26.25 O/Scope

Enforcement - Based on an hourly rate 01/04/18 Variable Variable O/Scope

Deposit of site rules 01/04/20 58.50 81.50 O/Scope

Replacement licence certificate 01/04/20 N/A 26.25 O/Scope

NB Relevant fees as per the Provision of Services Regulations 2009 are now broken down into Part A and Part B. 

Part A is payable upon application, Part B is payable upon grant of license

Detail VAT

84



Detail Effective 2019/20 2020/21 VAT

Date £ £

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH

9 ENQUIRIES IN CONNECTION WITH CONTAMINATED LAND

Enquiries  01/04/20 130.30 132.90 O/Scope

10 Private sector housing charges 01/04/12 Hourly Rate Hourly Rate O/Scope

11 Food Hygiene/Health & Safety Charges 01/04/18 Hourly Rate Hourly Rate Included

12 Immigration inspections 01/04/20 106.00 118.80 O/Scope

13 Private Sector Housing Civil Penalties (Maximum 

penalty allowed by legislation £30,000 as alternative to 

prosecution) 01/04/18 30,000.00 30,000.00 O/Scope

14 HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION

New Licence - Part A 01/04/20 N/A 413.60 O/Scope

New Licence -  Part B 01/04/20 N/A 115.95 O/Scope

Renewal of licence (before expiry, no changes) Part A 01/04/20 N/A 247.85 O/Scope

Renewal of licence (before expiry, no changes) Part B 01/04/20 N/A 115.95 O/Scope

Replacement licence certificate 01/04/20 N/A 26.25 O/Scope

15

Risk Assessment (each assessment) 01/04/19 Hourly Rate Hourly  Rate O/Scope

Sampling (each visit) 01/04/19 Hourly Rate Hourly  Rate O/Scope

Investigation (each investigation) 01/04/19 Hourly Rate Hourly  Rate O/Scope

Grant of authorisation (each authorisation) 01/04/19 Hourly Rate Hourly  Rate O/Scope

Analysing a sample:

Taken under Reg 10 (domestic) 01/04/19 Variable Variable O/Scope

Taken during monitoring of group A parameters 01/04/19 Variable Variable O/Scope

Taken during monitoring of Group B parameters and 

monitoring under regulation 11 01/04/19 Variable Variable O/Scope

16 SMOKE FREE FIXED PENALTY NOTICES

Smoking in smoke free designated premises, place, 

vehicle 01/04/16 50.00 50.00 O/Scope

If paid within 15 days of issue 01/04/16 30.00 30.00 O/Scope

Failing to display smoke free signage as per law 01/04/16 200.00 200.00 O/Scope

If paid within 15 days of issue 01/04/16 150.00 150.00 O/Scope

17 SMOKE AND CARBON MONOXIDE ALARMS FOR RELEVANT LANDLORDS

Full cost recovery plus penalty charge for failure to 

comply 01/04/16 700 - 4,500 700-4,500 O/Scope

 (Maximum penalty allowed by legislation £5,000) 

18 LETTING AGENTS REDRESS SCHEME

Penalty for failure to comply 01/04/17 5,000.00 5,000.00 O/Scope

(Maximum penalty allowed by legislation £5,000 should

be considered the norm and a lower fine should only

be charged if there are extenuating circumstances

considered on a case by case basis)

SAMPLING OF PRIVATE WATER SUPPLIES INTENDED FOR HUMAN CONSUMPTION*

85



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH

19 HYGIENE & FOOD SAFETY

New Business Advice Consultation 01/04/20 195.00 198.90 Included

Food Hygiene Checkup 01/04/20 150.00 153.00 Included

Food Safety Organiser 01/04/20 29.70 30.30 Included

Food hygiene workshop (1 hour max 8 people) 01/04/20 111.00 113.10 Included

Pocket guides/publications (up to) 01/04/20 21.00 30.00 Included

20 SAFER FOOD BETTER BUSINESS

Catering pack 01/04/20 19.50 19.80 Included

Retail pack 01/04/20 18.60 18.90 Included

Childminder pack 01/04/20 12.00 12.18 Included

Residential care home supplement 01/04/20 6.60 6.72 Included

6 month diary refill 01/04/20 10.20 10.38 Included

12 month diary refill 01/04/20 12.00 12.18 Included

21

MINIMUM ENERGY EFFICIENCY STANDARDS (PRIVATE 

RENTED PROPERTY) *

Letting substandard property (less than 3 months) 01/04/19 2,000.00  2,000.00  O/scope

Letting substandard property (3 months or more) 01/04/19 4,000.00  4,000.00  O/scope

Registering false or misleading information on the PRS 

Exemptions Register 01/04/19 1,000.00  1,000.00  O/scope

Failing to comply with compliance notice 01/04/19 2,000.00  2,000.00  O/scope

*These are subject to approval in the Private Sector 

Housing Enforcement Policy which is tabled for Cabinet in 

November

Detail VAT

86



Effective 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Date

LAPPC Permits for Part B Installations, Mobile Plant and 

Solvent Emissions Activities

Application Fees

1 Standard Process (includes solvent emission activites) 01/04/17 1,650.00 O/Scope

Standard Processes additional fee for operating without a permit 01/04/17 1,188.00
O/Scope

PVRI, SWOBs and Dry Cleaners 01/04/17 155.00 O/Scope

PVR I & II combined 01/04/17 257.00 O/Scope

Vehicle refinishers (VRs) and other reduced fees activities 01/04/17 362.00 O/Scope

Reduced fee activities:  Additional fee for operating without a 

permit 01/04/17 99.00

Mobile Plant (not using simplified permits) 01/04/17 1,650.00 O/Scope

 - for the third to seventh application 01/04/17 985.00 O/Scope

 - for the eighth and subsequent applications 01/04/17 498.00 O/Scope

Where an application for any of the above is for a

combined Part B and waste application, add an

extra £297 to the above amounts

2 Substantial changes to permits

Standard Process 01/04/17 1,050.00 O/Scope

Standard Process where the substantial change results in a new 

PPC activity 01/04/17 1,650.00 O/Scope

Reduced Fee Activities 01/04/17 102.00 O/Scope

3 Transfer and Surrender 

Transfer of a permit - Standard Process 01/04/17 169.00 O/Scope

New operator at low risk reduced fee activity (extra one off 

subsistence charge) 01/04/17 78.00 O/Scope

Partial transfer of a standard permit 01/04/17 497.00 O/Scope

Reduced Fee Activitites: Partial Transfer 01/04/17 47.00 O/Scope

Reduced Fee Activites: Transfer 01/04/14 0.00 O/Scope

4 Temporary transfer for mobiles

First transfer 01/04/17 53.00 O/Scope

Repeat following enforcement or warning 01/04/17 53.00 O/Scope

5 Annual Subsistence Charge

Standard Process - LOW 01/04/17 772.00 (+103)* O/Scope

Standard Process - MEDIUM 01/04/17 1,161.00 (+156)* O/Scope

Standard Process - HIGH 01/04/17 1,747.00 (+207)* O/Scope

* The additional amount in brackets must be charged where a 

permit is for a combined Part B and waste installation

LOW MED HIGH

PVRI, SWOBs and Dry Cleaners 01/04/17 79.00 158.00 237.00 O/Scope

PVR I & II combined 01/04/17 113.00 226.00 341.00 O/Scope

Vehicle refinishers and other Reduced Fees 01/04/17 228.00 365.00 548.00 O/Scope

Mobile Plant for the first and second permits 01/04/17 646.00 1,034.00 1,506.00 O/Scope

for the third to seventh permits 01/04/17 385.00 617.00 924.00 O/Scope

for the eighth and subsequent permits 01/04/17 198.00 316.00 473.00 O/Scope

Late Payment Fee (8 weeks from date of invoice) 01/04/17 52.00 O/Scope
* Where a Part B installation is subject to reporting under the E-

PRTR Regulation, add an extra £103 to the above annual 

subsistence amounts

NOTES

The above fees are those currently imposed by DEFRA, a full copy of which can be viewed on their website www.gov.uk

Detail VAT

87

http://www.defra.gov.uk/


Effective 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Date £ £ £ £

6

LAPPC mobile plant charges (not using 

simplified permit)

Application

fee LOW MED HIGH

number of permits

1 01/04/17 1,650.00 646.00 1,034.00 1,506.00 O/Scope

2 01/04/17 1,650.00 646.00 1,034.00 1,506.00 O/Scope

3 01/04/17 985.00 385.00 617.00 924.00 O/Scope

4 01/04/17 985.00 385.00 617.00 924.00 O/Scope

5 01/04/17 985.00 385.00 617.00 924.00 O/Scope

6 01/04/17 985.00 385.00 617.00 924.00 O/Scope

7 01/04/17 985.00 385.00 617.00 924.00 O/Scope

8 and over 01/04/17 498.00 198.00 316.00 473.00 O/Scope

7 LA-IPPC (Local Authority Element)

Application 01/04/17 3,363.00 O/Scope

additional fee for operating without a permit 01/04/17 1,188.00 O/Scope

Annual subsistence LOW 01/04/17 1,446.00 O/Scope

Annual subsistence MEDIUM 01/04/17 1,610.00 O/Scope

Annual subsistence HIGH 01/04/17 2,333.00 O/Scope

Late Payment Fee 01/04/17 52.00 O/Scope

Variation 01/04/17 1,368.00 O/Scope

Substantial variation 01/04/17 3,363.00 O/Scope

Transfer 01/04/17 235.00 O/Scope

Partial transfer 01/04/17 698.00 O/Scope

Surrender 01/04/17 698.00 O/Scope

*Additional fee for payment of subsistence fees 

for LAPPC and LAIPPC by quarterly instalments 01/04/17 38.00 O/Scope

** where 9(2)(a) or (b) applies under the Local 

Authority Permits for Part A(2) Installations and 

small waste incineration plan(Fees and Charges) 

(England) (Scheme) 2017

NOTES

The above fees are detailed in the Local Authority Permits for Part A(2) Installations and small waste incineration

plan (Fees & Charges) (England) (Scheme) 2017 in the currently imposed by DEFRA, a fully copy of which can be viewed

on their website www.defra.gov.uk

*

Detail VAT

Subsistence charges can be paid in four equal quarterly instalments paid on 1 April, 1 July, 1 October and 1 January.  

Where paid quarterly the amount payable to the authority will increase by £38

88

http://www.defra.gov.uk/


Effective 2019/20 2020/21
Date £ £

LICENCES

1 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire *

Driver's licence - 3 Year - Standard Licence Period 01/04/20 254.50 259.55 O/Scope

Driver's licence - annual (conditions apply) 01/04/20 92.95 102.40 O/Scope

Change to dual licence (mid year) 01/04/20 N/A 39.85 O/Scope

Replacement drivers badge 01/04/20 13.80 23.80 O/Scope

Replacement vehicle plate 01/04/20 41.58 52.20 Included

Replacement licence certificate 01/04/20 11.55 18.50 O/Scope

Replacement vehicle bracket 01/04/20 10.56 14.70 Included

Replacement internal vehicle plate 01/04/20 5.85 24.50 O/Scope

Transfer of vehicle ownership 01/04/20 26.60 31.95 O/Scope

Knowledge Test Private Hire (initial and retest) 01/04/20 43.70 57.90 O/Scope

Knowledge Test Hackney (initial and retest) 01/04/20 N/A 94.15 O/Scope

Private Hire Operator Licence - 5 Year 01/04/20 151.20 157.70 O/Scope

Change of registration number ie cherished number plates 01/04/20 59.10 79.65 O/Scope

Enhanced DBS disclosure fee 01/04/20 N/A 40.00 O/Scope

2 Annual vehicle licence *

Private Hire 01/04/20 218.55 222.90 O/Scope

Hackney Carriage 01/04/20 238.35 243.10 O/Scope

*20% reduction for LPG/Hybrid/Wheelchair vehicles: Private Hire 01/04/20 174.85 178.35 O/Scope

*20% reduction for LPG/Hybrid/Wheelchair vehicles: Hackney 01/04/20 190.65 194.45 O/Scope

Exemption from displaying Private Hire plate 01/04/20 32.25 84.35 O/Scope

Exemption from displaying Private Hire plate (renewal fee) 01/04/20 21.55 51.75 O/Scope

3 Credit for unexpired days due to change of vehicle *

Private Hire 01/04/20 0.60 0.61 O/Scope

Hackney Carriage 01/04/20 0.65 0.67 O/Scope

Activites involving Animals - Additional vets fees may apply to these licences

5 Animal Licences

Pre application/Re-inspections (where applicable) 01/04/20 96.75 192.45 O/Scope

Dog Boarding - Part A 01/04/20 115.50 206.35 O/Scope

Dog Boarding - Part B 01/04/20 85.50 117.85 O/Scope

Cat Boarding - Part A 01/04/20 115.00 206.35 O/Scope

Cat Boarding - Part B 01/04/20 85.50 117.85 O/Scope

Dual Dog and Cat Boarding - Part A 01/04/20 190.50 249.10 O/Scope

Dual Dog and Cat Boarding - Part B 01/04/20 138.00 139.60 O/Scope

Dog Day Care - Part A 01/04/20 115.50 206.35 O/Scope

Dog Day Care - Part B 01/04/20 85.50 117.85 O/Scope

Home Boarding - Part A 01/04/20 108.00 139.60 O/Scope

Home Boarding - Part B 01/04/20 78.00 96.15 O/Scope

Arrangers/Franchisers 01/04/20 51.00 96.15 O/Scope

Dog Breeding Establishments Part A 01/04/20 123.00 238.95 O/Scope

Dog Breeding Establishments Part B 01/04/20 93.00 183.05 O/Scope

Sale of Animals as Pets-  (Pet shops) Part A 01/04/20 115.50 206.35 O/Scope

Sale of selling Animals as Pets -  (Pet shops) Part B 01/04/20 85.50 117.85 O/Scope

Hiring of Horses (Riding Establishments) Part A 01/04/20 115.50 238.95 O/Scope

Hiring of Horses (Riding Establishments) Part B 01/04/20 85.50 183.05 O/Scope

Dangerous Wild Animals Part A 01/04/20 N/A 195.55 O/Scope

Dangerous Wild Animals Part B 01/04/20 N/A 41.40 O/Scope

Transfer of licence 01/04/20 91.15 105.40 O/Scope

Animals for exhibition (3 year Licence) Part A 01/04/20 92.70 139.60 O/Scope

Animals for exhibition (3 year Licence) Part B 01/04/20 91.15 96.15 O/Scope

Variation (with inspection) 01/04/20 111.00 192.55 O/Scope

Variation (no inspection) 01/04/20 N/A 52.70 O/Scope

6 Zoo Licences

New Application (4 year) Part A 01/04/20 403.10 428.10 O/Scope

New Application (4 year) Part B 01/04/20 106.05 192.35 O/Scope

Renewal (6 year) Part A 01/04/20 424.35 362.95 O/Scope

Renewal (6 year) Part B 01/04/20 212.15 366.10 O/Scope

Transfer of Licence 01/04/20 63.65 105.40 O/Scope

7 Sex Establishments

New Application/Renewal/Transfer/Variation- Part A 01/04/20 1,564.80 1,596.10 O/Scope

New Application/Renewal/Transfer/Variation - Part B 01/04/20 127.30 129.85 O/Scope

8 Street Trading

Stamford Pedestrian Precinct Per Day 01/04/20 23.65 24.10 O/Scope

Other Locations per day from 01/04/20 19.05 19.40 O/Scope

Other Locations- 4hrs or less per day 01/04/20 10.30 10.50 O/Scope

Private Land per day 01/04/20 10.30 10.50 O/Scope

NB Relevant fees as per the Provision of Services Regulations 2009 are now broken down into Part A and Part B. 

Part A is payable upon application, Part B is payable upon grant of license

Detail VAT

89



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

ALCOHOL LICENSING

1 Licensed Premises

Grant of Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate

Band A (Rateable Value £0 - £4,300) 24/11/05 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

Band B (Rateable Value £4,301 - £33,000) 24/11/05 190.00 190.00 O/Scope

Band C (Rateable Value £33,001 - £87,000) 24/11/05 315.00 315.00 O/Scope

Band D (Rateable Value £87,001 - £125,000) 24/11/05 450.00 450.00 O/Scope

Band E (Rateable Value £125,001+) 24/11/05 635.00 635.00 O/Scope

2 Variation of Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate

Band A (Rateable Value £0 - £4,300) 24/11/05 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

Band B (Rateable Value £4,301 - £33,000) 24/11/05 190.00 190.00 O/Scope

Band C (Rateable Value £33,001 - £87,000) 24/11/05 315.00 315.00 O/Scope

Band D (Rateable Value £87,001 - £125,000) 24/11/05 450.00 450.00 O/Scope

Band E (Rateable Value £125,001+) 24/11/05 635.00 635.00 O/Scope

Minor Variation 30/06/09 89.00 89.00 O/Scope

3 Annual Fee for Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate

Band A (Rateable Value £0 - £4,300) 24/11/05 70.00 70.00 O/Scope

Band B (Rateable Value £4,301 - £33,000) 24/11/05 180.00 180.00 O/Scope

Band C (Rateable Value £33,001 - £87,000) 24/11/05 295.00 295.00 O/Scope

Band D (Rateable Value £87,001 - £125,000) 24/11/05 320.00 320.00 O/Scope

Band E (Rateable Value £125,001+) 24/11/05 350.00 350.00 O/Scope

4 Grant of Premises Licence where alcohol is primary use

Band A (Rateable Value £0 - £4,300) 24/11/05 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

Band B (Rateable Value £4,301 - £33,000) 24/11/05 190.00 190.00 O/Scope

Band C (Rateable Value £33,001 - £87,000) 24/11/05 315.00 315.00 O/Scope

Band D (Rateable Value £87,001 - £125,000) 24/11/05 900.00 900.00 O/Scope

Band E (Rateable Value £125,001+) 24/11/05 1,905.00 1,905.00 O/Scope

5 Annual Fee for Premises Licence where alcohol is primary use

Band A (Rateable Value £0 - £4,300) 24/11/05 70.00 70.00 O/Scope

Band B (Rateable Value £4,301 - £33,000) 24/11/05 180.00 180.00 O/Scope

Band C (Rateable Value £33,001 - £87,000) 24/11/05 295.00 295.00 O/Scope

Band D (Rateable Value £87,001 - £125,000) 24/11/05 640.00 640.00 O/Scope

Band E (Rateable Value £125,001+) 24/11/05 1,050.00 1,050.00 O/Scope

Fees set by government

Detail VAT

90



Effective 2019/20 2020/21
Date £ £

ALCOHOL LICENSING

6 Grant of Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate

Number of Persons

5,000 to 9,999 24/11/05 1,000.00 1,000.00 O/Scope

10,000 to 14,999 24/11/05 2,000.00 2,000.00 O/Scope

15,000 to 19,999 24/11/05 4,000.00 4,000.00 O/Scope

20,000 to 29,999 24/11/05 8,000.00 8,000.00 O/Scope

30,000 to 39,999 24/11/05 16,000.00 16,000.00 O/Scope

40,000 to 49,999 24/11/05 24,000.00 24,000.00 O/Scope

50,000 to 59,999 24/11/05 32,000.00 32,000.00 O/Scope

60,000 to 69,999 24/11/05 40,000.00 40,000.00 O/Scope

70,000 to 79,999 24/11/05 48,000.00 48,000.00 O/Scope

80,000 to 89,999 24/11/05 56,000.00 56,000.00 O/Scope

90,000 and over 24/11/05 64,000.00 64,000.00 O/Scope

7 Annual Fee - Number of Persons

5,000 to 9,999 24/11/05 500.00 500.00 O/Scope

10,000 to 14,999 24/11/05 1,000.00 1,000.00 O/Scope

15,000 to 19,999 24/11/05 2,000.00 2,000.00 O/Scope

20,000 to 29,999 24/11/05 4,000.00 4,000.00 O/Scope

30,000 to 39,999 24/11/05 8,000.00 8,000.00 O/Scope

40,000 to 49,999 24/11/05 12,000.00 12,000.00 O/Scope

50,000 to 59,999 24/11/05 16,000.00 16,000.00 O/Scope

60,000 to 69,999 24/11/05 20,000.00 20,000.00 O/Scope

70,000 to 79,999 24/11/05 24,000.00 24,000.00 O/Scope

80,000 to 89,999 24/11/05 28,000.00 28,000.00 O/Scope

90,000 and over 24/11/05 32,000.00 32,000.00 O/Scope

Fees set by government

Detail VAT

91



Effective 2019/20 2020/21
Date £ £

ALCOHOL LICENSING

8 Other Charges - Licensing Act 2003

Personal Licence (Grant/ renewal) 24/11/05 37.00 37.00 O/Scope

Theft, loss etc of a personal licence 24/11/05 10.50 10.50 O/Scope

Duty to notify change of name or address 24/11/05 10.50 10.50 O/Scope

Temporary Event Notice 24/11/05 21.00 21.00 O/Scope

Theft, loss etc of a Temporary Event Notice 24/11/05 10.50 10.50 O/Scope

Theft, loss etc of a premises licence or summary 24/11/05 10.50 10.50 O/Scope

Application for a provisional statement where 

premises being built etc 24/11/05 315.00 315.00 O/Scope

Notification of change of name or address 24/11/05 10.50 10.50 O/Scope

Application to vary licence to specify individual as DPS 24/11/05 23.00 23.00 O/Scope

Transfer of premises licence 24/11/05 23.00 23.00 O/Scope

Interim authority notice following death etc of licence holder 24/11/05 23.00 23.00 O/Scope

Theft, loss etc of certificate of summary 24/11/05 10.50 10.50 O/Scope

Notification of change of name or alteration of rules of club 24/11/05 10.50 10.50 O/Scope

Change of relevant registered address of club 24/11/05 10.50 10.50 O/Scope

Right of freeholder etc to be notified of licensing

matters 24/11/05 21.00 21.00 O/Scope

Disapplication of premise supervisor for community premises 01/04/20 N/A 23.00 O/Scope

Fees set by government

Detail VAT

92



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

GAMBLING LICENSING

1 Bingo Premises Licence

Application for Provisional Statement 01/04/20 749.00 763.95 O/Scope

Non Conversion Fee, Provisional Statement Premises 01/04/20 597.55 609.50 O/Scope

Non Conversion Fee, Other Premises 01/04/20 790.35 806.15 O/Scope

Annual Fee 01/04/20 527.30 537.85 O/Scope

Variation of Licence 01/04/20 720.35 734.75 O/Scope

Transfer Fee 01/04/20 602.60 614.65 O/Scope

Application for Reinstatement of Licence 01/04/20 602.60 614.65 O/Scope

2 Adult Gaming Centre Premises Licence

Application for Provisional Statement 01/04/20 689.55 703.30 O/Scope

Non Conversion Fee, Provisonal Statement Premises 01/04/20 441.35 450.15 O/Scope

Non Conversion Fee, Other Premises 01/04/20 720.35 734.75 O/Scope

Annual Fee 01/04/20 463.65 472.90 O/Scope

Variation of Licence 01/04/20 667.30 680.65 O/Scope

Transfer Fee 01/04/20 538.95 549.70 O/Scope

Application for Reinstatement of Licence 01/04/20 538.95 549.70 O/Scope

3 Family Entertainment Centre Premises Licence

Application for Provisional Statement 01/04/20 689.55 703.30 O/Scope

Non Conversion Fee, Provisional Statement Premises 01/04/20 441.35 450.15 O/Scope

Non Conversion Fee, Other Premises 01/04/20 720.35 734.75 O/Scope

Annual Fee 01/04/20 463.65 472.90 O/Scope

Variation of Licence 01/04/20 667.30 680.65 O/Scope

Transfer Fee 01/04/20 538.95 549.70 O/Scope

Application for Reinstatement of licence 01/04/20 538.95 549.70 O/Scope

4 Betting Premises Licence (other e.g.  Betting shops)

Application for Provisional Statement 01/04/20 689.55 703.30 O/Scope

Non Conversion Fee, Provisional Statement Premises 01/04/20 441.35 450.15 O/Scope

Non Conversion Fee, Other Premises 01/04/20 720.35 734.75 O/Scope

Annual Fee 01/04/20 463.65 472.90 O/Scope

Variation of Licence 01/04/20 667.30 680.65 O/Scope

Transfer Fee 01/04/20 538.95 549.70 O/Scope

Application for Reinstatement of licence 01/04/20 538.95 549.70 O/Scope

5 Ancillary Fees

Change of Circumstances 01/04/19 50.00 50.00 O/Scope

Fee for copy of licence 01/04/19 25.00 25.00 O/Scope

6 Temporary Use Notices

Fee for giving a Temporary Use Notice 01/04/20 N/A 150.00 O/Scope

Replacement of an endorsed copy of a Temporary Use Notice 01/04/20 N/A 25.00 O/Scope

Detail VAT

93



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

GAMBLING LICENSING

6 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres (10 year duration)

Gaming Machine Permit (no annual fee) 31/01/07 300.00 300.00 O/Scope

Renewal 31/01/07 300.00 300.00 O/Scope

Change of name 31/01/07 25.00 25.00 O/Scope

Copy of Permit 31/01/07 15.00 15.00 O/Scope

Prize Gaming Permit (no annual fee) 31/01/07 300.00 300.00 O/Scope

Renewal 31/01/07 300.00 300.00 O/Scope

Change of name 31/01/07 25.00 25.00 O/Scope

Copy of Permit 31/01/07 15.00 15.00 O/Scope

7 Club Gaming Permit & Club Machine Permit (10 years duration)

New 31/01/07 200.00 200.00 O/Scope

Renewal 31/01/07 200.00 200.00 O/Scope

Annual Fee 31/01/07 50.00 50.00 O/Scope

Variation  31/01/07 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

Copy of Permit 31/01/07 15.00 15.00 O/Scope

8 Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits

One off notification fee of 2 or less gaming machines 31/01/07 50.00 50.00 O/Scope

New (3 or more machines plus annual fee below) 31/01/07 150.00 150.00 O/Scope

Transfer 31/01/07 25.00 25.00 O/Scope

Variation 31/01/07 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

Change of name on a Gaming Permit (more than 2 

machines) 31/01/07 25.00 25.00 O/Scope

Copy of Gaming Machine Permit (more than 2 machines) 31/01/07 15.00 15.00 O/Scope

Annual Fee 31/01/07 50.00 50.00 O/Scope

9 Small Society Lotteries

Registration 01/09/07 40.00 40.00 O/Scope

Renewal 01/09/07 20.00 20.00 O/Scope

Fees set by government

Detail VAT

94



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

NEIGHBOURHOODS

1 Fixed Penalty Notice - Community Protection Notice 01/04/18 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

2 Fixed Penalty Notice - Public Space Protection Order 01/04/18 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

3 Fixed Penalty Notice - Domestic Waste Offence 01/04/17 80.00 80.00 O/Scope

4 Fixed Penalty Notice - Commercial Waste Offence 01/04/17 110.00 110.00 O/Scope

5 Fixed Penalty Notice - Waste Transfer Offence 01/04/17 300.00 300.00 O/Scope

6 Fixed Penalty Notice - Littering* 01/04/18 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

7 Fixed Penalty Notice - Fly Tipping 01/04/18 400.00 400.00 O/Scope

8 Fixed Penalty Notice - Fly Posting/Graffiti* 01/04/18 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

9 Fixed Penalty Notice - Abandoning a Vehicle 01/04/17 200.00 200.00 O/Scope

10 Fixed Penalty Notice - Nuisance Parking 01/04/17 100.00 100.00 O/Scope

11 Fixed Penalty Notice - Householder waste duty of care* 01/04/20 N/A 200.00 O/Scope

12 REQUESTS FOR RELEASE OF CCTV IMAGES

Legal Representative/Insurance Company 01/04/20 50.00 75.00 O/Scope

13 Neighbourhood charges 01/04/19 Hourly rate Hourly rate O/Scope

NB. The above fees are set at the maximum full penalty with the exception of those marked * which are set 

at the default penalty as determined in the Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties) (England) Regulations

Detail VAT

95



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

NEIGHBOURHOODS

REMOVAL OF VEHICLES

14

Vehicle equal to or less than 3.5 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 150.00

Vehicle exceeding 3.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 7.5 tonnes 01/04/20 N/A 200.00

Vehicle exceeding 7.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 18 MAM 01/04/20 N/A 350.00

Vehicle exceeding 18 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 350.00

15

Vehicle equal to or less than 3.5 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 250.00

Vehicle exceeding 3.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 7.5 tonnes 01/04/20 N/A 650.00

Vehicle exceeding 7.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 18 MAM - Unladen 01/04/20 N/A 2,000.00

Vehicle exceeding 7.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 18 MAM - Laden 01/04/20 N/A 3,000.00

Vehicle exceeding 18 tonnes MAM - Unladen 01/04/20 N/A 3,000.00

Vehicle exceeding 18 tonnes MAM - Laden 01/04/20 N/A 4,500.00

Vehicle equal to or less than 3.5 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 200.00

Vehicle exceeding 3.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 7.5 tonnes 01/04/20 N/A 400.00

Vehicle exceeding 7.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 18 MAM - Unladen 01/04/20 N/A 1,000.00

Vehicle exceeding 7.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 18 MAM - Laden 01/04/20 N/A 1,500.00

Vehicle exceeding 18 tonnes MAM - Unladen 01/04/20 N/A 1,500.00

Vehicle exceeding 18 tonnes MAM - Laden 01/04/20 N/A 2,000.00

Vehicle equal to or less than 3.5 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 300.00

Vehicle exceeding 3.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 7.5 tonnes 01/04/20 N/A 850.00

Vehicle exceeding 7.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 18 MAM - Unladen 01/04/20 N/A 3,000.00

Vehicle exceeding 7.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 18 MAM - Laden 01/04/20 N/A 4,500.00

Vehicle exceeding 18 tonnes MAM - Unladen 01/04/20 N/A 4,500.00

Vehicle exceeding 18 tonnes MAM - Laden 01/04/20 N/A 6,000.00

18 STORAGE OF VEHICLES PER 24 HOURS OR PART OF

Two wheeled vehicle 01/04/20 N/A 10.00

Vehicle, not including a two wheeled vehicle, equal to or less than 3.5 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 20.00

Vehicle exceeding 3.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 7.5 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 25.00

Vehicle exceeding 7.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 18 MAM 01/04/20 N/A 30.00

Vehicle exceeding 18 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 35.00

19 DISPOSAL OF VEHICLES

Two wheeled vehicle 01/04/20 N/A 50.00

Vehicle, not including a two wheeled vehicle, equal to or less than 3.5 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 75.00

Vehicle exceeding 3.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 7.5 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 100.00

Vehicle exceeding 7.5 tonnes MAM but equal to or less than 18 MAM 01/04/20 N/A 125.00

Vehicle exceeding 18 tonnes MAM 01/04/20 N/A 150.00

16

17 Vehicle, excluding a two wheeled vehicle, off road, but either not upright or substantially 

damaged or both

Detail VAT

Vehicle on road, upright and not substantially damaged or any two wheeled vehicle 

whatever its condition or position on or off the road

Vehicle, excluding a two wheeled vehicle, on road but either not upright or substantially 

damaged or both 

Vehicle, excluding a two wheeled vehicle, off road, upright and not substantially damaged

96



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

OUTDOOR RECREATION

1 Pitches - Football/Rugby

Senior pitch letting (2 hrs), marking out and

changing accommodation included

Full rate 01/04/20 48.24 49.50 Included

Concessions 01/04/20 28.50 29.10 Included

2 Junior pitch (ages 11-16) letting (2 hrs) and marking out

Full rate 01/04/20 21.48 21.90 Included

3 Mini pitch letting (ages 8-11) (1 hr) and marking out

Full rate 01/04/20 12.84 13.20 Included

4 Tennis Court

Hard Courts Free Free Included

5 Cricket

Per Match 01/04/20 45.00 46.20 Included

6 Wyndham Park Visitor Centre

Room hire per hour* 01/04/19 15.00 15.00 Included

*Guide price - please call the Visitor Centre for a specific hire quotation

Detail VAT

97



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

GRANTHAM CEMETERY

TRADITIONAL BURIAL GROUND

1 Exclusive Right of Burial

(Not exceeding 50 years)

Standard grave space - Parishioners 01/04/20 543.00 559.00 Exempt

2 Interment

Person aged 16 years or over - single depth 01/04/20 554.00 571.00 Exempt

Person aged 16 years or over - double depth 01/04/20 621.00 640.00 Exempt

Child below 16 years 01/04/20 242.00 249.00 Exempt

Each additional coffin space 01/04/20 194.00 200.00 Exempt

3 Licence for the Erection of Memorials

Headstone (not exceeding 3 feet in height) 01/04/20 134.00 138.00 Exempt

Headstone (each additional 6 inches) 01/04/20 134.00 138.00 Exempt

Metal faced tablet 01/04/20 92.00 95.00 Exempt

Additional inscription 01/04/20 51.50 53.00 Exempt

Kerbed memorial 01/04/20 144.50 149.00 Exempt

4 Mausoleum

Single vault mausoleum plot 01/04/20 697.00 718.00 Exempt

5 Re-Open Graves

Interment Fee - single depth 01/04/20 473.00 487.00 Exempt

Interment Fee - double depth 01/04/20 621.00 640.00 Exempt

Interment ashed into grave 01/04/20 161.50 166.00 Exempt

6 Woodland Burial Ground

All inclusive charge covering standard grave space,

single depth interment, tree and plaque

- Parishioners 01/04/20 1,245.50 1,283.00 Exempt

Please note there is a 50% additional charge for Non Parishioners (i.e. outside of

Grantham boundary) on items 1- Exclusive Right of Burial, 4- Re-open Graves and 6- Woodland Burial Ground

Detail VAT

98



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

LOCAL LAND CHARGE FEES

1 Registration of a Charge on Part II of Register including 01/04/20 N/A 86.00 O/Scope

Water Industry S30, LCC S106, Highways Act S38 

2 Filing a Definitive Certificate of Lands Tribunal 01/04/19 4.00 4.00 O/Scope

3 Filing adjustment etc. for variation -

cancellation of entry in Part II of Register 01/04/19 9.00 9.00 O/Scope

4 Inspection of documents filed under Rule 10 01/04/19 4.00 4.00 O/Scope

5 Official search of the Local Land Charges register

(including issue of certificate) 01/04/19 15.00 15.00 O/Scope

6 Con 29 Part I enquiries*

 - one parcel of land, including the revised Con 29 

questions 01/04/19 135.00 135.00 Included

 - each additional parcel of land 01/04/19 19.50 19.50 Included

Part II enquiries

 - each optional enquiry, excluding question 22 01/04/19 16.80 16.80 Included

 - question 22 01/04/19 21.90 21.90 Included

 - solicitor/client's own enquiry 01/04/19 21.90 21.90 Included

7 Commerial*

- Please contact for a quotation on 

landcharges@southkesteven.gov.uk 01/04/20 N/A Variable Included

8 Addional charge for expedited official search and Con29 - (3 Day Turnaround)01/04/19 35.00 35.00 O/Scope

9 CON 29R UNREFINED DATA CHARGES*

Building Regulations  Q1.1 (F to H) 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Roads  Q2.1 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

PROWS   Q2.2 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Land Requisitioned for Public Purposes  Q3.1 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Roadworks   Q3.2 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Drainage   Q3.3 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Road Schemes   Q3.4 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Nearby Railway Schemes  Q3.5 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Traffic Schemes   Q3.6 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Outstanding Notices  Q3.7 (A-D & F) 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

 Notices    Q3.7 E & G                                 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Contravention of Building Regulations   Q3.8 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Notices, Orders, Directions and Proceedings under 

Planning Acts  Q3.9 (A-N) 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Community Infrastructure Levy  Q3.10 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Conservation Area  Q3.11 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Compulsory Purchase  Q3.12 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Contaminated Land  Q3.13 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Radon   Q3.14 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

Assets of Community Value    Q3.15 01/04/19 6.00 6.00 Included

*The charges quoted above are the minimum charged, based on a standard timing. More complex queries

taking longer to answer will incur a further charge based on an hourly rate of £47.28 (incl VAT)

Detail VAT

99



A. OUTLINE APPLICATIONS

£462 per 0.1 hectare for sites up to and

including 2.5 hectares

Not more than 2.5

hectares

£462 per 0.1 hectare

£11,432 + £138 for each 0.1 in excess of

2.5 hectares to a maximum of £150,000

More than 2.5

hectares

£11,432 + £138 per 0.1

hectare

Alterations/extensions to a single dwellinghouse, including 

works within boundary

Single dwellinghouse £206

C. FULL APPLICATIONS

(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical 

Details Consent)

Alterations/extensions to two or more dwellinghouses, 

including works within

boundaries

Two or more dwellinghouses (or

two or more flats)

£407

New dwellinghouses (up to and including 50) New dwellinghouses

(not more than 50)

£462 per dwellinghouse

New dwellinghouses (for more than 50)

£22,859 + £138 per additional dwellinghouse in excess of 50 

up to a maximum fee of £300,000

New dwellinghouses (more than 

50)

£22,859 + £138 per additional 

dwellinghouse

Gross floor space to be created by the development No increase in gross floor space 

or no more than

40 sq m

£234

Gross floor space to be created by the development More than 40 sq m but no more 

than

75 sq m

£462

Gross floor space to be created by the development More than 75 sq m but no more 

than

3,750 sq m

£462 for each 75sq m or part thereof

Gross floor space to be created by the development More than 3,750 sq m £22,859 + £138 for

each additional 75 sq m in excess of 

3,750 sq m to a maximum of 

£300,000

Gross floor space to be created by the

development

Not more than 465

sq m

£96

Gross floor space to be created by the development More than 465 sq m but not 

more

than 540 sq m

£462

Gross floor space to be created by the development More than 540 sq m but not 

more than 4,215 sq m

£462 for first 540 sq m

+ £462 for each 75 sq m (or part 

thereof) in excess of 540 sq m

Gross floor space to be created by the development More than 4,215 sq m £22,859 + £138 for each 75 sq m (or 

part thereof) in excess of 4,215 sq m 

up to a maximum of £300,000

Erection of glasshouses (on land used for the purposes of 

agriculture)

Gross floor space to be created by the

development

Not more than 465

sq m

£96

Gross floor space to be created by the

development

More than 465 sq m £2,580

B. HOUSEHOLDER APPLICATIONS

Erection of buildings (not dwellinghouses,  agricultural, glasshouses, plant nor machinery):

The erection of buildings (on land used for agriculture for agricultural purposes)

* The fees above are set by Government 

100



Site area Not more than 5 hectares £462 for each 0.1 hectare (or part

thereof)

Site area More than 5 hectares £22,859 + additional

£138 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof) in excess of 5

hectares to a maximum

of £300,000

Car parks, service roads or other

accesses

For existing uses £234

Site area Not more than 15 hectares £234 for each 0.1 hectare (or part

thereof)

Site area More than 15 hectares £34,934 + £138 for each

0.1 hectare (or part thereof) in excess 

of 15 hectares up to a maximum of 

£78,000

Site area Not more than 7.5 hectares £508 for each 0.1 hectare (or part

thereof)

Site area More than 7.5 hectares £38,070  + additional

£151 for each 0.1 hectare (or part

thereof) in excess of 7.5 hectares up 

to a

maximum of £300,000

Site area Not more than 15 hectares £257 for each 0.1 hectare (or part

thereof)

Site area More than 15 hectares £38,520 + additional

£151 for each 0.1 in excess of 15 

hectare up to a maximum of

£78,000

Site area Not more than 15 hectares £234 for each 0.1 hectare (or part

thereof)

Site area More than 15 hectares £34,934 + additional

£138 for each 0.1 in excess of 15 

hectare up to a maximum of

£78,000

Site area Any site area £234 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof) up to a

maximum of £2,028

Existing use or operation Same as Full

Existing use or operation - lawful not to comply with any 

condition or limitation

£234

Proposed use or operation Half the normal

planning fee.

Other operations (not coming within  any of the above categories)

E. LAWFUL DEVELOPMENT CERTIFICATE

* The fees above are set by Government 

Erection/alterations/replacement of plant and machinery

D. APPLICATIONS OTHER THAN BUILDING WORKS

Waste (Use of land for disposal of refuse or waste materials or deposit of material remaining  after extraction or storage of minerals)

Operations connected with exploratory drilling for oil or natural gas

Operations (other than exploratory drilling) for the winning and working of oil or natural gas

Other operations (winning and working of minerals) excluding oil and natural gas

101



F. PRIOR APPROVAL

Agricultural  and Forestry buildings & operations  or 

demolition of buildings

£96

Communications (previously referred to as 

‘Telecommunications Code Systems Operators’)

£462

£96

£96

£96

£96

£96

£206

£96

£206

£96

£96

£206

£96

£206

£96

£96

£96

£96

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural  Building to a Dwellinghouse  (Use Class C3), and 

Associated Building Operations

Proposed Change of Use to State Funded School or Registered

Nursery

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural  Building to a State-Funded School or Registered 

Nursery

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural  Building to a flexible use within Shops, Financial and 

Professional services, Restaurants and Cafes, Business, Storage or Distribution,

Hotels, or Assembly or Leisure

Proposed Change of Use of a building from Office (Use Class B1) Use to a use falling within 

Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse)

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural  Building to a Dwellinghouse  (Use Class C3), where 

there are no Associated Building Operations

* The fees above are set by Government 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed 

Retail and Residential Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), where there 

are no Associated Building Operations

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed 

Retail and Residential Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), and  

Associated Building Operations

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change Of Use from Storage or Distribution Buildings 

(Class B8) and any land within  its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3)

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Amusement  Arcades/Centres and 

Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses  (Class C3)

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Amusement  Arcades/Centres and 

Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses  (Class C3), 

and  Associated Building Operations

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops (Class A1), Financial and 

Professional Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui 

Generis Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3)

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops (Class A1), Financial and 

Professional Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui 

Generis Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3), and  Associated Building Operations

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops (Class A1) and Financial and 

Professional Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops (Sui Generis Uses) to 

Assembly and Leisure Uses (Class D2)

Notification for Prior Approval for a Development Consisting of the Erection or Construction of 

a Collection Facility within the Curtilage of a Shop

Notification for Prior Approval for the Temporary Use of Buildings or Land for the Purpose of 

Commercial Film-Making and the Associated Temporary Structures, Works, Plant or 

Machinery required in Connection with that Use

Notification for Prior Approval for the Installation,  Alteration or Replacement of other Solar 

Photovoltaics (PV) equipment on the Roofs of Non-domestic Buildings, up to a Capacity of 1 

Megawatt

102



G. RESERVED MATTERS

Application  for approval of reserved matters following  

outline approval grant of planning permission

Full fee due or if full fee already paid 

then £462 due

Application  for removal or variation  of a condition following 

grant of planning permission

£234

Request for confirmation that one or more planning 

conditions have been complied with

£34 per request for

Householder otherwise

£116 per request

Number  of dwellinghouses Not more than 50

dwellinghouses

£462 for each

Number  of dwellinghouses More than 50 dwellinghouses £22,859 + £138 for each in excess of 

50 up to a maximum of

£300,000

Other Changes of Use of a building or land £462

J. ADVERTISING

Relating to the business on the premises £132

Advance signs which are not situated on or visible from

the site, directing the public to a business

£132

Other advertisements £462

Applications in respect of householder developments £34

Applications in respect of other developments £234

Site area                                                                                                £402 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)

H. APPROVAL/VARIATION/DISCHARGE OF CONDITION

I. CHANGE OF USE of a building to use as one or more separate dwellinghouses,  or other cases

K. APPLICATION FOR NON-MATERIAL AMENDMENT FOLLOWING A GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION 

L. APPLICATION FOR PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE (valid from 1 June 2018)

* The fees above are set by Government 

103



Exemptions from payment

If the application is for a lawful development certificate, for existing use, where an application  for planning permission  for the same 

development would be exempt from the need to pay a planning fee under any other planning fee regulation

M. CONCESSIONS

For alterations,  extensions, etc. to a dwellinghouse for the benefit of a registered disabled person

An application  solely for the carrying out of the operations for the purpose of providing a means of access for disabled persons to or 

within  a building or premises to which members of the public are admitted

Listed Building Consent

Planning permission  for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area

Works to Trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or in a Conservation Area 

Hedgerow Removal

If the application is the first revision of an application  for development of the same character or description on the same site by the 

same applicant:

* For a withdrawn application:  Within 12 months  of the date when the application was received

* For a determined application:  Within 12 months of the date the application  was granted, refused or an appeal dismissed

* For an application where an appeal was made on the grounds of non- determination: Within 12 months of the period when the 

giving of notice of a decision on the earlier valid application  expired

If two or more applications  are submitted for different proposals on the same day and relating to the same site then you must pay the 

fee for the highest fee plus half sum of the others

If the application is for consent to display an advertisement following  either a withdrawal of an earlier application  (before notice of 

decision was issued) or where the application  is made following  refusal of consent for display of an advertisement, and where the 

application  is made by or on behalf of the same person

If the application is for consent to display an advertisement which results from a direction under Regulation 7 of the 2007 

Regulations, dis-applying deemed consent under Regulation 6 to the advertisement in question

If the application is for alternative  proposals for the same site by the same applicant, in order to benefit from the permitted 

development right in Schedule 2 Part 3 Class V of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted  Development)  Order 2015 

(as amended)

If the application relates to a condition or conditions on an application  for Listed Building Consent or planning permission  for 

relevant demolition in a Conservation Area If the application is for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a listed building

Prior Approval for a Proposed Larger Home Extension

Reductions to payments

If the application is being made on behalf of a non-profit making sports club for works for playing fields not involving buildings then 

the fee is £462

If the application is being made on behalf of a parish or community council then the fee is 50%

If the application is an alternative  proposal being submitted on the same site by the same applicant on the same day, where this 

application is of lesser cost then the fee is 50%

In respect of reserved matters  you must pay a sum equal to or greater than what would be payable at current  rates for approval of 

all the reserved matters.  If this amount  has already been paid then the fee is £462

If the application is for a Lawful Development  Certificate for a Proposed use or development, then the fee is 50%

Where an application  crosses one or more local or district planning authorities, the Planning Portal fee calculator will only calculate a 

cross boundary  application fee as 150% of the fee that would have been payable if there had only been one application  to a single 

authority covering the entire site.

If the fee for this divided site is smaller when the sum of the fees payable for each part of the site are calculated separately, you will 

need to contact the lead local authority to discuss the fee for this divided site.

The fee should go to the authority that contains the larger part of the application site.

This is only a summary of scales of fees, listing only the most common types of application.

* The fees above are set by Government

104



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

PLANNING CHARGES

1 Charges in connection with land/property

transactions

Detailed queries on consents involving search 01/04/20 29.70 34.20 Included

for relevant information*

Check involving site inspection** 01/04/20 23.64 27.30 Included

*stated charge plus relevant copying charges

**stated charge plus mileage plus officer hourly rates

Detail VAT

105



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

PRE-PLANNING CHARGES

1 Householders

Charge for any pre-planning advice undertaken 01/04/20 61.80 72.00 Included

2 Non-residential changes of use including siting

of caravans for sites

Under 1 ha or buildings under 1,000 sqm (gross) 01/04/20 208.50 240.00 Included

of 1 ha or above or buildings under 1,000 sqm (gross) 01/04/20 418.50 480.00 Included

3 Development of dwellings

1-9 dwellings including changes of use to

residential, for 1st dwelling 01/04/20 276.60 318.00 Included

for each additional dwelling 01/04/20 138.90 159.00 Included

10-49 dwellings including changes of use to

residential, for the 10th dwelling (includes Design PAD) 01/04/20 1,395.00 1,605.00 Included

meeting for each additional dwelling 01/04/20 69.30 81.00 Included

50 plus dwellings, including changes of use to

residential (includes Design PAD meeting) 01/04/20 5,009.40 5,760.00 Included

Residential development where number of dwellings

unknown - per 0.1 hectare (includes Design PAD 01/04/20 201.30 231.00 Included

meeting)

4 Non-residential development

Where no floor space is created 01/04/20 104.82 120.00 Included

Up to 499 sqm floor area or 0.5 ha site area 01/04/20 208.50 240.00 Included

between 500 and 999 sqm floor area, or between

0.51 ha and 1.0 ha 01/04/20 344.88 396.00 Included

between 1,000 and 4,999 sqm floor area or between

1.1 ha and 2.0 ha (includes Design PAD meeting) 01/04/20 697.74 801.00 Included

between 5,000 sqm or more or 2.1 ha or more* 01/04/20 1,395.00 1,605.00 Included

(includes Design PAD meeting)

*minimum fee for specified service and hourly

rate thereafter

5 Others

Variation or removal of condition 01/04/20 104.76 120.00 Included

Advertising 01/04/20 104.76 120.00 Included

Development that would involve relevant demolition

works 01/04/20 69.36 81.00 Included

Non-householder works or alterations to a listed

building 01/04/20 69.36 81.00 Included

Hazardous substances 01/04/20 138.96 159.00 Included

Changes of use not falling within any of the above 

categories 01/04/20 201.48 231.00 Included

Additional Design PAD Review (meetings and response) 01/04/20 N/A 1,200.00 Included

Planning Performance Agreement - please contact us 01/04/20 N/A Variable Included

for a quotation on planning@southkesteven.gov.uk

Detail VAT

106



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

STREET NAMING & NUMBERING

1 Individual house re-name or re-number 01/04/20 N/A 39.00 Included

2 Development re-number due to change of layout 

involving plot numbering or plot positions 01/04/20 N/A 39.00 Included

3 Additional of a house name, where property has an 

official number 01/04/20 N/A 39.00 Included

4 Removal of a house name from address, where property 

has an official number 01/04/20 N/A 39.00 Included

5 Renaming/renumbering of street at residents request 01/04/20 N/A 234.00 Included

plus per property 01/04/20 N/A 39.00 Included

6 Confirmation of historic change of address to solicitors, 

occupiers or owner 01/04/20 N/A 39.00 Included

Detail VAT

107



Effective 2019/20 2020/21

Date £ £

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT DISCRETIONARY CHARGES

1 Community Rooms

Residents weekly charge 01/04/20 6.50 6.70 O/Scope

Voluntary agencies & organisations  usage

- up to 3 hours 01/04/20 21.50 22.15 Exempt

- more than 3 hours/all day 01/04/20 32.50 33.45 Exempt

Charitable organisations  usage

- up to 3 hours 01/04/20 5.50 5.65 Exempt

- more than 3 hours/all day 01/04/20 10.50 10.80 Exempt

2 Communal Facilities

Residents weekly charge 01/04/20 7.50 7.70 O/Scope

3 Guest Rooms

Double Room - per night * 01/04/20 21.50 22.14 Included

Single Room - per night * 01/04/20 15.96 16.44 Included

Folding bed - per night * 01/04/20 5.40 5.52 Included

* 50% discount for persons over 60.

Detail VAT

108



Risk Analysis 

Issue Scale (£) Likelihood 
1 (low)
5 (high)

Impact  
1 (low)
5 (high)

Total 
Score

Potential Annual 
Impact and 
Sensitivity 
Analysis

Risk Areas Controls and Actions in place Cash Impact 
of 1% change 
in budgeted 
expenditure 
or income

Pay Costs £15.46m 3 4 12 1% pay increase = 
£155k.  
Budget 
assumptions: 2% 
pay award in all 
years.

Largest single 
item of cost in 
the revenue 
budget.  Complex 
drivers across the 
organisation.
Staff recruitment 
and retention.

Strict monitoring of both 
budgets and employee 
numbers.
For monitoring of sickness 
and overtime.

£155k

Vacancy 
Allowance

£428k 4 3 12 10% 
underachievement 
£43k.
Budget 
Assumption: 3% in 
all years.

Organisational 
turnover and 
recruitment need 
to business 
critical posts.

Strict monitoring of budgets 
and vacant posts.

£4k

Property 
Maintenance 
costs

£0.77m 3 3 9 10% increase in 
expenditure £77k.

Uncertainty 
regarding the 
condition of the 
assets and when 
repairs will be 
required.
Weather 
conditions 
impacting on the 
condition of the 
assets. 

Strict monitoring of budgets.
Production of Asset 
Management Strategy linked 
to comprehensive property 
survey.

£8k

109

A
ppendix G



Workshop 
Costs (External 
repairs & 
Consumables)

£0.34m 2 3 6 10% increase in 
expenditure £34k.
The budget has 
been increased by 
circa £25k in each 
financial year.

General 
economic 
conditions.
Uncertainty over 
when and which 
vehicles will need 
repairing.

Strict monitoring of budgets.
Creation of reserve to fund 
fluctuations in service 
pressures. 

£3k

Fuel Costs £0.62m 3 3 9 10% increase in 
expenditure £62k.
Budget 
assumption 5% in 
each year.

General 
economic 
conditions.

Strict monitoring of budgets.
Creation of reserve to fund 
fluctuations in service 
pressures. 

£6k

Major income areas:
Car Parks £1.293m 1 4 4 10% reduction: 

£129k.
General 
economic 
conditions.
Central 
Government 
policy.

Budget monitoring to review 
actual usage and 
performance.

£13k

Green Waste £1.112m 1 4 4 10% reduction: 
£111k.

General 
economic 
conditions.

Budget monitoring to review 
actual position and customer 
demand.

£11k

Building 
Control

£0.67m 3 3 9 10% reduction: 
£67k.

Volatile activity 
levels in the 
housing market 
and general 
economic 
conditions.  
Competition from 
commercial 
organisations

Budget monitoring to review 
actual position.
Risk shared between partners 
of the Building Control 
service.

£7k

110



Planning Fees £1.076m 3 3 9 10% reduction: 
£108k.

Volatile activity 
levels in the 
housing market 
and general 
economic 
conditions.  
Fluctuations in 
income from 
major 
applications.

Budget monitoring to review 
actual position and customer 
demand.

£10k

Commercial 
Income - Trade 
Waste

£0.37m 3 3 9 10% reduction: 
£37k.

General 
economic 
conditions.
Competition from 
commercial 
organisations.

Budget monitoring to review 
actual position.

£4k

Commercial 
Income - 
Property 
Portfolio

£1.096m 2 3 6 10% reduction: 
£110k
Dependent on 
financial strength 
of tenants and 
good management 
to reduce the 
impact of void 
periods.

Property tenants 
unable to pay 
rent.
Length of voids 
periods.
Ability to source 
new tenants.

Due diligence prior to signing 
lease agreement.
Budget monitoring to ensure 
rent payments are received. 
Regular contact and liaison 
with tenants and ongoing 
financial health checks.

£11k

Interest Rate 
Changes 
(including HRA)

£0.5m 3 3 9 £200k per 0.5%.
If internal 
borrowing is used 
for capital 
investment there 
will be less 
investment 

Large cash 
variance from 
small rate 
changes.  
Reducing 
availability of 
suitable 
counterparties. 

Use of professional advisers.
Budget monitoring to review 
actual position.
Realistic budget proposed for 
2020/21.

£5k

111



interest 
receivable.

Income from 
HRA Council 
Dwellings

£24.56m 2 4 8 1% reduction: 
£246k.

Largest single 
item of income in 
the council 
budget. 
Tenants unable to 
pay rent.
Length of void 
periods.

The income is generated from 
a significant number of 
tenants.
Budget monitoring to review 
actual position.  Regular 
liaison and contact with 
tenants to support payments.

£246k

Savings included in the budget

Transformation 
Savings

£0.20m 3 3 9 10% reduction: 
£20k

Identification and 
the 
implementation 
of processes.
Resistance to 
change

Budget monitoring to review 
actual position.
Implementation plan 
developed that identifies 
savings in process 
automation deployed areas.

£2k

Management 
Cost Savings

£0.30m 3 3 9 10% reduction: 
£30k

Identification and 
the timing of the 
implementation 
of the savings.

Implementation plan to be 
developed.

£3k

Procurement 
Savings

£0.35m 3 3 9 10% reduction: 
£35k

General 
economic 
conditions.
The timing and 
implementation 
of the tender 
exercises.

Implementation plan 
developed to deliver required 
savings.
Monitoring of expenditure to 
ensure contracts are being 
used for the purchase of 
goods/services.

£4k

112



Cabinet

21 January 2020

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson 
The Deputy Leader of the Council

        

Housing Strategy Refresh
A mid term refresh of the Housing Strategy 2017-2021

Report Author

Celia Bown, Senior Housing Policy and Strategy Officer

 01476 406063

 c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Helen Clarke, Head of Housing 16 December 2019

Approved by: Harry Rai, Interim Strategic Director for Growth 18 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson
The Deputy Leader of the Council 

2 January 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommends to Council to approve the Housing Strategy refresh.

113

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Cabinet adopted the Housing Strategy 2017-2021 on 12th April 2018.  A midterm review of 

the strategy has been undertaken which has identified some areas which need to be 
enhanced and a refresh of the Housing Strategy has been drafted and is appended 
(Appendix 1).

1.2 The Housing Strategy (2017-2021) was taken to Cabinet under report HS6 on 12th April 
2018.

1.3 Cabinet approved the adoption of the revised draft housing strategy and the proposed Year 
1 (2018/2019) Internal Delivery Plan.  The one-year delivery plan has four themes identified 
and actions under each theme.

1.4 Cabinet agreed that the Cabinet Member for Housing will regularly monitor progress against 
the ‘Action Plan’ and report after an initial period of 6 months, with a view to then making 
annual reports.

1.5 The six-month update was taken to Cabinet on the 1st November 2018.

1.6 The twelve-month update was taken to Cabinet on 9th July 2019.  A further 1 year update 
will be presented to Cabinet at the first meeting following April 2020.

1.7 Cabinet, at their meeting of 1 November 2018, were advised that after the 1st year, a refresh 
of the Strategy is good practice to ensure it continues to be fit for purpose.

1.8 No significant changes are proposed.   However, the committee is asked to approve some 
of the areas that feature in the refresh: -

(i) Supporting Housing Independence for Older People and other Vulnerable 
Groups - remodelling & technology

(ii)  Provide the conditions for Tenant Involvement

(iii)  Improve Housing Services & Options

(iv)  Regenerate our Priority Neighbourhoods

(v) Energy Efficiency- Tackling Fuel Poverty/Climate Change in new developments 
and current Housing.

1.9 One of the areas that has been further enhanced in the refresh is developing new housing 
across tenure to prioritise a balanced housing market. To help deliver some of the challenging 
housing targets in the Local Plan and the imposed 20% buffer due to historic 
underperformance, the strategy recommends the council exploring all mechanisms and/or 
vehicles to help deliver the scale and extent of new housing in the district.

1.10 The refreshed Housing Strategy is supported by an action plan outlining key dates and 
milestones to ensure actions are on track to achieve the objectives of the Strategy.  Subject 
to member’s approval, the enhanced areas will be incorporated into the action plan.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received
2.1 The revised Housing Strategy was presented to members of the Rural & Communities 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee at their meeting of 16th January 2020. A verbal update will 
be presented to members summarising comments received from members of the committee.

114



3 Available Options Considered
3.1 N/A for strategy refresh

4 Preferred Option
4.1 N/A for strategy refresh

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The draft Housing Strategy refresh allows the Council to make best use of Council stock; 

improve tenant involvement and enhance existing housing services.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The refreshed Housing Strategy would be communicated to all of our key partners and 

publicised on our website.

7 Financial Implications
7.1 None associated with this strategy refresh.

7.2 There may be resource implications in delivering each action.  These will be dealt with 
either through existing budgets; delegated authority to approve the use of any new budget 
or the submission of a report to seek the approval of new resources.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall - Wright

8 Legal and Governance Implications
8.1 No further legal implications.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 The Impact Analysis of the Strategy was originally produced in September 2017 and was 

reviewed and updated to reflect the original consultation exercise.

9.2 The Impact Analysis identified ways in which the Strategy can positively impact 
households with protected characteristics.

9.3 Outcomes of the Strategy aim to improve the delivery of affordable housing, provide 
choice to enable people to live independently in a home that suits their needs, ensure 
quality housing in the private rented sector and support housing need.  Many of the action 
plan activities which will achieve these outcomes support low income households, 
amongst whom protected groups are often disproportionately represented.

9.4 Individual Impact Analysis will be undertaken for the supporting policies which will 
underpin the achievement of the Strategy as they are developed.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included in 

the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls

Delivery of Corporate Plan 
priorities for housing growth

The refreshed housing strategy and 
associated action plan provide the 
mechanism to facilitate and drive forward 

115



the development of a wide range of 
homes, while supporting wider 
opportunities for growth within the 
district.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are not considered to be any direct community safety implications arising from this 

strategy refresh.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None identified

13 Background Papers
13.1 Cabinet papers of 12th April 2018 (report HS6).

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 – Housing Strategy (2019-2023) Refresh (draft)

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

10 June 2019

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

16 January 2020

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  21 January 2020

116



2020-2024(draft)
Housing Strategy

117

Appendix 1



IT Strategy 2015 - 2017Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

2

Contents
Foreword 3
Vision 4
Achievements 6
Links to other strategies 7
A snapshot of South Kesteven 8

Our residents 8
Our homes 8
Our housing costs 10
Our economy and growth 10
Our health and wellbeing 12

Challenges 13
Delivering new homes 13
Ensuring quality housing 13
Providing choice for older and disabled people 15
Supporting housing need 15

Key outcomes 17
Theme 1: Help meet the housing needs of residents 17
Theme 2: Facilitate the delivery of new housing 18
Theme 3: Enable those whose independence may be  
at risk to access housing (including their current home)  
which meets their needs 19
Theme 4: Encourage, support and regulate the  
private sector to provide well managed, safe homes 20

Action plan 21-28
Monitoring outcomes 29
Contacts 29

Fr
on

t c
ov

er
 p

ic
: T

re
nt

 R
oa

d,
 G

ra
nt

ha
m

118



3

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

Foreword
South Kesteven is an attractive, prosperous and 
safe place to live, work and visit. Its rural areas are 
consistently rated as among the best in the county by 
the Halifax. Covering over 365 square miles, the district 
has four market towns and over 80 villages. 
 
People are attracted to the area because of its excellent 
access to the A1 and the East Coast Mainline (London 
is only an hour away), its relatively inexpensive housing 
- particularly outside Stamford - and high achieving 
schools. The district is a healthy place to live, with an 
active labour market and unemployment levels well 
below the East Midlands average. 

We have ambitious annual targets for housing delivery 
across the district, with plans underway to support the 
creation of Spitalgate Garden Village development near 
Grantham. This site is one of just fourteen locations 
selected by Government to access a £6 million fund 
to support the delivery of 3700 mixed tenure homes 
alongside a retail outlet village and business park 
creating 4000 new jobs and opportunities for companies 
to grow.

However, we have some significant housing challenges:  
some 22% of our population is aged over 65, and this is 
expected to grow to 31% by 2039; demand for homes 
continues, although housing is becoming gradually less 
affordable for many people; the quality of existing rental 
homes is often not good enough; there are pockets of 
deprivation, with some aspects more apparent in rural 
areas with limited access to services.

Since our previous housing strategy there have been a 
number of legislative and policy changes and it is now 
timely to review our position and establish new priorities 
to address the changing environment in which we are 
working.

Our Housing Strategy 2020-2024 is an overarching 
document which takes account of the main national and 
local issues that are likely to affect our district in the 
near future. It sets out our challenges and how we will 
address them, focusing on delivering outcomes across 
four core theme areas.  The actions needed to support 
this are detailed in our action plan.

Cllr Barry Dobson
Cabinet Member for Housing
South Kesteven District Council

119



 

4

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

Vision
At the heart of the strategy is the belief that homes 
are a fundamental part of our lives. Houses should be 
‘healthy’, good quality, sustainable and secure, providing 
the environment for people to thrive and achieve.  
Good housing in vibrant and attractive towns and 
villages supports a strong economy and helps create a 
community where people want to live, work and invest. 

To meet this vision, four themes areas have been 
identified and developed to help us to address the 
challenges and achieve the best possible housing 
outcomes. 

These are to:
1. Help meet the housing needs of residents 
2. Facilitate the delivery of new housing across a range 

of tenures 
3. Enable those whose independence may be at risk to 

access housing (including their current home) that 
meets their needs 

4. Encourage, support and regulate the private rental 
sector to provide well managed, safe homes.

120



 

5

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

Help meet the  
housing needs  
of residents

121



   

6

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

Achievements
Since the start of our previous Housing Strategy in 
2013 the economic climate has presented a range of 
challenges. Despite these challenges, a list of things 
have been achieved, including:

• 2,700 new homes delivered (net)
• 502 new affordable homes created
• 3,784 dwellings with planning consent (as at 31 

March 2017)
• Consulted on a new draft local plan with land 

allocations, representing a total of 17,000 new homes 
by 2036

• External wall insulation reto-fitted to 770 council 
homes 

• Improved the homes of 321 vulnerable  
owner - occupiers through grants

• Funded disabled adaptations to 356 private  
sector homes

• Helped 148 households to move from overcrowded 
housing

• Secured Central Government funding to support the 
Spitalgate Garden Village

• Obtained Land Fund Partner status for the 
Government’s Starter Homes Initiative.

122



   

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

7

Links to other strategies
The Housing Strategy works alongside existing Council 
plans, policies and strategies, providing a framework for 
the delivery of SKDC’s housing priorities. Where relevant, 
these documents will be reviewed to reflect the direction 
of our housing strategy, providing the mechanism to 
support the activities and deliver many of the outcomes 
detailed in our action plan.    

Importantly, the Council cannot deliver this strategy 
in isolation. While we have a central role, we need 
the support and co-operation of all those involved in 
building, providing and managing homes in the  
district to deliver the best outcomes for our residents. 

Corporate 
Strategy

Private Sector 
Housing
Policy

Medium Term 
Financial
Strategy

Allocations
Policy

Local Plan

Tenancy 
Strategy

HRA 
Business 

Plan

Homelessness
Strategy

Housing
Strategy

123



8

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

A snapshot of South Kesteven
Our residents
• South Kesteven has a population of around 140,190 

(2016 mid-year estimate)
• The population is predicted to increase by 14%, to 

162,400, by 2039
• 60% of our population is of working age, with an 

upward trend in the number of people who are  
65+ years

• Around 9% of our residents were born outside of  
the UK 

• Life expectancy is 84 years for women and 80  
for men 

• There are approximately 149 people per km2.  
The Lincolnshire average is of 125 people per km2 

• Households are becoming smaller, with 28% of 
households being single

• The average gross full-time pay earned by a person 
living in South Kesteven is £499 per week (2017)

• The number of people applying to SKDC as 
homeless, has risen by a third since 2010/11

• There are around 3,470 people on SKDC housing 
register, of which 23% have recognised housing need

• Levels of disability are increasing at the same rate as 
the rise in population. The vast proportion  
of disabled people live in unadapted housing. 

Our homes
• There are around 62,400 households in South 

Kesteven, expected to increase to over 71,000  
by 2037

• 67% of households own their own home, 20% rent 
privately and 13% live in a social housing (2017). The 
private rental sector has grown from 11% in 2009, 
while owner occupation has reduced by 9% 

• It is estimated that 15% of owner occupied and 18% 
of private rented properties have a serious hazard in 
the home

• Approximately 8% of private rented homes will be 
affected by minimum energy efficiency standards 
being introduced from 2018

• The rural nature of the district means that over 11,000 
homes (19%) are not connected to the mains gas 
network, reducing fuel choice and impacting on 
affordability

• 1% of homes in the district have been empty for more 
than six months

• More than 50% of those on our housing register are in 
need of one-bedroom accommodation

• The use of temporary accommodation is increasing 
due to the lack of affordable housing solutions locally.

124



9

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

G
ra

nt
ha

m
 C

an
al

 a
t W

oo
ls

th
or

pe
 b

y 
B

el
vo

ir

125



Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

Housing costs
• The median house sale price in South Kesteven in 

the year ending June 2017 was £191,000 (up from 
£153,748 in 2012). This is the highest in Lincolnshire. 
Sale prices ranged from around £263,000 for a 
detached house to £107,250 for a flat/maisonette 

• The median house price is 7.4 times the median 
(residence-based) gross earnings (2016). This 
ratio shows an upward trend and is the highest in 
Lincolnshire  

• The average monthly private rent in 2016-17 was 
£592. Rents vary across the district, with levels in 
Stamford typically higher than in Grantham 

• Around 11 percent of households are in fuel poverty 
according to the low income/high cost definition, with 
rural communities experiencing significantly higher 
concentrations 

• Residents are using the Help to Buy Equity Loan 
Scheme for new homes, with 503 completed between 
April 2013 and September 2017. Of these, 78% 
were first time buyers. This growth in demand from 
first time buyers is helping to stimulate the supply of  
housing.

Our economy and growth
• South Kesteven has a projected need for an 

additional 625 new homes per annum. 478 new 
homes were completed in 2016 -17, of which 28  
were classed as affordable

• Our draft Local Plan contains a projected target of 
between 680 and 720 dwellings per annum 

• There were 2,689 house sales in the district in the 
year ending June 2017. The majority were detached 
properties (45%), followed by semi-detached (26%), 
terraced (22%) and flats/maisonettes (7%) 

• The districts grammar schools and academies are 
high-performing, with over 70% of students achieving 
a 4-9 pass (9 being the top grade) in English and 
Maths GCSEs in 2016/17. However, only 30% of our 
residents are educated to degree level and above, 
lower than the regional and national average of 35%, 
reflecting elements of our local jobs market

• Employment levels are high, with the unemployment 
rate standing at 3.2% (October 2016 to September 
2017) in comparison with 4.5% nationally 

• Employment is forecast to grow by 16% during the 
period 2011 to 2036 

• In 2017 there were 5,920 enterprises in the district, 
a 6.5% increase on 2015. 98% of these enterprises 
have less than 50 employees. 

10 126



Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

11

Residents are using the 
Help to Buy Equity Loan 
Scheme for new homes.

127



Our health and wellbeing
• According to The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015, 

SK is one of the least deprived districts, ranking 233 
out of 326 

• The Grantham Earlesfield and Grantham Harrowby 
wards are the most deprived, while Stamford St. 
Johns was the least deprived area in the district 

• About 15% of children live in low income families. The 
Child Poverty Act 2010 set a target of 10% by 2020. 

• Over the period August 2013 – July 2016, 244 winter 
deaths occurred compared to the average number of 
non-winter deaths. This is not significantly different 
from the average across England

• Overall life expectancy is higher than the England 
average. However, life expectancy for men is 5.9 
years lower and for women 6 years lower in the 
most deprived areas of the district than in the least 
deprived area (2013-2015)

• 7,652 adults aged over 65 report having a long-term 
illness that limits day-to-day activities ‘a little’, while 
6,298 report this as ‘a lot’

• Fifteen percent of those with an evidenced need 
on the housing register are living in conditions 
considered to be ‘crowded’.

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

12 128



    

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

Challenges
The Government’s Housing White Paper ‘Fixing our broken 
housing market’, published in February 2017, represents a shift 
in Government policy focus towards a tenure neutral approach 
to increasing the speed and quantity of housing supply.  

SKDC is committed to improving the lives of our residents, 
alongside creating opportunities for growth and prosperity 
for businesses and local people. However, we recognise 
that to build on our successes we have challenges to 
overcome and need to work with our partners to achieve 
our goals.

Delivering new homes
Challenge Statement: There is a national shortage of new 
homes, which means that life choices are being reduced and 
opportunities to expand the economy are being missed. 

The forecast increase in local population and the 
Government target to build 200,000 homes nationally by 
2020 means that we will need a range of housing options 
which will support housing supply and economic growth.
While SKDC has a sufficient land supply, unlocking 
sites and working with developers to encourage the 
development of housing which meets the future needs of 
our residents will be a key part of our future role.  
As well as building more homes, it is important that we 
maximise the use of existing homes by working with 

landlords to bring empty homes back into use. As a 
stock retaining authority, South Kesteven District Council 
has 6,071 properties (as at 23 January 2018). Under-
occupation is a barrier to better utilisation, so we need 
to develop a better offer for people to enable them to 
downsize to homes that better meet their needs. 

Ensuring quality housing
Challenge Statement: Privately rented properties make up 
20% of the housing stock in South Kesteven. The sector is 
facing unprecedented changes in legislation that aims to 
raise standards and drive out ‘rogue’ landlords.

Poor housing conditions have a negative impact on health 
and wellbeing. While many people choose the private 
rented sector for its flexibility, others who would have 
previously purchased a home or rented social housing 
are increasingly relying on this option. This has the effect 
of increasing rents and shrinking the cheaper end of the 
market where people often accept poorer quality housing 
at a price they can afford. 

We will need to use new legislation and take timely action 
to continue to protect tenants and their families against 
‘rogue’ landlords and ensure that the energy efficiency of 
homes meets new minimum standards to enable them to 
continue to be rented and remain affordable. 

13129



Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

14

Providing choice  
for older people

130



Providing choice for older and disabled people
Challenge Statement: Life expectancy is increasing, but 
as people age they are increasingly likely to live with 
illness, disability and frailty and need additional support.

The ageing population puts an increased demand on 
a particular sector of the housing market, including 
specialist and supported housing. Increasing emphasis is 
therefore being placed on re-designing service offers from 
health, social care and support and adaptation services 
to help residents remain in their own home and to live 
independently or move to more suitable accommodation. 
Many are keen to move to more suitable homes, but there 
appears to be a shortage of accommodation that meets 
people’s needs and expectations. Traditional ‘sheltered 
housing’ offered by social housing landlords does not 
appeal to everyone, while the market for ‘new generation’ 
retirement homes is proving relatively slow to develop in 
South Kesteven.

Supporting housing need
Challenge Statement: It is becoming increasingly 
difficult to source and secure affordable accommodation 
that meets the needs of people on lower or insecure 
incomes, and for those households to sustain that 
accommodation. 

The Welfare Reform Act 2012 has introduced numerous 
changes that affect the income people receive, meaning 
that more households are experiencing difficulties in 
meeting their housing costs. The majority of people under 
35 living in private rented accommodation can only receive 
Local Housing Allowance (LHA) for a room in a shared 
property. In addition to this, the ‘benefit cap’ will reduce the 
maximum amount a non-working, non-disabled household 
can receive in state benefits to £20,000 per year (£13,400 
for single adults). The lack of shared accommodation in the 
district, combined with these changes, will affect the ability 
of these households to find affordable accommodation and 
pay rent.

The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 introduces new duties 
on local authorities from April 2018 to assess, prevent 
and relieve homelessness. Intervening early before a crisis 
occurs is a key focus and will require partnership working 

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

15131



Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

to enable specific targeted work to effectively support 
those who we anticipate will face difficulties. This will have 
a considerable impact on our work.

The Government’s proposed funding model for supported 
housing, which leaves funding for housing costs in long-
term and sheltered housing services in the benefits system, 
provides a more sustainable future for supported housing.

The Government remains committed to the ongoing 
removal of the spare bedroom subsidy and is considering 
applying the same approach to those of pensionable age 
who were previously exempt. 

Initial work with the NHS and other statutory partners 
has begun to clarify the need for a range of affordable 
housing to be provided across the district as an alternative 
to hospital or residential care. We also need to better 
understand the requirements for people with learning 
disabilities, those with mental health issues or physical 
health needs. 

16 132



17

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

These challenges provide a number of opportunities for us to work with partners to achieve the best possible housing 
outcomes across our district.

From the work undertaken by councillors, four main themes with associated outcomes have been developed and will be 
our focus over the next four years.

Key outcomes

Theme 1:  Help to meet the housing needs of residents

Key outcomes

1.1 The impact of the Council’s future investment in affordable housing is maximised through the  
use of traditional, off-site and modular construction options

1.2 The continued delivery of Council housing to help meet social housing needs

1.3 Energy-efficient social and affordable housing which helps to reduce fuel poverty

1.4 Increased housing options to those on lower incomes

1.5

Successful lobbying of central Government on future policy development for the affordable  
housing sector to maximise resources available for future investment, including: the relaxation of 
current restrictions affecting the ability of local authorities to borrow money; the ways in which it 
can be spent, and the retention of a negotiated quota on new developments through s106 of the 
Planning Act as this is the principal contributor to new stock

1.6 Provide the conditions for Tenant Involvement

1.7 Improve Housing Services & Options

1.8 Regenerate our priority neighbourhoods

1.9 Energy Efficiency- Tackling Fuel Poverty/Climate Change in new developments and current Housing

133



18

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Theme 2: Facilitate the delivery of new housing across a range of tenures

Key outcomes

2.1 The development of high quality, sustainable housing that reflects the character and increases the 
desirability of South Kesteven as a place in which to live

2.2 The up-front delivery of essential infrastructure on key development sites

2.3 Support for Government initiatives to encourage developers to bring forward housing delivery 
where house builders are not delivering quickly enough

2.4 Planning processes that encourage land owners and developers to bring potential housing sites  
to the market with the required infrastructure in place

2.5 The best use is made of existing property and land that can be converted to housing quickly

2.6 The development of a skilled workforce that can meet the housing delivery needs of the district

2.7 Disaggregation of large housing sites to enable smaller developers to deliver at pace

2.8 A sustainable rental market that is a genuine, affordable alternative to home ownership

2.9
A tailored approach to housing delivery: Bourne, Market Deeping, Stamford, Grantham and the 
rural areas have very different markets and these may require different approaches to housing 
delivery

134



19

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Theme 3:  Enable those whose independence may be at risk to access 
housing (including their current home) that meets their needs

Key outcomes

3.1 Households can access accommodation that meets their current needs and if their needs change 
move to more suitable properties

3.2 People can live independently, with appropriate support that can be called on when required

3.3 Appropriate provision of high-quality, skilled carers who are able to support independent living

3.4 The provision of suitable and affordable places in care homes

3.5 Clarity on the range of affordable housing required across the district to meet the needs of people 
with physical disabilities, learning disabilities and mental health problems

3.6 Supporting Housing Independence for Older People and other Vulnerable  
Groups - remodelling & technology

135



20

Housing strategy 2020 - 2024

Theme 4: Encourage, support and regulate the private sector to provide well 
managed, safe homes

Key outcomes

4.1 Fully-informed landlords and letting agents who know what they have to do to improve the quality 
of their properties

4.2 Improvement in the private rental sector, but without creating so much pressure that  
tenants are forced out of the sector

4.3 Protection for tenants who often have no choice but to settle for lower-quality rental property

4.4 Improved engagement with the sector to enable access for people who are on low incomes, in 
receipt of benefits or under 35 years old

136



21

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Theme 1:  Help meet the housing needs of residents

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Making best use of  
existing buildings, creat-
ing quality places

T1.1
Explore opportunities to 
develop new temporary 
accommodation

1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 2.5 Short/Medium
Yr1 - Yr3

Director  
Growth 

Assistant  
Director HousingT1.2

Encourage high streets 
to be  interspersed  with 
residential units

Right home, right size, 
right price

T1.3

Consider making small 
plots of SKDC land  
available to smaller  
builders/self-builders

1.2, 2.5, 2.7, 2.9 Yr1

Director   
Growth 

T1.4

Ensure access is  
available to appropriate 
data to inform decisions on 
need and the types of units 
required

Affordable housing T1.5

Consider the development 
of bedsit accommodation 
particularly for the under 
35s

1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 4.4 Yr1 - Yr3
Assistant  
Director Housing

Action plan

137



22

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Partnerships

T1.7

Work with partners to 
develop schemes to 
address overcrowding and 
under-occupancy

1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 
2.8, 2.9, 4.4 Yr1

Assistant 
Director 
Housing 

T1.8

Work with other partners 
to ensure that residents 
can rent or buy affordable 
housing

T1.9

Consider alternative 
approaches to the delivery 
of affordable housing 
in order to ensure that 
developments can be 
brought forward

Incentives T1.10

Incentivise private 
landlords to encourage 
provision of housing to 
meet identified housing 
need

1.3, 1.4, 4.2 Yr 2

Assistant 
Director Housing

Assistant 
Director 
Commercial 
Services

Helping and encouraging 
people to remain in their 
homes

T1.11
Develop schemes which 
enable tenants to sustain 
their tenancies

1.4, 4.4 Yr 1 Assistant 
Director Housing

Lobbying T1.12

Lobby the Government to: 
relax current restrictions 
affecting the ability of 
local authorities to borrow 
money, abolish the ‘Right 
to Buy’ and the retention of 
a negotiated quota on new 
developments

1.5 Ongoing Assistant 
Director Housing

138



23

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Theme 2: Facilitatate the delivery of new housing across 
a range of tenures

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Making best use of  
existing land and  
buildings

T2.1 Acquire land for housing 
delivery

1.2, 1.4, 2.1, 
2.2, 2.5, 2.8 Yr1 - Yr3

Assistant 
Director 
of Housing

T2.2
Ensure an adequate supply of 
housing is bought forward on 
land owned by the Council

T2.3
Maximise opportunities for 
publicly-owned property to be 
utilised

Making it happen:  
planning

T2.5

Develop a new approach for 
planning applicants to ensure 
the greatest possible  
certainty from the earliest 
possible opportunity on the 
approvability and deliverability 
of their scheme, including  
input from statutory  
consultees to agreed  
timescales and from officers 
who are empowered to make 
decisions

2.1, 2.4, 2.5, 
2.7, 2.9 Yr1 - Yr3 Director  

Growth

T2.6

Follow-through the relaxation 
of planning policies to  
encourage development in 
villages, as proposed in the 
new draft Local Plan

T2.7

Provide additional briefings 
and training for Development 
Management Committee 
Members

139



24

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Partnerships and 
engagement

T2.8
Agreeing with developers what 
needs to be built in order for a 
development to be viable

2.1, 2.2, 2.4, 
2.7, 2.9 Ongoing

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

T2.9

Explore potential benefits 
of joint ventures with local 
builders, developers and 
investors to deliver more 
housing more quickly

T2.10

Agree a framework of key 
partners and stakeholders 
who are tasked with speeding 
up delivery

Council support for 
house building

T2.11
Optimise the use of Council- 
owned assets, including 
targeted remodelling

1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 
1.4, 2.1, 2.2, 
2.6, 2.8, 2.9, 
3.1

Ongoing
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

T2.12 Continue to build more 
Council houses

T2.13
Consider the role for the 
Council as a funder/investor in 
housing developments

T2.14

Consider, and then market, 
the quality of life available to 
current and future residents 
of South Kesteven, including 
work, play and home

T2.15

Explore the use of prefab and 
modular build methods, and 
the Council’s role in enabling 
this approach

140



25

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

High quality design: 
internal and external

T2.16

Promote the Spitalgate 
Garden Village as an exemplar 
for architectural and urban 
design

2.1, 2.9 Yr1/Yr5
   
Director  
GrowthT2.17

Follow through the policy 
to produce a Design 
Supplementary Planning 
Document

T2.18 Encourage community build 
schemes

Rural affordability T2.19
Encourage the delivery of 
affordable housing in rural 
areas that is near to services

1.4, 2.1, 2.8, 
2.9 Yr1 - Yr3 Director  

Growth

Construction skills

T2.20
SKDC to develop houses and 
housing sites through its own 
company

1.1, 2.1, 2.6, 
2.8, 2.9 Ongoing

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

T2.21

Work with colleges so that 
young people learn the skills 
necessary for building new 
housing

141



26

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Theme 3: Enable those whose independence may be at risk to 
access housing (including their current home) that meets their needs

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Specialist Housing

T3.1

Explore options for providing 
sheltered/extra care housing in 
areas of identified need and in 
close proximity to local services

2.9, 3.1, 3.2, 
3.4, 3.5 Yr1 - Yr3

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

T3.2

Work with other statutory  
partnerships to clarify the need 
for a range of affordable  
housing to be provided across 
the district to meet needs of 
people with learning disabilities, 
mental health issues and those 
with physical disabilities

Creating quality  
places and homes T3.4

Encourage the creation of high 
quality accommodation for the 
elderly which will not be seen 
as a ‘step down’ from their large 
family home

2.9, 3.1, 3.2 Yr1 - Yr4
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Planning policy T3.5

Consider the benefits of de-
veloping a local policy around 
the construction of annexes to 
family homes

3.1, 3.2, 3.5 Short/Medium Director  
Growth

142



27

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Skills

T3.6
Work with the County Council to 
support training opportunities for 
carers

3.2, 3.3 Yr2 - Yr4
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

T3.7

Support workforce development 
to enable residents to maximise 
the opportunities available from 
assistive technology

Incentives T3.8

Consider incentives to  
encourage residents to move 
to homes that better suit their 
ongoing needs or free up larger 
housing

3.1 Yr1
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Lobbying T3.9
Lobby Government to ensure a 
sustainable future for sheltered 
and supported housing

3.2, 3.2, 3.4 Ongoing
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

143



28

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Activity Actions Contributes to 
Outcomes Action Period Responsible 

Lead(s)

Local letting agency T4.1

Explore opportunities for a  
Council run ‘local lettings 
agency’ providing a letting  
service supporting local landlords

1.4, 2.8, 4.1, 
4.2 Yr1

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Incentives and 
support for good 
landlords

T4.2 Increase engagement with  
landlords and letting agents

1.4, 2.8, 4.1, 
4.2, 4.3, 4.4 Yr1 - Yr4

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Assistant  
Director  
Commercial 
Services

T4.3

Expand the private rented sector 
property leasing scheme,  
providing a guaranteed income 
(to landlords) and quality  
accommodation (for residents)

T4.4
Review the range of financial  
incentives available to the  
private rented sector

4.2, 4.3 Yr1 - Yr4

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Assistant  
Director  
Commercial 
Services

Standards and  
enforcement T4.5

Review the housing enforce-
ment policy to reflect new civil 
penalties legislation and ensure 
we can tackle ‘rogue landlords’ 
effectively

4.1, 4.2, 4.3 Yr1 - Yr3

Assistant  
Director  
Commercial 
Services

SKDC increasing 
rented 
sector stock T4.6

Continue to build Council  
housing to relieve pressure  
on the private rented sector

1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 
2.8, 4.2, 4.4 Yr1 - Yr5

Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Lobbying T4.7

Lobby the Government to 
introduce a cap on rent fees/ 
increases
Lobby Government to restrict 
the amount of deposit payable

2.8, 4.2, 4.3 Ongoing
Assistant  
Director  
Housing

Theme 4: Encourage, support and regulate the private sector  
to provide well managed, safe homes

144



29

Housing Strategy 2020 - 2024

Contacts
Harrinder Rai, Interim Strategic Director, Growth
harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk  
01476 406299

Our strategy sets out how we intend to deliver outcomes over the next four years and will be regularly monitored by the 
Cabinet Member for Housing. Progress will be reported annually to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees where 
achievements, progress and any future challenges will be reviewed. 

While we have specified action periods for each outcome in our action plan, the delivery of the activities will be planned 
annually and regularly updated. It is intended that our Action Plan will allow us to be flexible so that we can react to 
national and local changes, continue with actions and start new actions when appropriate over the course of the strategy.

Monitoring outcomes

145



South Kesteven is an 
attractive, prosperous 
and safe place to live, 
work and visit.

02
49

0R
T_

1.
20

146



Cabinet
21 January 2020

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke

The Leader of the Council

        

Collaboration Agreement relating to Saint Martin’s 
Park, Stamford.
Collaboration Agreement with Burghley Land Limited (Burghley) relating to land at Barnack Road, 
Stamford.

Report Author

Jane McDaid, Assistant Director of Growth

 07970 895970

  Jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key Stamford St Mary's

Reviewed by: Harry Rai Interim Strategic Director, Growth 6 January 2020

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 10 January 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Cooke, the Leader of the Council 13 January 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Recommends to Cabinet
To enter into a contractual Collaboration Agreement with Burghley Land Limited 
as set out in the Heads of Terms relating to land at Barnack Road, Stamford to 
bring forward the redevelopment of circa 35 acres of land for commercial, 
residential and retirement uses on a 50/50 shared development cost and profit 
basis.

2. Delegates to the Cabinet Member for Growth in consultation with the Director for 
Growth, the Chair of Companies Committee and the Monitoring Officer to sign and 

147

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


complete the contractual agreement required to implement the recommendation 
above, based on the approved Heads of Terms.

1. The Background to the Report
1.1 The Council purchased land at Barnack Road, Stamford in March 2019 which adjoins 

approx. 20 acres of farm land owned by Burghley Land Limited (Burghley), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Burghley House Preservation Trust. The land was purchased by the 
Council as being strategically important to the Councils growth ambitions in Stamford and 
the Cabinet Minute PD0095 refers.  

1.2 These adjacent land holdings on Barnack Road, Stamford, now known as St Martin’s 
Park, are shown edged red on the attached plan (Appendix A). The sites extend to 
approximately 14.429 hectares (35.65 acres) and can be promoted for a mixed-use 
development including commercial, residential and retirement homes along with 
associated public open space, car parking, retail and infrastructure, subject to planning 
consent. 

1.3 The Council has been in discussion with Burghley since its purchase of the Cummins site, 
and those discussions have led to the current proposal. Burghley have proved a very 
positive and professional proposed partner. The objectives and purpose of the two 
organisations are very closely aligned which ensures the long-term view in relation to 
design and quality is built into the partnership ethos from day one. There has been full 
agreement on the joint appointment of master planners and the necessary development 
team required to bring forward a scheme at pace. 

1.4 The primary objective of the landowners would be to create space for a minimum of 500 
jobs as part of a mixed-use development (comprising residential, commercial and 
retirement uses along with associated public open space and infrastructure). This will 
result in high-quality development that will enhance the economy of Stamford; providing 
new jobs and varied living accommodation to meet the needs of the local economy and 
residents as well as improving and protecting the setting of Burghley House and its 
grounds. Burghley have an ambition to provide commercial business space on the site in 
their own right which, subject to agreement of terms, would mean they invest funds in 
these uses to provide a supply of modern business space to the district.

1.5 The parties believe that working together and treating both sites as a single development 
opportunity will maximise the value and uses of both sites. The parties are working 
towards soft market testing the project in early 2020 with a view to submitting an outline 
planning application in mid 2020. For this reason, it is proposed that the Council enters 
into a contractual Collaboration Agreement with Burghley, as set out in the agreed Heads 
of Terms (see Appendix B and Appendix C (plan)).

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Companies Committee will be asked to consider the proposal in detail on the 4th 

February 2020. 

3 Available Options Considered
Option 1 – Bring forward development or dispose of the Council site in isolation. 

3.1 There are substantial vacant holding costs including rates and security, plus the cost of 
debt. The buildings are old and not fit for purpose and the occupier demand for second-

148



hand industrial and office space in this location is very weak. Capital would be required to 
upgrade and partition both the offices and industrial units which is not economically viable 
over the short to medium term. 

3.2 The land could be sold on the open market with residential ‘hope value’ with a view to 
recouping the Council’s investment. If restrictive covenants were placed on the land to 
ensure the future commercial use of all or part of the site, the sale proceeds would be 
substantially restricted and there would be no ability to ensure development took place. 
The Council could consider seeking a planning consent for a development scheme on the 
site alone prior to sale, either by itself or finding a funding partner, if required, to share cost 
and risk. Any sale of the site could be conditional on the planning consent being 
implemented, such an arrangement would reduce the price achieved price and leave 
substantial risk with the Council over a long period. 

3.3 To bring forward development that at least replaces the number of jobs lost when the last 
company using the site closed, approximately 50% of the site would need be put to 
commercial use. The remainder could be developed as residential or retirement use 
subject to planning. The ability to create a commercial and business orientated sense of 
place and identity is limited on a mixed-use site of this size, and this would be reflected in 
lower commercial rates per acre and would influence the achievable residential land 
prices.

3.4 Holding costs, masterplanning, planning and site investigation fees, any infrastructure 
requirements and exit costs and risk will all fall to the Council over a 3 to 10-year period, 
depending on exit strategy and market conditions. As with all development, obtaining 
planning permission is a risk and the developer carries the burden of holding a site over 
what can be a protracted period during which local or government policies can change.

3.5 Planning could be sought for an entirely residential scheme which would have the ability to 
be of good quality and achieve good rates per acre, however, planning for a full residential 
scheme will take time and resource, would likely need to be won at appeal and even then 
may fail, as the site is brownfield industrial with an expectation that commercial activity will 
remain its main use and would be a departure from the Council’s reasons for investing in 
the site.

3.6 A fully commercial scheme could be sought which would likely receive planning support 
however 15 acres of commercial supply in this location would far outstrip the current 
demand and likely result in a very long period of development as take-up slowly came 
forward over the next 10 years plus. The viability of such a scheme could also be very 
difficult with rents and land rates being challenging, plus the cost of holding the scheme 
over a protracted period. 

Option 2 - Bring forward the Council’s land for development in a collaboration partnership 
with the adjacent landowner (the preferred option)

3.7 The inherent risk and reward profile and planning risk outlined above remain pertinent. A 
partnership with Burghley who are the land owner on 3 sides of the site, removes all risk of 
objections from this major adjacent land owner and takes account of the historic setting of 
Burghley House. It promotes a scaled mixed-use development with both a residential and 
commercial/business orientated sense of place and identity which should attract premium 
exit prices to underpin the commercial land uses required by both parties. 

149



3.8 A masterplan would be developed irrespective of ownership, over the joined site. Both 
owners would have an equal say and control over design, development and exit strategy. 
All costs and profits at exit would be shared equally. This joint approach would bring 
forward a coherent development for the town, whilst delivering outcomes that each party 
wishes to see from its land. 

If this route is pursued, it is likely that approximately 80% of the site could be conditionally 
sold within 18 to 24 months subject to planning consent.

Option 3 - An interest in the project is granted to DeliverSK (dSK) 

3.8 DSK becoming involved in bringing forward this site remains possible but cannot be 
considered fully at the present time as dSK is not yet incorporated as a company. There is 
potential for the site to be transferred into dSK in the future, along with an assignment to 
dSK of the Collaboration Agreement, so that dSK would take the place of the Council in 
the Collaboration Agreement. As this is an option for future consideration, the proposal 
would be brought back with a full financial appraisal of the benefits of such an assignment 
into dSK.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 Following the analysis of the options considered above, it is recommended that the 

Council proceeds with Option 2 and enters into a contractual Collaboration Agreement 
with Burghley. 

4.2 The Collaboration Agreement sets out the contractual obligations of both parties, with the 
key issues being: 

4.3 Control of the partnership is 50/50, meaning that the Council would have an equal say in 
the design of the project, the mix of uses proposed, and the ultimate exit strategy;

4.4 The agreement would be for a term of 5 years with appropriate breach and early 
termination provisions.

4.5 The partners will agree all appointments, an exit strategy and the optimal outline planning 
application via Project Plans approved by the Project Board.

4.6 The development costs and profits will be shared equally. 

4.7 Control is via a Project Board with proposed representatives from Burghley (Trustees) and 
the Council (Leader and CEO) and an Executive Team of officers represented by each 
partner

4.8 Once the Project Plan is agreed, which sets out the design, planning application and exit 
strategy, the two partners are locked in to delivering the outcomes that have been agreed. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The Council would be instrumental in bringing forward large-scale commercial, residential 

and retirement regeneration for the benefit of the Town and District with a reduced budget 
risk, whilst sharing control, planning and development risk and reward.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The contractual documents will be entered once in their final agreed form and subject to 

Companies Committee scrutiny.

150



7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There is currently a holding cost associated with this asset and the Council has a stated 

ambition to realise the full potential of the site and deliver a development that meets the 
primary objectives of the initial purchase.  The opportunity to work collaboratively with an 
adjoining landowner will maximise the full potential of the development and ensure the 
financial inputs, risks and rewards are shared on an equitable basis.  Working in 
collaboration will also ensure there is maintained focus and momentum on delivery of the 
outcomes and ensure the Council realises the capital investment.  The capital receipts can 
then be utilised for funding other capital investments thereby negating the need for 
incurring external borrowing costs.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The Collaboration Agreement is a mechanism by which the Council and Burghley can 

agree a Project Plan for their combined sites, in which the Council will have an equal 
influence on this key site in Stamford. If the parties are unable to agree a Project Plan, 
then they would be able to develop their respective sites alone, and the Collaboration 
Agreement would fall away. The Council is therefore not committed to doing anything 
other than to commit to working together to develop a mutually beneficial scheme. This 
collaborative approach is designed to ensure that the outcomes for the site are optimised 
for both parties, and as such it is to be welcomed. Specialist commercial property legal 
advice is being sought on the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, to ensure all the 
Council’s legal interests are protected. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 None

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Development carries inherent risk which will be managed by the Project Board and the 

Executive Team which form the management of the Collaboration Agreement. 

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 None

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None

13 Background Papers
13.1 Key Decision Acquisition of Land in South Kesteven 6th September 2018 PD0095

14 Appendices
14.1 Plan of site – Appendix A

14.2 Heads of Terms for a Collaboration Agreement – Appendices B and C

151



Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

1 September 2019

Previously Considered by: Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  5 February 2020

152



153

A
ppendix A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Property: St Martin’s Park, Barnack Road, Stamford
Date:
Version:

2 January 2020
FINAL

Page 1 of 8
DISCLAIMER
Please note that Bidwells does not accept any responsibility to solicitors or any third party for comments made or opinions given on documents prepared by solicitors.

HEADS OF TERMS FOR A COLLABORATION AGREEMENT 
(SUBJECT TO CONTRACT) 

Overview

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) acquired in early 2019 land and buildings known as the “Cummins” factory which 
has previously provided employment for up to 500 people.  Burghley House Preservation Trust (BHPT) own land adjacent 
to this site which has an extant consent for employment uses. BHPT as a Charity need to transfer the land to Burghley 
Land Limited (BLL) a wholly owned subsidiary of BHPT for the development to proceed.

These adjacent land holdings to the north of Barnack Road, Stamford (the Property), now known as St Martin’s Park, as 
shown edged red and blue on the attached plan extends to approximately 14.429 hectares (35.65 acres) and in total is 
to be promoted for a mixed-use development including commercial, residential and retirement along with associated 
public open space, car parking, retail and infrastructure.    

These Heads of Terms are the agreed terms for a Collaboration Agreement between the Landowners for the master 
planning, promotion and disposal of the Property and they are subject to the satisfactory completion of an agreed Project 
Plan.

1 Property

1.1 The freehold of the Property is owned by the following Landowners:

1.2 South Kesteven District Council - 6.208 hectares (15.34 acres) – shaded red on the Plan

1.3 Burghley House Preservation Trust - 8.221 hectares (20.31 acres) and 0.221 hectares (0.55 acres) – shaded 
blue and orange on the attached Plan.

2 Landowners

2.1 South Kesteven District Council (SKDC)

St Peter’s Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ

Contact: Jane McDaid (Assistant Director of Growth)
Email: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

2.2 Burghley House Preservation Trust (BHPT) and Burghley Land Limited (BLL) 

Burghley Estate Office
61 St Martins
Stamford
PE19 2LQ

155

Appendix B



Page 2 of 8

Contact: David Pennell, Estates Director
Email: david.pennell@burghleyestate.co.uk

3 Landowners Solicitors

SKDC 

Pinsent Masons
1 Park Row
Leeds
LS1 5AB

BHPT and BLL

Farrer & Co
66 Lincoln’s Inn Fields
London
WC2A 3LH

Contact Anne Bowden Paul Krafft
Telephone: 0113 2945297 0203 375 7442
Email: anne-bowden@pinsentmasons.com paul.krafft@farrer.co.uk

4 Landowners Agents

SKDC

Lambert Smith Hampton
1 Oakwood Road
Doddington Road
Lincoln
LN6 3LH

BHPT and BLL

Bidwells
Bidwell House
Trumpington Road
Cambridge
CB2 9LD

Contact Sam Elkington Mark Buddle
Telephone: 07887 774155 07834 943497
Email: selkington@lsh.co.uk mark.buddle@bidwells.co.uk

5 Primary Objective

5.1 The Primary Objective of the Landowners is to create space for a minimum of 500 jobs on the Property through 
the grant of a Satisfactory Planning Permission for a mixed-use development (comprising residential, commercial 
and retirement uses along with associated public open space and infrastructure) that will result in the high-quality 
Proposed Development on the Property that will enhance and preserve the economy of Stamford providing new 
jobs and varied living accommodation to meet the needs of the local economy and residents as well as improving 
and protecting the setting of Burghley House and its grounds.

6 Development Costs and Profit 

6.1 The Landowners agree to fund the approved costs 50/50 with each instruction being in joint names and cost 
being invoiced to each Landowner on a 50/50 basis which they undertake to pay promptly.

6.2 The Landowners agree that the proceeds of disposal will be settled 50/50 

6.3 The Landowners agree that a Development Costs Account will be maintained by each Party, fully referenced with 
copy invoices, receipts, instructions and contracts.

6.4 Infrastructure costs, if any will be discussed and approved in a Project Plan as and when required. 

7 Project Plans

7.1 The Landowners will work to create and approve Project Plans to achieve the Primary Objective, and shall include 
but not be limited to;

156

mailto:paul.krafft@farrer.co.uk


Page 3 of 8

7.2 A Planning Strategy based on an approved Masterplan for a high-quality mixed-use development to achieve a 
Satisfactory Planning Permission for the redevelopment of the Property by obtaining an outline planning 
permission.

7.3 A Disposal Strategy to allow for the individual uses that will be permitted as part of the Satisfactory Planning 
Permission to either be disposed of on a subject to planning basis to third party developers or to be retained by 
both, or either, of the Landowners 

7.4 A critical time path and programme for the project.

7.5 A future Estates Management Strategy for infrastructure elements and common parts.

7.6 A communication and Marketing Strategy for St Martins Park.

7.7 The Project Plans may be reviewed periodically by the Project Board.

8 Landowners Requirements

8.1 The Planning Strategy and Disposal Strategy shall have due regard to the following Landowners Requirements:

8.2 The Landowners will have joint input and control over the design of the masterplan in order to achieve the Primary 
Objective.

8.3 The Landowners will follow a Best Sales Process within the Disposal Strategy.

8.4 The Landowners will each be able to acquire an investment interest in the development at open market value, to 
secure future income. This could potentially be achieved through both residential and commercial development.

9 Restrictions on Each Party’s Title

9.1 Each Landowner will agree to appropriate restrictions on the registered title to each other in respect of the land 
they own within the Property.

9.2 By removing these restrictions at the point of each land disposal, each Landowner will receive its share of the 
Sale Proceeds when each parcel of land is sold (whether as one or individually).

10 Undertakings

10.1 Both SKDC and BHPT undertake with each other that in respect of the Property:

10.2 No Landowner will create any material encumbrance that will affect the Property. 

10.3 Neither Landowner shall do anything with or on their respective land that could fetter the planning promotion of 
the whole of the Property coming forward as a comprehensive redevelopment proposal.

10.4 During the existence of this Agreement, neither party shall sale or enter into any option, promotion or lease 
agreements on its part of the Property that could fetter the ability to either obtain a Satisfactory Planning 
Permission or to dispose of all or any part of the Property.

10.5 Neither Landowner can assign its interest in the Collaboration Agreement, save for SKDC’s ability to assign the 
Agreement to a 50/50 owned subsidiary company. 

10.6 The Landowners will each declare in writing to the Landowners’ solicitors before the date of this agreement any 
past disputes, contamination, easements, rights of way, leases, tenancies, covenants, options or other 
encumbrances which would or might materially adversely affect the full implementation of the provision of the 
agreement or which might materially reduce the value of the Property.

157



Page 4 of 8

10.7 Each Landowner will deliver vacant possession of their land, at their respective costs, as soon as possible after 
the date of the Satisfactory Planning Permission but nevertheless within three months as a longstop date.

10.8 The Landowners shall permit entry to those parts of the Property respectively owned by them at all reasonable 
times on reasonable notice for the purpose of carrying out any soil or other investigations or survey on terms that 
the party so entering causes as little damage as possible and makes good all damaged caused. 

10.9 The Landowners agree to co-operate to minimise the impact of tax (where applicable).

10.10 Any title matters on either part of the Property will be the responsibility of the respective Landowner to resolve 
and any cost implications will be incurred by the relevant Landowner and will not be a shared cost.

10.11 It is understood that SKDC may have an overage provision as part of the acquisition of its part of the Property. 
SKDC accept that it will be responsible for any payments due to the previous landowner and that these payments 
will not be passed onto any purchaser of the Property (nor will they become a shared cost).  

11 Landowners’ Development Costs and Costs excluded from Development Costs

11.1 Any clean-up costs associated with any contamination on respective landownerships will be borne solely by that 
owner.  

11.2 Holding costs - Any management costs including but not limited to; empty rates, security, insurance and all other 
associated costs in respect of its site will be the responsibility of the individual landowner.

11.3 SKDC acknowledge that any ongoing environmental liability to the former owners that it accepted as part of the 
acquisition of its part of the Property will not be passed on to any purchaser when the Property is sold following 
the grant of a Satisfactory Planning Permission. 

12 Project Board and Executive Team

A Project Board shall be constituted with agreed terms of reference. The Board will comprise of: 

12.1 The Board will comprise

12.1.1 2 SKDC representatives – Leader and Chief Executive

12.1.2 2 BHPT Trustees – Chair and one other Director/Governor

12.2 An Executive Team shall be constituted with agreed terms of reference and delegation and will comprise

12.2.1 1 BHPT representative – David Pennell

12.2.2 1 SKDC representative – Jane McDaid

12.3 Decisions taken by the Project Board will require unanimous approval and a quorum will be 1 member of the 
Board from each Landowner.

12.4 The Executive Team will be responsible for the preparation of the Project Plan and any proposed future 
amendments for review and approval by the Project Board.

12.5 Once approved, the Project Plan will be adopted and form part of the Collaboration Agreement, and the Executive 
Team charged with its implementation. Further Project Plans can be brought forward for approval if required.

12.6 The Council will ensure that any decisions to be taken by the Project Board that require Council governance, are 
taken with the benefit of Council governance. Enough time will need to be allowed to ensure that this can take 
place.

158



Page 5 of 8

12.7 All public statements, releases and announcements in respect of the Property or the project are to be approved 
by the Project Board

12.8 The Project Board will attend regular meetings with the Executive Team and all Project Board Meetings will be 
on a quarterly basis.

13 Satisfactory Planning Permission

13.1 Satisfactory Planning Permission means an outline planning permission granted on the Property which achieves 
the Primary Objective and is free from challenge.

14 Planning Agreements

14.1 The Landowners will be required to enter into any planning agreements required for the Satisfactory Planning 
Permission, provided that these:

14.2 relate only to the extent of the Property and any land required for highways works comprised within the planning 
application area.

14.3 are only enforceable following the commencement of the development (other than payment of council legal fees);

14.4 has been approved by the Landowners (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and does not 
require the Landowners to expend any money prior to the sale of the Property; and subject to:

14.5 the relevant planning agreement containing terms which either release the Landowners from all liabilities, 
obligations, restrictions and conditions under the planning agreement once it has parted with its interest in the 
Property or the Landowners are indemnified in respect of any such liabilities, obligations, restrictions under the 
planning agreement from which it is not so released once it has parted with its interest in the Property.

14.6 It is proposed that any sale contract to a purchaser will include provision for the purchaser to pay any associated 
costs incurred by the Landowners (i.e. Landowners Solicitor fees in auditing the planning agreement).

14.7 The Landowners will use reasonable endeavours to ensure that any planning agreement contains appropriate 
phasing provisions to pervert liability being triggered with respect to land falling outstanding any phase being 
developed, where applicable.

15 Net Sales Proceeds

15.1 The Net Sales Proceeds will be calculated as follows:

15.2 Net Sales Proceeds = Gross Sales Proceeds – Sales and Marketing Costs – Legal Costs of Sale 

16 Distribution of Net Sales Proceeds

16.1 The Landowners shall jointly appoint a solicitor (the ‘Lead Solicitor’) to act on behalf of the Landowners in 
connection with the disposal of the Property benefitting from a Satisfactory Planning Permission and the 
Landowners shall authorise the solicitor on receipt of Gross Sales Proceeds following a sale to:

16.2 Pay the Landowners’ Agents and sales solicitor their respective fees (plus VAT) in connection with the sale

16.3 Pay the balance of the Net Sales Proceeds to the Landowners on a 50/50 basis. 

159



Page 6 of 8

17 Term

17.1 The Term means an initial period of 5 years from the date of the Agreement and can be extended by mutual 
agreement of the Landowners.

17.2 Once a Satisfactory Planning Permission has been obtained, the Agreement will remain enforceable beyond the 
initial 5 year period until all the Property is sold and all obligations under the sale contracts have been resolved. 

18 Dispute Mechanisms

18.1 Deadlock

The Project Board can vote 3 times on any matter. If they cannot resolve the issue the following happens:

a) If the Planning Application has been submitted, conditional sales executed, and Project Plan approved then 
the default position is the Landowners must complete the Project Plan.

b) if the Planning Application has not been submitted, no conditional sales executed, and the Project Plan not 
approved then automatic notice will have been deemed to have been served to terminate the Collaboration 
Agreement 3 months later and each Landowner must pay their 50% share of the Development Costs.  The Project 
Board vote 3 times on 3 separate occasions, if no consensus on the third vote then if the conditions in a) are 
pertinent then the PP must be played out to its conclusion. If in b) then the agreement falls 3 months after the 
last inconclusive vote. The 3 months gives a cooling off period where the parties can come to an agreement if 
they chose but during that 3 months affairs are put in order and invoices sorted so that at the end of the 3 months 
the agreement comes to an end.

18.2 Material Breach

If either Landowner is in material breach of the obligations within the Collaboration Agreement, then the 
Agreement can be terminated by either party serving a Termination Notice on the other party. Such Termination 
Notice will set out what the alleged breach is and will provide the other party 20 working days to rectify the breach. 
In the event of a dispute the matter will be referred to an Independent Expert.

18.3 All disputes relating to the interpretation of the Collaboration Agreement including any Project Plans that have 
been approved, will be referred for determination to a Mediator in the first instance and an Arbitrator if mediation 
is unsuccessful.

19 Retained or Excluded Land

19.1 It is accepted that BHPT will include a buffer zone on the eastern boundary of the land it owns to establish the 
extent of the built form along Barnack Road. 

19.2 The masterplan will establish the extent of this buffer zone and it will form part of the red line area for the 
submission of the outline planning application that the Landowners will submit. The master plan will provide for 
agricultural vehicular access to be provided to the buffer zone so that it can be maintained in the future.

19.3 BHPT will retain the freehold ownership of the buffer zone and will be responsible for its future maintenance. 
However, the costs of providing and setting out the buffer zone will form part of the scheme wide costs and will 
thus be shared equally between the Landowners. This is on the basis that the buffer will form part of the open 
space area of the overall site and that it will form an important buffer to Burghley House and its gardens.

20 Ransom Strips

20.1 No Ransom Strips are permitted between any part of the land holdings that form the Property.

160



Page 7 of 8

21 VAT

21.1 The Landowners are to confirm as soon as possible whether they will be electing to charge VAT.

22 Good Faith

22.1 The Landowners shall co-operate, not ransom and act in the utmost good faith in all dealings with each other.

23 Freedom of Information Act (FOIA)

23.1 It is acknowledged that the Council, as a public body, is subject to FOIA.  The Collaboration Agreement will not 
of itself be subject to FOIA, however, information produced or held by the Council or relating to the Council in its 
capacity as a Party of the Collaboration Agreement may be subject to a FOIA request.  Whilst respecting the 
confidentiality of Collaboration Agreement business, the Council will retain unfettered discretion to consider the 
extent to which it will be obliged to disclose any Collaboration Agreement information it holds or produces (as a 
matter of law).  The Parties will need to consider how best to safeguard the confidentiality of the Collaboration 
Agreement business and agree a policy for the circulation of any Collaboration Agreement business information 
and the management of any FOIA request issued to the Council. Matters of a commercially sensitive nature will 
need to be treated as Exempt Papers within the Councils governance procedures.

………………………… …………………………
signed for and on behalf  signed for and on behalf 
SKDC BLL and BHPT

………………………… …………………………
date date

161



Page 8 of 8
162



41
5 8

Tk

Tk

FW

FG

32
41

36

Def

Pond

Pond

Track

20.1m

21.4m

Tanks

Track

Works

Works

Track

24.7m24.0m

24.6m

25.5m

Works

B 1443

MP 11.0

MP 0.75

Ppg Sta

Gas Gov

Path (um)

Path (um)

El Sub Sta

Earthworks

BARNACK ROAD

Mast (te
lecommunication)

Park View
Park View

Level Crossing

Land at Stamford

0 50 100 150 20025
Metres

®

Produced by Bidwells GIS Mapping  -  01223 559288

O.S. Licence No: ES 100017734 This plan is based on Ordnance Survey data
with sanction of the controller of HM Stationery Office. Crown Copyright Reserved.

Note: This plan is published for convenience only and although believed to be
correct its accuracy is not guaranteed and it shall not be deemed to form part of
the contract.

Scale: OS Ref: Drawing No: Date:

Trumpington Road, Cambridge, CB2 9LD
01223 841841  -  bidwells.co.uk

1:2,500 02/01/2020TF 0307@ A4 A.51,138a

Legend
Burghley - 8.221ha (20.31ac)

Burghley Additional Land - 0.221ha (0.55ac)

Cummins - 6.208ha (15.34ac)

163

A
ppendix C



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
21 January 2020

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations

        

Position Statement on the Intentional Release of Sky 
(Chinese) Lanterns and Balloons
The purpose of this report is to consider the Councils position in relation to the intentional release 
of sky (Chinese) lanterns and balloons on council owned public open space.

Report Author

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental

01476 406319

a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Competitiveness Non-Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Ian Yates, Assistant Director – Commercial and 
Operations 12 December 2019

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial and 
Operations 12 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 3 January 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. That the position statement on the intentional release of sky (Chinese) lanterns and 
balloons is adopted by Cabinet, subject to public consultation.

2. That the minority groups potentially affected by the adoption of the position 
statement be consulted.

3. Authority is delegated to the Strategic Director of Commercial & Operations, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial & Operations, to make any 
consequential changes as a result of the consultation.

165

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The intentional release of sky (Chinese) lanterns and balloons to the open environment have 

become a popular way of fundraising for charity or for marking occasions.  It is impossible 
to control where they land, and they can travel large distances before falling to the ground 
or into streams and rivers which may lead to the sea.

1.2 Balloons and their string/ribbon attachments can a cause a choking or entanglement hazard 
for livestock and wildlife.  Lanterns pose similar threats from the metal frame and as they 
contain a naked flame, also pose an avoidable fire hazard to dry standing crops, stacks of 
hay or straw, forestry and buildings. Being a predominantly rural district, there may be 
greater risks to livestock, wildlife and crops than in more densely populated areas.

1.3 The extent of intentional releases in South Kesteven is unknown. However, the Council has 
demonstrated its commitment to improving the attractiveness of the district through the Big 
Clean and the debris will have a detrimental impact on the local environment.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 At their meeting on 26 November 2019 the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

agreed that it would be beneficial for the council to consider setting out its position on the 
intentional release of sky (Chinese) lanterns and balloons on council owned public open 
space.  

2.2 The Committee agreed a draft position statement which is at Appendix 1 and decided that 
it was suitable to be presented to Cabinet for approval.  

2.3 The equality impact assessment at Appendix 2, recognises that there is the potential for the 
statement to have an impact on the “race” and “religion or belief” equality groups as lanterns 
are used during some religious and cultural festivals.  After discussion, the Committee 
recommended to Cabinet that a period of consultation should be undertaken prior to 
publishing the final statement, with focus on engaging with the identified equality groups.    

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The Council is not obliged to publish a position statement and can remain silent on the issue. 

3.2 While a breach of a position statement would not be legally enforceable, if approved, it can 
be included in Council policies and agreements relating to the use of Council land e.g. parks 
and open spaces for public events etc.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 Publishing a position statement would show the Council’s continued commitment to 

improving the attractiveness of the district and tackling the detrimental impact of the debris 
resulting from the releases.   

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 There is currently no UK legislation available to control this issue, therefore it is for the local 

authority to consider whether a position statement is necessary. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 If Cabinet agrees that the statement is suitable and decides that public consultation is 

necessary, that a period of 6 weeks consultation is commenced.  

7 Financial Implications 

166



7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising as a result of this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The policy statement would enable the Council to monitor the use of its parks and open 

spaces and to educate any members of the public who might wish to release such lanterns 
from Council land. However, it should be recognised that adopting the policy statement 
would not confer any enforcement rights on the Council but should be viewed as a longer 
term ambition to promote good practice and reduce the impacts referred to in the report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 An equality impact assessment has been undertaken and is at Appendix 2.  This recognises 

that there is the potential for the statement to have an impact on the “race” and “religion or 
belief” equality groups as lanterns are used during some religious and cultural festivals.  

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 No significant risks have been identified as a result of this report. 

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 No significant community safety implications have been identified as a result of this report. 

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None identified.

13 Background Papers
13.1 Report to Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 26 November 2019

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 - Draft South Kesteven Position Statement on the Intentional Release of Sky 

(Chinese) Lanterns and Balloons.

14.2 Appendix 2 – Stage 1 Equality Impact Assessment

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

19 December 2019

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

26 November 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  21 January 2020

167

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3785&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Position Statement

The Intentional Release of Sky (Chinese) Lanterns and Balloons

1. The Council will not allow the intentional release of sky (Chinese) lanterns and balloons 
on its own land which is open to the public, including council owned parks or open spaces.  

2. The Council is committed to creating a clean and attractive environment across the district. 
Through taking this decision, the Council aims to raise awareness of the negative impacts 
of the intentional release of sky (Chinese) lanterns and balloons on the environment, 
wildlife and livestock.   It is hoped that publicising this statement will also lead to greater 
public awareness and a reduction in smaller scale private releases.

3. The intentional release of sky (Chinese) lanterns and balloons has grown in popularity.  
They are often released into the sky as part of festivals, commemorative events or for 
charity fundraising.   It is impossible to control where they will land, and they can travel 
over large distances before falling to the ground.

4. However well intentioned, it is recognised that there are a number of safety and 
environmental impacts associated with this activity.  There is growing recognition that the 
debris creates a risk to wildlife and livestock as well as being a source of litter on land, in 
watercourses and at sea and in the case of sky (Chinese) lanterns, an avoidable risk of 
fire and damage.  

5. The Council is committed to helping event organisers and fund raisers and will offer advice
on alternative ways to raise funds or commemorate in line with national initiatives such as 
the Marine Conservation Society’s ‘Don’t let go’ campaign.

6. This statement is intended to prohibit the deliberate release of sky lanterns and helium 
balloons at events on council owned land which is open to the public.   The Council 
recognises that there may be instances where single helium balloons will be accidentally 
released into the environment such as may happen at children’s parties.

7. This statement does not apply to hot air balloons, weather balloons or other balloons used 
for scientific purposes. 

Definitions

“Sky lanterns” or “Chinese lanterns” refers to a lantern made of paper or other thin material 
typically supported by a wire or bamboo frame and lifted by heat from a naked flame or any 
other heat source. This statement covers all sky lanterns whatever their construction.  

 “Balloon” refers to any inflatable flexible bag filled with gas, such as helium, hydrogen, nitrous 
oxide, oxygen or hot air made from materials such as rubber, latex, natural latex, paper, 
polychloroprene, foil, mylar or a nylon fabric. This includes all balloons whether or not 
biodegradable.

“Release” refers to the intentional act of releasing a balloon or Chinese/sky lantern into the 
general environment.   

169

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Intentional Release of Sky (Chinese) Lanterns and Balloons

Lead officer:
 Anne-Marie Coulthard
Assessors:
Anne-Marie Coulthard

Service Area:
Environmental

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

03/09/19

171

Appendix 2



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

If approved, this position statement would prohibit the intentional release of 
Sky (Chinese) Lanterns and balloons on council owned land which is open 
to the public e.g. parks and open spaces.

Is this a new or existing policy? New

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this 
policy/service/function/
strategy have a positive 
or negative impact on 
any of the equality 
groups? 

Please state which for 
each group

Please describe why the impact is 
positive or negative.
If you consider this policy etc is not 
relevant to a specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Not applicable Not a determinant of this policy 

Disability Not applicable Not a determinant of this policy

Race Neutral/Negative The lighting, flying and floating of 
lanterns is cultural tradition with the 
Asian community.  These events are 
typically around the Chinese Mid-
Autumn Festival and Mid-Spring to 
mark the end of the Chinese New 
Year. The position statement would 
not prohibit their use (with permission) 
on Council land, only their release.

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Not applicable Not a determinant of this policy

Religion or 
Belief  

Neutral/Negative The lighting of lanterns is associated 
with several religious festivals and 
events including the lantern festival (a 
Buddhist holiday) and also celebrated 
in Chinese, Malaysian communities 
and the Festival of Lights during 

172



Diwali (predominantly Hindu).  The 
position statement would not prohibit 
their use (with permission) on Council 
land, only their release. 

Sex

  

Not applicable Not a determinant of this policy

Sexual 
Orientation

Not applicable Not a determinant of this policy

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Not applicable Not a determinant of this policy

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

Not applicable Not a determinant of this policy

Carers Not applicable Not a determinant of this policy

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

None identified 

General 
comments

This position statement effects all users of Council owned public 
open spaces equally.  However, there is the potential for it to have 
a negative impact on the use of sky lanterns at these locations 
during religious and cultural festivals.  
The statement does not apply to private land or council owned 
land which is not open to the public. 

173



3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

The extent of the release of sky lanterns and balloons from Council owned 
public spaces is unknown. Requests have been very infrequent and, when 
received have been for the release of balloons.   The main negative impact 
relates to the cultural celebrations and during religious festivals 
predominantly associated with Buddhism and Hinduism. 

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

174



b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Anne-Marie Coulthard
(Name and title) Head of Environmental

Date completed: 04/09/19 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer

Date signed off:    04/09/19

175



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
21 January 2020

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Matters referred to Cabinet by the Council and
Overview and Scrutiny Committees

Report Author

Zena West, Scrutiny Officer

01476 406047

zena.west@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 20 December 2019

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Head of legal 20 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 9 January 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report and the 
matters referred to in Appendix 1.

177

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
Council

1.1 No matters have been referred to Cabinet by Council since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 
10 December 2019.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees

1.2 The Council operates Executive decision-making arrangements as set out in the Local 
Government Act 2000, which means it is required to have at least one scrutiny committee 
in place. The Council currently has four overview and scrutiny committees. The overview 
and scrutiny committees meet regularly and may hold additional meetings as necessary to 
discuss items within their remit.

1.3 No Overview and Scrutiny meetings have been held since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 
10 December 2019. A meeting of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will take place on 16 January 2020, after the publication of the Cabinet 
agenda, and any outstanding recommendations to the Cabinet will be provided in an 
addendum to the Cabinet meeting. The Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will be considering the following items: 
 Housing Strategy and Tenancy Strategy.

 Healthy Conversations.

 Customer Experience Strategy.

 “Stop the Knock” – Use of Bailiffs.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for the meetings of the Cabinet. No other 

options were considered.

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 Where an item has been considered as part of pre-decision scrutiny, the 

recommendations of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee will either be captured 
within the Cabinet report, or, where the time does not permit, as part of a verbal update 
made during the Cabinet meeting or as a written note circulated at the meeting.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 This report offers the Cabinet an opportunity to consider matters that have been raised by 

other Members at meetings of the Council and committees that operate within the 
Executive function of the Council.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer)

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising from this report.

178



7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were identified in 

its production.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

9 Background Papers
9.1 There are no background papers to this report.

10 Appendices
10.1 There are no appendices to this report. An addendum will follow, after the publication of 

the agenda detailing recommendations to Cabinet from the Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on 16 January 2020.

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 10 December 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  21 January 2020

179



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
21 January 2020

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members
This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet on 10 December 2019.

Report Author

Sarah Evans, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406151

s.evans@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 17 December 2019

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 19 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 9 January 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes that no decisions were taken by 
individual Cabinet Members in the period since the last Cabinet meeting was held 
on 10 December 2019.

181

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Under the Leader and Cabinet model of governance, the Leader can allocate decision-

making power to individual Cabinet Members.  While decisions of the Cabinet will be 
made during Cabinet meetings, individual Cabinet Members may make decisions at any 
time in accordance with the relevant Regulations. 

1.2 Since the Cabinet met on 10 December 2019, no decisions have been made.

1.3 Any decision made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next meeting 
of the Cabinet.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The report that is presented to the decision-maker includes information on consultation 

and feedback received in respect of the matters to which any decisions listed in this report 
relate.  

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet.  No other options 

were considered.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The provisions relating to the Cabinet, its Members and delegations by the Leader are set 

out at Article 8 of the Constitution.  The Council’s Executive arrangements were adopted 
in accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer)

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of decisions that have been taken. The reports for any 

decisions would set out equality and safeguarding implications. 

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no high risks were identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 10 December 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  21 January 2020

182



Cabinet
21 January 2020

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 February 2020 to 
31 January 2021
This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for the period 1 February 2020 to 31 
January 2021.

Report Author

Sarah Evans, Principal Democracy Officer

01476 406151

s.evans@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 17 December 2019

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 19 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 9 January 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report. 

183

Agenda Item 12

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 set out minimum requirements for publicity in connection with 
Key decisions.  The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 
publication of its Forward Plan.

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to 
Council or review the contents and take necessary actions. Whilst it is not a requirement 
to publish this information in the Forward Plan, it is the Council’s practice to do so.

1.3 To help the Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items 
for consideration have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan (attached as Appendix 
1 to this report). The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the 
Council meetings due to be held within the plan period.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet.  No other options 

have been considered.

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 The Forward Plan is published each month on the Council’s website.  Cabinet Members 

will work with their officers to direct the timeline for each matter, taking account of 
opportunities to consult with the Council’s overview and scrutiny committees where 
appropriate.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirement to which the Council must 
adhere.  Councils may use their discretion to publish information that exceeds the 
minimum requirements.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer)

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of the work that the Cabinet will be undertaking. Where 

appropriate, analyses in respect of equalities and safeguarding relevant to its decisions 
will be presented to Cabinet as individual issues come forward.

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

184



9 Background Papers
9.1 Section 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012:

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Cabinet Forward Plan, 1 February 2020 to 31 January 2021

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required 

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 10 December 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  21 January 2020

185

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET FORWARD PLAN
 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet 

1 February 2020 to 31 January 2021

At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. They may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework.

A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely:

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to 
the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards.

A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision.

The Forward Plan

The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council.

187

A
ppendix 1



Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council 

Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Cabinet – 18 February 2020

Budget proposals 2020/21 (Budget framework – recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the final Budget 
Proposals for 2020/21

18 Feb 
2020

To approve the Cabinet’s 
budget proposals and 
recommend them to Council

Budget
14 January 2020

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Local Government Mutual (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council

To consider whether to join 
the Local Government 
Mutual

18 Feb 
2020

To make a decision on joining 
the Local Government Mutual

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Richard Wyles

Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Tenancy Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader 
of the Council

To consider the draft 
Tenancy Strategy

18 Feb 
2020

To approve an updated 
Tenancy Strategy

Rural and 
Communities
Feb 2020 Harry Rai

Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk

Council – 27 February 2020

Budget 2020/21 (Budget Framework)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the Cabinet’s 
Budget Proposals for 
2020/21

27 Feb 
2020

To approve a Budget for 
2020/21

Budget
14 January 2020

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 

188

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Council – 10 March 2020

Asset Management Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 

To consider the draft Asset 
Management Strategy

10 Mar 
2020 

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services 
30 April 2020

Jane McDaid
Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

Customer Service consultation results
Councillor Robert Reid, the Cabinet Member 
for Communities and HR

To consider consultation in 
respect of customer services

10 Mar 
2020

To make any decisions on the 
basis of the feedback from the 
customer service consultation 

Rural and 
Communities

Nova Roberts
Tel: 01476 40 65 06
E-mail: n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

Design Guide SPD (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

The document will provide 
guidance to applicants and 
decision-makers in order to 
improve the design quality of 
new development proposals 
as a supplement to the Local 
Plan policies

10 Mar 
2020

To approve the SPD for 
consultation

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Proposed development brief for land at Stamford North (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To consider the proposed 
development brief for land at 
Stamford North prior to 
consultation 

10 Mar 
2020

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land at 
Stamford North for consultation

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Roger Ranson

Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

189

mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Cabinet – 14 April 2020

Leisure Centre Business Plans (Key Decision)
Councillor Helen Goral, the Cabinet Member 
for Growth

To consider the detailed 
business plans for the 
delivery of the programme to 
enhance leisure 
opportunities for all.

14 Apr 
2020

To agree the approach to 
delivering the programme to 
enhance leisure opportunities 
for everyone

Culture and Visitor 
Economy
Finance, Eco Dev & 
Corporate Services

Harry Rai
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet – December 2020

Council tax base 2021/22 (Recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To agree the Council Tax 
base for 2021/22, which will 
form the basis of the Budget 
proposals for the year

Dec 
2020

To determine the Council Tax 
Base to form the basis of the 
2021/22 Budget proposals to 
be recommended to Council

Budget
January 2021

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Draft Budget proposals (Budget Framework)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the draft Budget 
proposals for 2021/22

Dec 
2020

To agree the draft Budget 
proposals for 2021/22 for 
consultation 

Budget
January 2021

Richard Wyles
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Other items – dates pending

St. Peter’s Hill Re-development – office remodelling (Key Decision and recommendation to Council)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 

To consider proposals for the 
refurbishment of the offices 
at St. Peter’s Hill, following 
the first phase of works to 
provide high quality public 
realm through to the new 
cinema 

Not 
before 
1 Feb 
2020

To approve proposals and 
seek budget approval from 
Council

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Jane McDaid

Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

190

mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions (Key Decision)
To make strategic 
regeneration acquisitions

Not 
before 
1 Mar 
2020

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 

Information relating to this decision is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as amended because it contains information which relates to the financial 
or business affairs of an individual or organisation

Paul Thomas
Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Robins, the Cabinet Member 
for Planning

To consider the Rectory 
Farm Supplementary 
Planning Document following 
consultation on a draft 
document

Not 
before 
1 Mar 
2020

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in respect 
of Rectory Farm 

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services Sylvia Bland

Tel: 01476 40 63 88
E-mail: s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cultural Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, 
Cabinet Member for Culture

To consider the draft Cultural 
Strategy for South Kesteven

Not 
before 
1 Mar 
2020

To adopt a Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven

Culture & Visitor 
Economy
12 July 2018 Michael Cross

Tel: 01476 40 61 29
E-mail: 
michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk  

191

mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Customer Experience Strategy (Key Decision)
	Appendix 1 - Customer Experience Strategy (2020-2024)
	Appendix 2 - Area Office Summary
	Appendix 3 - Customer Experience Strategy Equality Impact Assessment

	5 Budget Proposals for 2020/21 and Indicative Budgets for 2021/22 and 2022/23
	Appendix A - General & HRA Summary
	Appendix B - General Fund Revenue Budget Bids
	Appendix C - Capital & Financing Statement – General Fund & HRA
	Appendix D - Reserves Statement – General Fund & HRA
	Appendix E - Charging Policy
	Appendix F - Fees & Charges 2020-21
	Appendix G - Risk Analysis

	6 Housing Strategy Refresh (Key Decision)
	02490RT_HOUSING STRATEGY

	7 Collaboration Agreement relating to Saint Martin's Park, Stamford (Key Decision)
	Appendix A - PLan
	Appendix B - St Martins Park - Collaboration Agreement
	Appendix C - Plan for HoTs for Collaboration Agreement

	8 Position Statement on  the Intentional Release of Sky (Chinese) Lanterns and Balloons
	Appendix 1 - Position Statement
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Analysis

	9 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny Committees
	10 Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
	12 Cabinet Forward Plan - 1 February 2020 to 31 January 2021
	Appendix 1 - Forward Plan - 1 Feb 2020 to 31 Jan 2021




